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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
& ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009
or
a TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-50797

MOMENTA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 04-3561634
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
incorporation or organizatiol

675 West Kendall Street, Cambridge, Massachusett2042
(Address of principal executive offices) (zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area o@i&?) 491-9700
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefAct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registere

Common Stock, $0.0001 par val NASDAQ Global Marke

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghe@fct:None
Indicate by check mark if registrant iwall-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rulec4@Be Securities Act. Ye&l No
Indicate by check mark if the registranbot required to file reports pursuant to Secli8ror Section 15(d) of the Act. Yed No [

Indicate by check mark whether the regigtf1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exche
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastiags. Yeskxl No O

Indicate by check mark whether the regigthas submitted electronically and posted ocdtporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted auntsto Rule 405 of Regulation 5¢8 232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gnonth
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). Y8s  No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure ofiniguent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat®#K is not contained herein, and will not be

contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgelefinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part Ill of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10{H.

Indicate by check mark whether the registis a large accelerated filer, an accelerated & non-accelerated filer, or a smaller repgrtin
company. See definitions of "large accelerated,filaccelerated filer" and "smaller reporting camp"” in Rule 12-2 of the Exchange Ac



(Check one):

Large accelerated fildd Accelerated filefx] Non-accelerated filel Smaller reporting compariyl

(Do not check if a smaller
reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the regigtis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12bthefExchange Act). Ye&l No X

The aggregate market value of the regisgaoting shares of Common Stock held by noriafifis of the registrant on June 30, 2009,
based on $12.03 per share, the last reported saéeqgd Common Stock on the Nasdaq Global Markethai date, was $394,058,072.

As of February 26, 2010, the registrartt 44,838,779 shares of Common Stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:

Portions of the information required byrtRH of Form 10-K will appear in the registrantgefinitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A
for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders andleeeby incorporated by reference into this report.
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PART I

tem 1. BUSINESS

The Company

Momenta is a biotechnology company spegiadiin the characterization and process engingerirtomplex molecules. These complex
molecules include proteins, polypeptides, andsugflace polysaccharides, like heparan-sulfate pghyeans, or HSPGs. This results in a
diversified product pipeline of complex generidldw-on biologic, and novel drugs. These produgi@apunities are derived from our
proprietary, innovative technology platform whicle Veverage to study thstructure (thorough characterization of chemical components),
structure-process (understand, design and control of manufacturirggss), andtructure-activity (understand and relate structure to biological
and clinical activity) of complex molecule drugsurQlevelopment product candidates and researchigomsgare outlined below.

Development Product Pipeline

Product Candidate Category

Heparin or
Heparan-Sulfate ProteoGlycan
(HSPG) Based Complex Polypeptide Therapeutic Protein
Complex Generics M-Enoxaparin (Generic Loven®) M356 (Generic Copaxo®)
Follow-On Biologics Development Candidat:

M118 (anti-coagulant)

Novel Drug Candidates M402 (ant-cancer)

OurComplex GenericandFollow-On Biologicsactivities are focused on building a thorough ustigrding of thestructure-process-
activity of complex molecule drugs to develop generic vaisiof marketed products. While we use a similatyical and development
approach across all of our product candidatesail@r that approach for each specific product cdae. Our first objective is to apply our core
analytical technology to thoroughly characterizedinucture of the marketed product. By defining the chemi@ahposition of multiple batch
of the marketed product, we are able to developaaivalence window which captures the inherentalality of the innovator's manufacturing
process. Using this information we then build ateegive understanding of tlsgucture-process relationship to thoroughly understand, design
and control our manufacturing process to reproducitanufacture an equivalent version of the makg@t®duct. Where necessary, and as
required by the U.S. Food and Drug Administrationi-DA, we will supplement an application with atitathal supportivestructure-activity
data (e.g., immunogenicity, pharmacodynamics). @aal is to obtain FDA approval for and commerciligither directly or with collaborati\
partners, complex generic and follow-on biologiogarcts thereby providing high quality, effectivafesand affordable medicines to patients in
need.

Our two most advanc&bmplex Generiproduct candidates target marketed products whete wriginally approved by the FDA as N
Drug Applications, or NDAs. Therefore, we were atdeccess the existing generic regulatory pathaveldysubmitted Abbreviated New Drug
Applications, or ANDAs, for these generic candidal-Enoxaparin is designed to be a generic version of Lovenox®xaparin sodium
injection), a low molecular weight heparin, or LMWtked to prevent and treat deep vein thrombosiBVa@, and to support the treatment of
acute coronary syndromes, or ACS. Lovenox is a ¢exnmixture of polysaccharide chains derived fromtunally sourced heparin. Our
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second major generic product candidatel856 , a generic version of Copaxone® (glatiramer aedtgection), a drug that is indicated for the
reduction of the frequency of relapses in patianits Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis, or REBMCopaxone consists of a complex
mixture of polypeptide chains. With M356, we hawéeaded our core characterization and process eegirg capabilities from the
characterization of complex polysaccharide mixtuceimiclude the characterization of complex polygmpmixtures. The ANDAs for both M-
Enoxaparin and M356 are currently under FDA review.

In addition to our two complex generic poticandidates, olfollow-On Biologicsprogram further extends our proprietary technology
platform to include the characterization and engjiimgy of therapeutic protein products. By thoroygttiaracterizing these molecules, which
are derived from natural or cell-based manufactuprocesses, we seek to gain a deeper understaofding relationship between the multiple
steps involved in their manufacturing processesthadinal product compositions. Our goal is toliegie our development approach with M-
Enoxaparin and M356 and pursue the developmentaminercialization of biogeneric (designated by FibAe substitutable with the
marketed product) or biosimilar (designated by RiA to be directly substitutable with the markededg) products.

OurNovel Drugprogram leverages our characterization and promegimeering capabilities to develop novel drugstoglying the
structure-activity of complex mixtures. We are targeting our effootsihderstand the relationship between structuretambiological and
therapeutic activity of various complex moleculegicandidates. Our goal is to capitalize on thecttiral diversity and multi-targeting
potential of these complex molecules to enginegehdrug candidates that we believe will meet kagnat medical needs in various diseases.
While we believe that our capabilities to enginiegproved and novel complex molecule drug candidesesbe applied across several product
categories with significant therapeutic potentait most advanced efforts have been in the aréts®Gs. Our lead novel HSPG-based drug
candidateM118, has been engineered to possess what we beliédgevein improved therapeutic profile compared waither currently
marketed products to support the treatment of AG82, our second novel HSPG-based drug candidate garlg development as a potential
anti-cancer agent. We also are seeking to disaveidevelop additional novel HSPG-based drugs,efisas improved and novel protein drug
candidates by applying our technology to bettereusiéind the function of these complex moleculdsidlogical processes.

Company Background

We were incorporated in Delaware in May 20@der the name Mimeon, Inc. In September 200Zhaaged our name to Momenta
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Our principal executive effiare located at 675 West Kendall Street, Cambridlgssachusetts 02142, and our
telephone number is (617) 491-9700.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, themer'Momenta," "we," "us" "the Company" and "ourfaeieto Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
and its subsidiaries.

We are subject to the informational requieats of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asraled, or the Exchange Act, and,
accordingly, file reports, proxy statements anceothformation with the Securities and Exchange @ssion. Such reports, proxy statements
and other information can be read and copied gptidic reference facilities maintained by the Sg&®s and Exchange Commission at the
Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, N.E., Roon®,18&shington, D.C. 20549. Information regarding ¢iperation of the Public Reference
Room may be obtained by calling the SecuritiesExchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Seesidind Exchange Commission
maintains a web sitehftp://www.sec.gov ) that contains material regarding issuers thatdiectronically with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
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Our Internet addressvisvw.momentapharma.com. We are not including the information contained omnweb site as a part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Regpn Form 10-K.

We make available free of charge on oursitelbur Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly &&pon Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filedigrighed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofgkehange Act, as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such matkwith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eacge Commission.

Our logo, trademarks, and service marksrargroperty of Momenta. Other trademarks or sermarks appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K are the property of their respectivklbrs.

Our Technology

Our integrated technology platform utilizesee different types of analytical tools to stulgstructure of complex molecules. First, we
have accumulated a comprehensive library of enzyhstsve use to break down the components of a ampolecule into smaller, more
measurable units. Second, we apply proprietarydrgments to established analytical techniques (asd¥latrix Assisted Laser Desorption
lonization-Mass Spectrometry, or MALDI-MS; nucleaagnetic resonance, or NMR; and capillary electoopsis, or CE; among others) to
gather and analyze information regarding the mdéea@omponents, structure and arrangement of thenfal building blocks that comprise
these complex molecules. Third, we apply propretaathematical modeling to describe the compositioeach complex molecule product
candidate. It is the combination of these tools émables us to thoroughly characterize complex®S®lypeptide and protein products. W
a similar integrated analytical approach is appéietbss these different product categories, weldp\aeunique integrated characterization
toolkit for each specific complex molecule.

Leveraging our increased resolution ofdtractural components of these complex moleculesiuther develop analytical methods to
thoroughly understand thestructure-process relationships to design and control our manufantugrocesses. In the case of our heparin and
HSPG-based product candidates, for example, thisdes understanding and controlling the qualityhefheparin starting material as well as
specific in-process parameters (depolymerizatiorditeons, etc.) that impact final product compasitiIn the case of our therapeutic protein
candidates, for example, this includes understandird controlling which aspects of the manufactuprocess (cell line and clonal selection,
media, scale-up, etc.) contribute to the structcoahposition of the final product. The ability tetter understand and control specific
parameters in the manufacturing process which iburté to given structural signatures in the finaguct allows us to "reverse" engineer the
process to manufacture our complex generic andvietin biologic product candidates.

Finally, we leverage our enhanced struttamd process insights to further explore the rehestructure-activity relationships of these
complex molecules. Through this more systematieriogation of the interplay among the various ljadal systems in a particular disease, we
believe we can "engineer" novel HSPG and therapguditein drugs to address key unmet medical needs.

Product Candidates—Complex Generic and Follow-On Rilogics
Overview

Our pipeline of Complex Generic and Foll@m-Biologics (FOBs) product candidates leveragegexhnology platform across three
product categories—heparins (M-Enoxaparin), polyides (M356), and therapeutic proteins. The goahfbof these product candidates is to
utilize an abbreviated regulatory pathway to depelnd commercialize generic versions of marketeduyots.
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M-Enoxaparin—Generic Lovenox

Our most advanced complex generic prodaistiiclate, M-Enoxaparin, is designed to be a gewnerision of Lovenox. An ANDA for M-
Enoxaparin is currently under FDA review. Lovensxiwidely-prescribed LMWH used for the preventoml treatment of DVT and to
support the treatment of ACS. Lovenox is distributeorldwide by Sanofi-Aventis and is also knownsidé the United States as Clexara®
Klexane®.

Description of Our Program

Lovenox is a heterogeneous mixture of cexplolysaccharide chains that, in our view, priothte application of our technology, had not
been adequately analyzed. The length and sequétite polysaccharide chains vary, resulting invaedsity of chemical structures in the
mixture. The current description in the packageiinef Lovenox includes molecular weight distrilutiandin vitro measurements of
Lovenox's ability to inhibit blood clotting factoka and lla, or its anti-Xa and anti-lla activitihile molecular weight distribution provides a
rough measure of the range of chain lengths, itiges no information about detailed sequences emital structures contained in Lovenox.
Similarly, thein vitro measures of anti-Xa and anti-lla activity descidbgain aspects of anticoagulation but only patéfine the biological
and clinical activity of Lovenox. According to Sdnéventis, only 15% to 25% of the chains in LMWIldentain sequences that bind to the
factor that is responsible for anti-Xa and antidtivity.

FDA regulations and guidelines require thgeneric version of a product approved under A lust be pharmaceutically equivalent to
the branded drug product upon which the generiticgifon is based. Generic drugs are consideredhpdeeutically equivalent to their branc
counterparts if, among other things, they havestitae active ingredient(s), dosage form, route ofiadtration and strength (or concentratis
as well as the same labeling, with certain excegti&or a drug to be interchangeable with the rdntoduct, it must be therapeutically
equivalent, meaning that it is pharmaceuticallyiegjent and bioequivalent. Bioequivalent means thatgeneric product candidate has the
same rate and extent of absorption as the innopataiuct. A therapeutically equivalent productégohed to have the same clinical effect and
safety profile as the innovator product. Our apitd apply our technology to sequence and analgegptex molecules has allowed us to
analyze Lovenox and develop a process to make M«dparin, a generic version of Lovenox. We beliéhad bur generic product candidate is
equivalent to Lovenox with respect to the compositf its active ingredients, its dosage formratste of administration and its strength—
properties, which are all essential to satisfyimg EDA's requirements for therapeutic equivalence.

In 2003, we formed a collaboration, whick mefer to as the 2003 Sandoz Collaboration, wéthd®z N.V. and Sandoz Inc., affiliates of
Novartis AG. Sandoz N.V. later assigned its rigdrid obligations under the 2003 Sandoz Collaboratiddandoz AG, and we refer to San
AG and Sandoz Inc. together as Sandoz. Under 108 3@ndoz Collaboration, we and Sandoz agreedctasixely develop, manufacture and
commercialize M-Enoxaparin in the U.S.

In July 2006, we entered into a Stock PasehAgreement and an Investor Rights AgreementMatrartis Pharma AG, and in June 2007,
we and Sandoz AG executed a definitive collabonagind license agreement, or the Definitive Agredmairsuant to which we expanded the
geographic markets covered by the 2003 Sandozl&twslition related to M-Enoxaparin to include thedpaan Union and further agreed to
exclusively collaborate with Sandoz AG on the depaient and commercialization of other productsstde in specified regions of the world.
We refer to this series of agreements collectiaslyhe 2006 Sandoz Collaboration.

4
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Potential Commercial Market

Sanofi-Aventis reported worldwide saled.ofenox of approximately $4.2 billion in 2009, wigipproximately $2.5 billion coming from
the United States market.

Regulatory Matters

Sandoz has submitted ANDAs in its namén&RDA for M-Enoxaparin in syringe and vial fornsgeking approval to market M-
Enoxaparin in the United States. The FDA is cutyer@viewing both of Sandoz's Mnoxaparin ANDAs, including our manufacturing date
technology and characterization methodology. WeSamdoz are in regular communication with the FDAddress any additional questions
or requests that the FDA may have as it contineseview of Sandoz's applications. The FDA haseqiested human clinical trials at this
time. However, there can be no assurances th&DAewill not require additional studies, includietinical studies, in the future and we car
predict with a high degree of certainty the timofgany potential approval of the Eroxaparin ANDAs by the FDA. We and Sandoz are &l
active dialogue with the FDA regarding the sourcmgl processing of our heparin supply. We and Saadoworking together to prepare for
the commercialization of M-Enoxaparin, if and wregproved, by advancing manufacturing, supply chexid, sales and marketing objectives.

Both ANDAs included a Paragraph IV challeng the Sanofi-Aventis Orange Book patents fordramx. The Orange Book patents were
found to be unenforceable due to inequitable conituag 2008 decision of the Court of Appeals of Beeleral Circuit in the case of Aventis v.
Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva PharmaalsutUSA, Inc. Consequently, Sanofi-Aventis' pafaefringement case against Sandoz
for infringement of the Orange Book patents waalfijndismissed on August 27, 2009, removing anynQeaBook patent barrier to approval.

Sanofi-Aventis US LLC has filed a citizeetition with the FDA regarding the approval of ak)MDAs filed for generic Lovenox. Until
such time as the FDA completes its review of theD®$ and rules on the citizen petition, Sandoz amhidnta remain subject to further
guestions and inquiry by the FDA. Following an FDécision on the citizen petition, Sanofi-Aventisynsgek judicial review and request
judicial relief that might include emergency, temgry and permanent injunctive relief, which if gteeh could interfere with a product launct
M-Enoxaparin.

M356—Generic Copaxone

M356 is designed to be a generic versioGajaxone, also known as glatiramer acetate, alesndpug consisting of a mixture of
polypeptide chains. Copaxone is indicated for rédanmf the frequency of relapses in patients VRRRMS. Multiple sclerosis is a chronic
disease of the central nervous system charactebiz@tflammation and neurodegeneration.

Description of Our Program

Under our 2006 Sandoz Collaboration, we $addoz AG agreed to jointly develop, manufactme @mmercialize M356. Given its
structure as a complex mixture of polypeptide chaihvarious lengths and sequences, there ardisgntitechnical challenges involved in
thoroughly characterizing Copaxone and in manufatwjuan equivalent version. We believe our techgploan be applied to characterize
glatiramer acetate and to develop a generic pratiatthas the same active ingredients as Copaxone.

Potential Commercial Market

In North America, Copaxone is marketed leyd Neuroscience, Inc., which is a subsidiary ofall@harmaceutical Industries Ltd. In
Europe, Copaxone is marketed by Teva Pharmaceutical
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Industries Ltd. and Sanofi-Aventis. Teva reportestldwide sales of Copaxone of approximately $218oli in 2009, with approximately
$1.9 billion from the U.S.

Regulatory Matters

In December 2007, our collaborative part@@ndoz, submitted to the FDA an ANDA in its naspnataining a Paragraph IV certification
seeking approval to market M356 in the United Stalte July 2008, the FDA notified Sandoz that itl recepted the ANDA for review as of
December 27, 2007. In addition, the FDA's publistiathbase indicates that the first substantialigmlete ANDA submitted for glatiramer
acetate injection containing a Paragraph IV cedtfon was filed on December 27, 2007, making Sz2sddNDA eligible for the grant of a
180-day generic exclusivity period upon approvédle FDA's review of Sandoz's ANDA is ongoing. We &ahdoz are in regular
communication with the FDA to address any additi@ueestions or requests that it may have as iticoas the review of Sandoz's application.

Legal Matters

Teva has listed seven patents in the Or&8og for Copaxone, all of which expire in May 201! of the Orange Book patents belong to
the same patent family and have virtually identitiatlosures and priority dates. Two additionabpé belonging to the same patent family are
not listed in the Orange Book. In August 2008,esponse to Sandoz's ANDA filing and the Paragraptettification, Teva Pharmaceutical
Industries Ltd. and related entities sued SandoxaNis AG and us for patent infringement of sotmg, not all, of the Orange Book Patents.
The initiation of this litigation triggered an amatic 30-month stay of ANDA approval. In our ansueethis lawsuit, we, Sandoz and Novartis
AG asserted defenses of non-infringement, invalidihd unenforceability of the patents and filedrterclaims for declaratory judgments to
have all nine of the patents in the same patenityfadjudicated in the present lawsuit. This litiga is ongoing. The ability to commercialize
and launch M356 depends, in part, upon the finedaue of this litigation. While we and Sandoz bediave will prevail and will vigorously
defend the case, we cannot be certain when themetof the litigation will be final and whether \ead Sandoz will ultimately prevail.

Follow-On Biologics (FOBs) Program

We are also applying our technology platfdao the development of FOBSs, including either gener biosimilar versions of marketed
therapeutic proteins. Therapeutic proteins reptesaizable segment of the U.S. drug industry, witles expected to be approximately
$60 billion in 2010. Given the inadequacies of dead technology, many of these therapeutic protedve not been thoroughly characterized.
Most of these products are complex glycoproteintanes, consisting of proteins that contain brancheghrs that vary from molecule to
molecule. These sugars can impart specific biolgicoperties to the glycoprotein drug and canroflemprise a significant portion of the
mass of the molecule.

Most protein drugs have been approved byFIDA under the Biologics License Application, dtA regulatory pathway. The BLA
pathway was created to review and approve apmicsiior biologic drugs that are typically produdesin living systems. Presently, there is
abbreviated regulatory pathway for the approvajesferic or biosimilar versions of BLA-approved puots in the United States; however,
there are emerging guidelines for biosimilar praduic the European Union. We believe that scientifogress in the analysis and
characterization of complex mixture drugs is likeyplay a significant role in the creation of @peopriate abbreviated U.S. regulatory
pathway in the future.
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In addition to the structural characteiiatof several marketed therapeutic proteins, veeagso advancing our structure-process
capabilities as we further define the relationdfepveen aspects of the manufacturing process anstrinctural composition of the final protein
product.

Product Candidates—Novel Drugs
Overview

Our novel drug research and developmergrara currently builds off the established charazégion and process engineering capabilities
from our complex generic and FOB programs—uwith@ufoon cell surface polysaccharides, like HSPCGd tlagrapeutic proteins. We believe
our analytical tools enable new insights into exipig the biology of many diseases, which will ldacan enhanced understanding of the rel
role of different biological targets and relatedl-t@-cell signaling pathways. With HSPGs, our gizaio leverage the multi-targeting nature of
these molecules to develop novel HSP&%ed therapeutics where we can positively affedtiple pathways in a disease with a single drug.
are currently focused on anticoagulation and carterever, because of the broad role of HSPGsdlogy, we plan to target multiple disease
areas with this therapeutic approach. While notgeadvanced as our HSPG program, we also aredéxgetiese biological systems insights
into the development of improved and more targetetein therapeutics.

M118

Our most advanced novel drug HSPG-basedugtaandidate, M118, is being developed as ac@agulant for ACS. M118 is a LMWH
which has been rationally designed to capture,dimgle therapy, the positive attributes of botfractionated heparin (reversibility,
monitorability and broad inhibition of the coagutet cascade) and LMWH (adequate bioavailability pretlictable pharmacokinetics to allow
for convenient subcutaneous administration). Weebelthat M118 has the potential to provide imprblbaseline anticoagulant therapy for the
medical management of patients diagnosed with AG8 mvay or may not require coronary interventioorider to treat their condition.

Description of Our Program

ACS includes several diseases ranging frostable angina, which is characterized by chéastataest, to acute myocardial infarction, or
heart attack, which is caused by a complete bloekd@ coronary artery. Currently, a majority ofipats are initially medically managed with
an anti-clotting agent, such as LMWH or unfracti@eeheparin, or UFH, in combination with other #y@es. An increasing proportion of ACS
patients are also proceeding to early interventidh procedures such as angioplasty or coronagnahllypass grafting, or CABG. Both
angioplasty and CABG require anticoagulant thettapgrevent clot formation during and immediatelildaing the procedure.

M118 was rationally designed utilizing quoprietary technology platform to address multigédsirable clinical attributes of
anticoagulation therapy for ACS in a single ag&hese engineered attributes of M118 include, anuthgrs, broad inhibition of the
coagulation cascade, monitorability, reversibilapd predictable pharmacokinetics. M118 may alsadministered both intravenously and
subcutaneously, allowing physicians the abilityntstitute convenient subcutaneous therapy duriegrtedical management phase of ACS
treatment and continue the same anticoagulant asheried intravenously should an interventional pthae be required. We believe that the
properties of M118 observed to date in both prézdirand clinical investigations support our dediypothesis that M118 can be effectively
used in multiple settings (including medical mamaget, angioplasty or CABG) and that M118 may previthysicians with an effective, safe,
and more flexible treatment option than is
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currently available. The results of our precliniaat clinical studies conducted to date suggesinpiad benefits of M118 over UFH and other
LMWHSs, including:

. Increased efficacy. In animal studies directly comparing M118 withiJBnd other LMWHSs, M118 appeared to more
effectively prevent clotting of injured arteriesarrat, rabbit and canine thrombosis model. Theltesfin vivo andin vitro
experiments suggest that M118 acts at multipletpoimthe coagulation cascade by inhibiting Fagtay Factor lla, Factor IXa
and through the release of tissue factor pathwiaipitor. Purported advantages of M118 in humanweééd to be confirmed in
future trials.

. Reversibility. Animal and human studies also demonstrate tlesait-clotting effects of M118 are reversible by admieisig
protamine sulfate, the standard drug used to revarscoagulant activity. Existing marketed LMWHs aot fully reversible
with protamine.

. Ability to monitor. Due to the presence of certain saccharide seqaendv118, the ar-clotting activity of M118 can b
monitored by standard, point-of-care laboratorystéisat detect the presence of Factor lla, or thiopsuch as activated clotting
time, or ACT, (routinely used during interventiompabcedures), and activated partial thrombopldstie. Currently, existing
marketed LMWHSs cannot be monitored efficiently wétinch routine laboratory tests.

We believe that the results of clinicahfsiconducted to date support continuing the etialuaf M118 in patients diagnosed with ACS
who are medically managed with or without an inéerion.

Potential Commercial Market

The broad anticoagulant market is projettegenerate greater than $10.0 billion in worldevidles by 2018. Depending upon the
indications for which M118 use is approved, M118 ttge potential to capture a portion of this market

Regulatory and Clinical Development

In July 2006, we submitted an Investigagaiddew Drug Application, or IND, with the FDA foruo M118 intravenous injection product
and in October 2006 began Phase 1 clinical triats/aluate its human safety, tolerability and phaookinetic profile. In June, 2009, we
completed a Phase 2a clinical trial to evaluatdehsibility of utilizing M118 intravenous injecticas an anticoagulant in patients with stable
coronary artery disease undergoing percutaneowsany intervention. This trial, known as EMINENCEv@luation of M118 in Percutaneous
Coronary Intervention), enrolled approximately F@Qients with stable coronary artery disease uraieggelective Percutaneous Coronary
Intervention. Patients were randomly assigneddeive treatment with one of three doses of intrausrM118 or a standard dose of UFH. The
primary endpoint of the study was the combineddence of clinical events defined as the compogitieath, myocardial infarction, repeat
revascularization, and stroke (over thirty daysgidence of bleeding and thrombocytopenia (ovefitee24 hours); and bailout use of
glycoprotein lIb/llla inhibitors and catheter thrbos (during the procedure). The primary analysihiénstudy provided evidence of non-
inferiority of the combined M118 group (combinindthree doses) as compared to the UFH group witiénparameters of the prospectively
defined analysis. The observed incidence of thagmy endpoint was lower in all M118 treatment gotigan in the UFH group; however it
should be noted that the study was not design@owered to detect statistically significant diffeces between treatments. The incidence of
serious and non-serious adverse events was coniparal treatment groups.

In March 2007, we submitted an IND for &t18 subcutaneous injection product and in May 2083an Phase 1 clinical trials to
evaluate its human safety, tolerability and phawkatetic profile. These trials have been completed.

We are not currently able to estimate iiméng or probability of regulatory approval of M118/e are seeking a collaborative partner to
finance and support the further clinical developh@riM118. We will not start additional clinicaliats until we have a partner or funding
available, but we do remain committed to the prodaadidate and its continued development.
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M402

M402 is our next most advanced novel HSR&el product candidate and is engineered to haeatmmnti-cancer properties and low
anticoagulant activity. HSPGs are complex molecplesent in the tumor microenvironment which plagla in the conversion of normal ce
into cancerous cells and present growth factotekayes, and chemokines necessary for tumor cel/tir, migration, and survival. M402 is
designed to exploit this biology. Data from preidai studies have shown that M402 has the potetatimlodulate angiogenesis and tumor
metastasis through a variety of HSPG-binding pnsteiVe currently have plans to advance M402 intadruclinical trials in the first half of
2011.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses cofisissis incurred in identifying, developing andtiteg our product candidates. These expenses
consist primarily of salaries and related expefieepersonnel, license fees, consulting fees, emhtresearch and manufacturing, and the costs
of laboratory equipment and facilities. Researath development expense for 2009 was $60.6 milliommgared with $55.3 million in 2008 a
$69.9 million in 2007.

Collaborations and Licenses
Sandoz
2003 Sandoz Collaboration

Under the terms of the 2003 Sandoz Colkatiam, we and Sandoz agreed to exclusively work wéch other to develop and
commercialize injectable enoxaparin for any andradtlical indications within the United States. dliition, we granted Sandoz an exclusive
license under our intellectual property rights éwelop and commercialize injectable enoxaparirafomedical indications within the United
States.

Under this collaboration, Sandoz makesagepayments to us. As mutually agreed, we prowadd, Sandoz pays us, for internal expenses
incurred in scientific, technical and/or managemeattk. Sandoz is also responsible for funding saft&lly all of the other ongoing
development and commercialization costs and lega¢eses incurred with respect to injectable enoxapsubject to termination rights upon
reaching agreed upon limits. In addition, Sanddy, imithe event there are no third party compesitmarketing a Lovenox-Equivalent Product,
as defined in the collaboration agreement, protadgs a share of the profits from M-Enoxaparin.sTiiofit share percentage is between 40%—
50%. If another interchangeable generic Lovenmnishe market, we are entitled to receive a royattyiet sales by Sandoz. That royalty rate
ranges from high single to low double digits. I thnly competitor to M-Enoxaparin is an authorigederic, we receive hybrid economics—a
royalty up to a specified sales level, then a paifare on net sales above the sales cut-off.ditiad, if certain milestones are achieved with
respect to injectable enoxaparin under certainupistances, Sandoz may also make milestone paymoemssvhich would reach $55.0 million
if all such milestones are achieved. In all of thesenarios, a portion of the development expemsggertain legal expenses which have
exceeded a specified amount will be offset agdiresprofit-sharing amounts, royalties and milestpagments. Sandoz may also offset a
portion of any product liability costs and certather expenses arising from patent litigation agfdiine profit-sharing amounts, royalties and
milestone payments.

The collaboration is governed by a joirtesing committee and a joint project team, eaclsisting of an equal number of Sandoz and
Momenta representatives. Most decisions must beemaadnimously, with Sandoz collectively having @née and Momenta having one vote.
Sandoz has sole authority to make decisions withaet to any litigation claiming that the manufaetwse or sale of the injectable enoxaparin
product infringes any patents listed in the OraBgek for Lovenox.
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In addition, Sandoz has the sole authority to deitez whether or not to launch M-Enoxaparin prioréoeipt of final legal clearance from any
such infringement claims, as well as determineptiiee at which it will sell M-Enoxaparin.

We and Sandoz will indemnify each otherlémsises resulting from the indemnifying party's nr@igesentation or breach of its obligations
under the agreement. We will indemnify Sandoz ifageually misappropriate the know-how or trade sescof a third party. Sandoz will
indemnify us and our collaborators involved in dmxaparin program for any losses resulting fromlaigation by third parties, including
Sanofi-Aventis, claiming that the manufacture, assale of injectable enoxaparin infringes any pitdisted in the Orange Book for Lovenox,
any product liability claims with respect to injabte enoxaparin and any other claims relating éodivelopment and commercialization of
injectable enoxaparin. To the extent that any sesult from a third-party claim for which we atdigated to indemnify Sandoz, Sandoz will
have no obligation to indemnify us. After the egpion or termination of the agreement, these indéoation obligations will continue with
respect to claims that arise before or after thaiteation of the agreement due to activities thatuored before or during the term of the
agreement.

Unless terminated earlier, the agreemelhiexpire upon the last sale of injectable enoxaphy or on behalf of Sandoz in the United
States. Either party may terminate the collabonatéationship for material uncured breaches aageevents of bankruptcy or insolvency by
the other. Sandoz may also terminate the agreeifrtt product or the market lacks commercial Vighiif new laws or regulations are pas:
or court decisions rendered that substantially dlishi our legal avenues for redress, or, in multialses, if certain costs exceed mutually ag
upon limits. If Sandoz terminates the agreemertgpkdue to our uncured breach) or if we termitiaeagreement due to an uncured breach
by Sandoz, we will be granted an exclusive licemsder certain intellectual property of Sandoz teeda@p and commercialize injectable
enoxaparin in the United States and our obligatioimdemnify Sandoz will survive with respect taiohs that arise due to our exclusive
development or commercialization of injectable eapa¢in after the term of the agreement. In the eoka termination by Sandoz due to the
incurrence of costs beyond the agreed upon limigsmust pay certain royalties to Sandoz on ousalets of injectable enoxaparin. If Sandoz
terminates the agreement due to our uncured br&aetioz retains the exclusive right to develop@rdmercialize injectable enoxaparin in
the United States. Sandoz's profit sharing, royatty milestone payment obligations survive and 8zsdbligation to indemnify us will
survive with respect to claims that arise due tod®a's exclusive development or commercializatibimjectable enoxaparin after the term of
the agreement. In addition, if Sandoz terminatesatfreement due to our uncured breach, Sandoz wetaid its rights of first negotiation wi
respect to certain of our other products and gbts of first refusal outside the United States.

2006 Sandoz Collaboration

Under the 2006 Sandoz Collaboration, weSawidoz AG agreed to exclusively collaborate ordthelopment and commercialization of
M356 and two other follow-on products for sale fresified regions of the world and expanded the ggagc markets covered by the 2003
Sandoz Collaboration related to M-Enoxaparin tdude the European Union. In December 2008, we amti& AG terminated the
collaborative program with regard to one of thddialon products, M249, primarily due to its commergadspects. In December 2009, we
Sandoz AG terminated the collaborative program wetiard to the other follow-on product, M178, atatiied the surviving rights of each of
the parties following such termination. As a resihie 2006 Sandoz Collaboration now principally @ms the M356 collaborative program and
the expansion of the M-Enoxaparin collaboration.

Costs, including development costs andctists of clinical studies, will be borne by thetar in varying proportions depending on the
type of expense and the related product. For M@&6are generally responsible for all of the develept costs in the U.S. For M356 outsid:
the U.S. and for
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M-Enoxaparin in the European Union, we share deraknt costs in proportion to our profit sharingnesst. All commercialization
responsibilities and costs will be borne by SandiGzworldwide as they are incurred for all produstée are reimbursed at cost for any full-
time equivalent employee expenses as well as aeyre costs incurred in the development of prasitethe extent development costs are
born by Sandoz AG. Sandoz AG is responsible fodifug all of the legal expenses incurred under @62Collaboration; however a portion of
certain legal expenses will be offset against tloditgsharing amounts in proportion to our profiesing interest. The parties will share profits
in varying proportions, depending on the produce &ve entitled to a 50% share of the profits frates of M356. We are eligible to receive
to $163.0 million in milestone payments if all nsitenes are achieved for the two product candidatesaining under collaboration. None of
these payments, once received, are refundablenanel are no general rights of return in the arravegg. Sandoz AG has agreed to indemnify
us for various claims, and a certain portion ofhscosts may be offset against certain future paysneteived by us.

Under the 2006 Sandoz Collaboration, eactyas granted the other an exclusive licenseuitslintellectual property rights to develop
and commercialize such products for all medicaldations in the relevant regions. We have agregutduide development and related serv
on a commercially reasonable best-efforts basigwincludes developing a manufacturing processate the products, scaling up the
process, contributing to the preparation of reguiafilings, further scaling up the manufacturinggess to commercial scale, and related
development of intellectual property. We have igétrto participate in a joint steering committebigh is responsible for overseeing
development, legal and commercial activities anitlvprepares and approves the annual collaborptars. Sandoz AG is responsible for
commercialization activities and will exclusivelisttibute and market the products.

The term of the Definitive Agreement exteitidroughout the development and commercializaifadhe products until the last sale of the
products, unless earlier terminated by either pautguant to the provisions of the Definitive Agremt. The Definitive Agreement may be
terminated if either party breaches the Definit\greement or files for bankruptcy. In addition heit we or Sandoz AG may terminate the
Definitive Agreement as it relates to the remainingducts, on a product-by-product basis, if chhitials are required.

Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchageement, we sold 4,708,679 shares of commolik $toklovartis Pharma AG at a per share
price of $15.93 for an aggregate purchase pricg/6f0 million. This resulted in a paid premium a8% million as the closing price of our
common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was $1365he date of the Stock Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the Investor Rigkdreement, we granted to Novartis Pharma AG icerégyistration rights and inspection rights.
Specifically, Novartis Pharma AG is entitled toggyback" and demand registration rights under #euBties Act of 1933, as amended, with
respect to the shares of common stock purchasest timel Stock Purchase Agreement. We also grantedri® Pharma AG inspection rights
whereby, subject to certain exceptions, NovartiarRta AG may visit and inspect our properties aredngs, discuss our business and financial
affairs with its officers, employees and other ageand meet, at least twice a year, with the mesntieour Board of Directors.

Massachusetts Institute of Technoloy

In December 2001, we entered into a pdiegrise agreement with the Massachusetts Instifutechnology, or M.1.T., pertaining to the
characterization and synthesis of polysaccharidethge purpose of researching, developing and caxialing products (other than
sequencing machines) and processes under thedit@asents. This agreement was subsequently amaende@stated in early November 2
and has been subsequently further amended. Weedritéo an additional
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patent license agreement with M.1.T. in late Octdi@)2 which gave us the right to develop and cororakze sequencing machines. Subject
to typical retained rights of M.1.T. and the U.®vgrnment, these two agreements grant us varialgsxe and nonexclusive worldwide
licenses, with the right to grant sublicenses, uméetain patents and patent applications relating

. methods and technologies for characterizing pobsaigdes
. certain heparins, heparinases and other enzyme:
. synthesis methods.

We must meet certain diligence requireméentsder to maintain our licenses under the tweaments. Under the agreements, we must
expend at least $1.0 to $1.2 million per year tasadhe research, development and commercializafipnoducts and processes covered by the
agreements. In addition, we are obligated to makedommercial sales and meet certain minimumssileesholds of products or processes
including, under the amended and restated agreemérat commercial sale of a product or processater than June 2013 and minimal sales
of products thereafter ranging from $0.5 millior¥®.0 million annually. M.I.T. may convert the exsive licenses granted to us under the
amended and restated license agreement to nonsexlicenses, as its sole remedy, if we fail tetmaur diligence obligations. Under the
license agreement covering sequencing machinesT Mias the right to treat a failure by us to futiur diligence obligations as a material
breach of the license agreement.

In exchange for the licenses granted inweeagreements, we have paid M.I.T. license i$sae and we pay annual license and
maintenance fees ranging, in the aggregate, fra6$8 to $132,500. We are also required to payMrbyalties on certain products and
services covered by the licenses and sold by osioaffiliates or sublicensees, a percentage déiteother income received by us from
corporate partners and sublicensees, and certgntgaosecution and maintenance costs. We rec@t@?,500, $107,500 and $82,500 as
expenses related to these agreements in the yeded ®ecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively

We are obligated to indemnify M.1.T. anthted parties from losses arising from claims e¢ato the products, processes or services
made, used, sold or performed pursuant to the ammess, unless the losses result from the indenthifaties' gross negligence or willful
misconduct.

Each agreement expires upon the expiratic@bandonment of all patents that issue and e@aded to us by M.I.T. under such agreement.
The issued patents include over 30 United Statesifsaand foreign counterparts of some of thosee¥pect that additional patents will issue
from presently pending U.S. and foreign patentiappfbns. Any such patent will have a term of 2@ngefrom the filing date of the underlying
application. M.1.T. may terminate either agreeniemhediately if we cease to carry on our busindsay nonpayment by us is not cured
within 60 days of written notice or if we commiteterial breach that is not cured within 90 days/iften notice. We may terminate either
agreement for any reason upon six months notid&.itd., and, under one agreement, we can separaetyinate the license under a certain
subset of patent rights upon three months notice.

We granted Sandoz a sublicense under tlem@ed and restated license agreement to certélire glatents and patent applications licensed
to us. If M.I.T. converts our exclusive licenseslenthis agreement to non-exclusive licenses dweitdailure to meet diligence obligations, or
if M.I.T. terminates this agreement, M.1.T. will hor the exclusive nature of the sublicense we gratd Sandoz so long as Sandoz continu
fulfill its obligations to us under the collabomati and license agreement we entered into with Saadd, if our agreement with M.L.T. is
terminated, Sandoz agrees to assume our rightelaigétions to M.I.T.
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Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends in part on our aliditybtain and maintain proprietary protection far technology and product candidates, to
operate without infringing on the proprietary rigluf others and to prevent others from infringilng proprietary rights. Our policy is to seek to
protect our proprietary position by, among othethods, filing United States and foreign patent agapions related to our proprietary
technology and product candidates that are impbttetne development of our business. We alsooslyrade secrets, know-how, continuing
technological innovation and in-licensing opportigs to develop and maintain our proprietary positi

We license or own a patent portfolio of 088 patent families, each of which includes UniBdtes patent applications and/or issued
patents as well as foreign counterparts to cedhithe United States patents and patent applicatiOnr patent portfolio includes issued or
pending claims covering:

. methods and technologies for characterizing pobtsacdes and other heterogeneous mixtt

. the composition of matter and use of certain hepags, heparinase variants and other enzymes;
. methods and technologies for synthesis of polysaidés;

. the composition of matter and use of certain naWHSs, including M118 and M40z

. methods to identify, analyze and characterize giyoins; anc

. methods of manufacture of certain polysaccharidgpeptide and glycoprotein products;

A significant portion of our patent porifocovering methods and technologies for charagtegipolysaccharides consists of patents and
patent applications owned and licensed to us byIMLh addition, a significant portion of the clairm our patent portfolio covering the
composition of matter of naturally occurring hepasges, heparinase variants and other enzymessehef these heparinases and enzymes in
the characterization of sugars, and certain methndgechnologies for analyzing polysaccharidesistsof patents and patent applications
that are owned and licensed to us by M.I.T.

The patent positions of companies like @resgenerally uncertain and involve complex legal factual questions. Our ability to maint
and solidify our proprietary position for our tecthogy will depend on our success in obtaining dffecclaims and enforcing those claims o
granted. We do not know whether any of our patpptieations will result in the issuance of any paite Moreover, any issued patent does not
guarantee us the right to practice the patentdthtdogy or commercialize the patented product. d parties may have blocking patents that
could be used to prevent us from commercializingpatented products and practicing our patentdehtdogy. Our issued patents and those
that may be issued in the future may be challenigedlidated or circumvented, which could limit cability to stop competitors from
marketing related products or the length of thentef patent protection that we may have for oudpats. In addition, the rights granted under
any issued patents may not provide us with progmygbrotection or competitive advantages againstpaditors with similar technology.
Furthermore, our competitors may independently idgveimilar technologies. For these reasons, we Ina&g competition for our generic,
biosimilar and novel products. Moreover, becausthefextensive time required for development, ngséind regulatory review of a potential
product, it is possible that, before any of oureldweparin or other products can be commercialiaey,related patent may expire or remain in
force for only a short period following commerckaltion, thereby reducing any advantage of the paten

We may rely, in some circumstances, onetisgtrets to protect our technology. However, tesaeets are difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our technology and product candidatesam py confidentiality agreements with our emplegeconsultants, advisors, contractors and
collaborators. These agreements may be breachedeanthy not have adequate remedies for any bréach.
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addition, our trade secrets may otherwise becore/kror be independently discovered by competifbosthe extent that our employees,
consultants, advisors, contractors and collabosatse intellectual property owned by others inrthwairk for us, disputes may arise as to the
rights in related or resulting know-how and invens.

Asset Purchase

In April 2007, we entered into an assetchase agreement, or the Purchase Agreement, withid?&LC, or Parivid, a provider of data
integration and analysis services to us, and SuRag, the principal owner and Chief Technology €¥fiof Parivid. Pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, we acquired certain of the assets asuhesd certain of the liabilities of Parivid relatedhe acquired assets in exchange for
$2.5 million in cash paid at closing and up to $Irhillion in contingent milestone payments in a &dmation of cash and/or stock in the
manner and on the terms and conditions set fortha@rPurchase Agreement.

The contingent milestone payments are sitrad to include (i) potential payments of no mtbvan $2.0 million in cash if certain
milestones are achieved within two years from thie @f the Purchase Agreement (the "Initial Milests)") and (ii) the issuance of up to
$9.0 million of our common stock to Parivid if cairt other milestones are achieved within fifteeargeof the date of the Purchase Agreement.

In August 2009, we entered into an Amendni@the Purchase Agreement where we agreed taeste time period for completion of
the Initial Milestones to June 30, 2009, specifteake Initial Milestones that had been achievedfdsine 30, 2009 and, as consideration fo
completion and satisfaction of the Initial Milesesnthat were achieved, agreed to pay Parivid $0lmcash and to issue 91,576 shares o
common stock, at a value of $10.92 per share. diitiad, in September 2009, we made a cash paynie$i.@ million to Parivid, recorded as
other expense, representing the difference bettreenet proceeds from Parivid's sale of the shase®d in satisfaction of the Initial
Milestones and the value of such shares as ofateeaf the Amendment.

Manufacturing

We do not own facilities for manufacturiagy products. Although we intend to rely on contraanufacturers, we have personnel with
experience in manufacturing, as well as processldpment, analytical development, quality assuramzkquality control. Under the 2003
Sandoz Collaboration and the 2006 Sandoz Collaloorabandoz is responsible for commercializatian|uding manufacturing, of the produ
covered by those agreements.

We have entered into various agreements thitd party contractors for process developmanalytical services and manufacturing. In
each of our agreements with contractors, we retaimership of our intellectual property and gengraln and/or are assigned ownership of
processes, developments, data, results and otiefleatual property generated during the courshefperformance of each agreement that
primarily relate to our products. Where applicalte,are granted non-exclusive licenses to cer@mtractor intellectual property for purposes
of exploiting the products that are the subjedhefagreement and in a few instances we grant rolaséve licenses to the contract
manufacturers for use outside of our product area.agreements also typically contain provisiomsbfith parties to terminate for material
breach, bankruptcy and insolvency.

The starting material for manufacture of®24M118 and M-Enoxaparin is UFH. In 2008, duehi® dccurrence of adverse events
associated with the use of contaminated UFH, tivere global recalls, including in the United Stat#fdJFH products. Based on its
investigation, the FDA identified a hepalike contaminant in the implicated UFH products aeadommended that manufacturers and supy
of UFH use additional tests to screen their UFHvagbharmaceutical ingredient. As a result of theséi product recalls and potential future
recalls, the U.S. government has placed certain

14




Table of Contents

restrictions, and may decide to place additionstrigtions, on the import of raw materials, inchigliUFH. In addition, these restrictions have
limited the number of suppliers who are able tovwte UFH. Both of these factors could make it difft for us to obtain our starting material,
could increase costs significantly or make thesterias unavailable.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

We do not currently have any sales, manigegind distribution capabilities, nor do we curkghtive any plans to build a sales, marketing
and distribution capability to support any of owoghucts. In order to commercialize any products #ne not encompassed by the 2003 Sandoz
Collaboration or 2006 Sandoz Collaboration, we neitster develop a sales, marketing and distributiérastructure or collaborate with third
parties that have sales, marketing and distribugxperience, and we will review these options asotluer product candidates move closer to
commercialization.

Competition

The development and commercialization afrpfaceutical products is highly competitive. Mariypor competitors are working to deve
or already market products similar to those wedaseeloping and have considerable experience inuatatevelopment and in obtaining
regulatory approval to market pharmaceutical pregluCertain of these companies have substantiedigtgr financial, marketing, research and
development and human resources than we do.

We believe that our ability to successfumpete will depend on a number of factors, iniclgaur ability to successfully develop safe
and efficacious products, the timing and scopeegtilatory approval of our products and those ofammpetitors, our ability to collaborate
with third parties, our ability to maintain favotalpatent protection for our products, our abitd@yobtain market acceptance of our products
our ability to manufacture sufficient quantitiesaafr products at commercially acceptable costs.

In the event that we receive approval fioarket and sell M-Enoxaparin, we would face contjgetifrom Sanofi-Aventis, the company
currently marketing Lovenox, and from other firrhghiey receive marketing approval for generic vamsiof Lovenox. Sanofiwentis may als
choose to market a generic version of Lovenoxfitsethrough an authorized third-party distributdrhile there are no generic versions of
Lovenox approved by the FDA to date, ANDAs haverbggbmitted to the FDA by Amphastar, Teva and Haspinc., and other ANDAs or
other regulatory applications may have been subthiit may be submitted in the future.

In addition, other anticoagulants usechmtreatment of DVT and ACS will compete with ourBvioxaparin product, should it be
approved by the FDA. These competitive productiige GlaxoSmithKline plc's Factor Xa inhibitor, Ania®, which is approved in the
prevention and treatment of several DVT indicatiard other LMWH products. We are also aware oéothjectible and oral anticoagulant
drugs in development for the treatment of DVT, intthg next-generation LMWHSs and several Factor Kgaxtor lla inhibitors that are in
clinical trials. The Factor Xa inhibitors includearoxaban, which is being developed by Bayer A@ dohnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical
Research & Development, L.L.C., and apixaban, wkidieing developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb Compaditye Factor lla inhibitors in
development include dabigatran etexilate, whidbeismig developed by Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH.

In the event that we receive approval fieeyket and sell M356, we would face competitiomfra number of sources. We would face
competition from Copaxone, which is marketed bya Bleuroscience, Inc. in the U.S. and co-promotedidswa Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd.
and Sanofi-Aventis in Europe. We could also facapetition from other companies if they receive negirlg approval for generic versions of
Copaxone. While there are no generic versions @&one approved by the FDA to date, ANDASs have lsedmitted to the FDA by
Mylan Inc., and other ANDAs or
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other regulatory applications may have been subthitt may be submitted in the future. In addititvere are other products that currently
compete with Copaxone in the United States. Thedade Rebif (interferon-beta-1a), which is co-poted by EMD Serono Inc., a subsidiary
of Merck Serono, a divison of Merck KGaA, and Pfikgc. in the U.S. and is marketed by Merck Serionihe European Union; Avonex
(interferon beta-1a) and Tysabri (natalizumab) Wwhace both marketed worldwide by Biogen Idec laog Betaseron (interferon-beta-1b),
which is marketed by Bayer HealthCare Pharmacdstioa., the U.S. pharmaceuticals affiliate of Bagehering Pharma AG, in the U.S. and
is marketed under the name Betaferon by Bayer 8ch@harma, a division of Bayer AG, in the Europglmion.

In addition to the marketed products, a benof companies are working to develop productsaat multiple sclerosis. For example, an
oral formulation of cladribine (developed by Mei8krono) was filed with the European Medicines Agenc EMA, and is the subject of
discussions with the FDA regarding a re-filing &pproval as a therapy for Multiple Sclerosis. Idiidn, FTY720 (fingolimod), developed by
Novartis AG, has been filed with the EMA and FDA &pproval as an oral therapy for Multiple Sclescmid B(-12, developed by Biogen
Idec Inc., an oral compound that is being testaglimpsing multiple sclerosis, has been granteidfask status by the FDA.

Our M118 product is targeted to suppotirent of patients with ACS. Potential competitiwreducts to M118 include the Medicines
Company's direct thrombin inhibitor, Angiomax®, whiis approved for use in angioplasty, and varather LMWH and unfractionated
heparin products, including Lovenox. In additiodax®SmithKline's Arixtra, which is indicated foretprophylaxis of DVT and prophylaxis
and treatment of DVT and pulmonary embolism, hpsrading application to treat patients with ACS,utjlo it is not currently approved in this
indication. Several other anticoagulant drugs amevelopment for ACS, included synthetic FactoraXd Factor Ila inhibitors and aptamer-
based therapies. M118 also faces competition froxdyzts other than anticogulants, such as oralrgadtible platelet inhibitors, which may
be used in the treatment of ACS.

In the field of complex molecules, there amumber of potential competitors seeking to idadditional characterization or create
biosimilar, generic, and/or improved versions ofkesed complex products. There has been substgntiaith in recent years in the number of
generic and pharmaceutical companies looking teldgvbiosimilar or generic versions of protein-tthpeoducts. Biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies also continue to invgsifsiantly in better understanding their own protduor creating improved versions of
marketed products. Similarly, our discovery worlomcology faces substantial competition from majoairmaceutical and other biotechnology
companies that are actively working on improved aodel therapeutics.

The field of glycobiology generally is aogring field with increased competition. However ttapabilities of the field can generally be
segmented into those companies using polysaccisagltherapeutics, companies focused on enginearimgdifying polysaccharides,
including pegylation technologies, and companiesi$ed on analytics. Among those in analytics, veenat aware of others that have similar
capabilities for detailed chemical characterizattbeomplex polysaccharides. Procognia Limitedthtelogy is largely focused on analyzing
proteins and their glycosylation. In addition, mangjor pharmaceutical and biotechnology companieh as Amgen and Biogen Idec Inc.
have successfully improved products through sugatification. Potential competitors with broad glpomogy capabilities include Optimer
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Keryx Pharmaceuticals aneFParmaceuticals, Inc. as well as many privaset-sip pharmaceutical organizations.
Many of these companies are focused on providingcss to pharmaceutical companies rather thansiedwn drug discovery and product
development.

Regulatory and Legal Matters

Government authorities in the United Stasshe federal, state and local level, the Euaagénion, and other countries extensively
regulate, among other things, the research, denedap testing, manufacture, labeling, promotioneatising, distribution, marketing and
exporting and importing of products such as thosave developing.
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United States Government Regulation

In the United States, the information thmaist be submitted to the FDA in order to obtainrapgl to market a new drug varies depending
on whether the drug is a new product whose safadyeffectiveness has not previously been demoestiathumans, or a drug whose active
ingredient(s) and certain other properties arestimae as those of a previously approved drug. Agprivnew drugs and biologics follows the
NDA and BLA routes, respectively, and a drug tHainas to be the same as an already approved NDé miiay be able to follow the AND.
route. Presently, there is no statutory route foalbreviated approval of a therapeutic proteimpebthat has been originally approved under
the Public Health Service Act.

ANDA Approval Proces:

FDA approval is required before a genegiaiealent of an existing brand name drug may bekaetad. Such approval for products is
typically obtained by submitting an ANDA to the Fad demonstrating therapeutic equivalence. Howévisrwithin the FDA's regulatory
discretion to determine the kind and amount of ena required to approve a product for marketimrgANDA may be submitted for a drug
the basis that it is the same as a previously agprbranded drug, also known as a reference lanegl Specifically, the generic drug that is
the subject of the ANDA must have the same actigeedient(s), route of administration, dosage famj strength, as well as the same
labeling, with certain exceptions, and the labelmgst prescribe conditions of use that have beeviqusly approved for the listed drug. If the
generic drug product has a different route of adshiation, dosage form, or strength, the FDA muanga suitability petition approving the
differences(s) from the listed drug before the ANBWy be filed. The ANDA must also contain data aridrmation demonstrating that the
generic drug is bioequivalent to the listed drugf the application is submitted pursuant to apraped suitability petition, information to shi
that the listed drug and the generic drug can Ipe&ked to have the same therapeutic effect wherné&tared to patients for a proposed
condition of use.

Generic drug applications are termed "aibted" because they are not required to duplittegeclinical (human) testing or, generally,
preclinical testing necessary to establish the tyidg safety and effectiveness of the branded pebdther than the requirement for
bioequivalence testing. However, the FDA may refiosgpprove an ANDA if there is insufficient infoation to show that the active
ingredients are the same and to demonstrate tiatrgrurities or differences in active ingredientsribt affect the safety or efficacy of the
generic product. In addition, like NDAs, an ANDAIlwiot be approved unless the product is manufadtim current Good Manufacturing
Practices, or cGMP, compliant facilities to assamd preserve the drug's identity, strength, quality purity. As is the case for NDAs and
BLAs, the FDA may refuse to accept and review ifisightly complete ANDAs.

Generally, in an ANDA submission, deterntioia of the "sameness" of the active ingredienthse in the reference listed drug is based
on the demonstration of the chemical equivalendb@tomponents of the generic version to thogkeobranded product. While the standard
for demonstrating chemical equivalence is relagiwttaightforward for small molecule drugs, itidérently more difficult to define sameness
for the active ingredients of complex drugs. Unither NDA pathway, these types of drugs include grokucts as heparins and recombinant
versions of certain hormones, among others. Dtleetdimited number of ANDA submissions for genarmnplex drugs, the FDA has not
reached a final position for demonstrating chemécplivalence for many of these products specificalbr provided broad guidance for
achieving "sameness" for complex drugs in genérahany cases, the criteria the FDA may apply ileesolving. Additionally, for
therapeutic protein drugs approved by the BLA ratprly pathway, no abbreviated regulatory pathwayerily exists. Although, to our
knowledge, the FDA has not provided official guidaron the legal and scientific aspects of followbarlogics regulation, legislation has been
proposed each year since 2006 to establish an\datere approval pathway, including legislation pyeed as part of the health care
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reform initiatives currently underway. We anticipahis pending legislation will be the subject igfingficant Congressional debate in the near
future, as well as lobbying efforts by both genawmcl branded pharmaceutical companies.

To demonstrate bioequivalence, ANDAs gdheraust also contaiin vivo bioavailability data for the generic and brandealgdr
"Bioavailability" indicates the rate and extentadfsorption and levels of concentration of a druaglpct in the bloodstream needed to produce a
therapeutic effect. "Bioequivalence” compares tioavmilability of one drug product with anothergdamhen established, indicates that the rate
of absorption and levels of concentration of a gerdrug in the body are the same as the previcaghroved branded drug. The studies
required to demonstrate vivo bioequivalence are generally very small, quickdmplete, and involve relatively few subjects. Underrent
regulations, the FDA may waive requirementsifovivo bioequivalence data for certain drug products idiclg products where
bioequivalence is self evident such as injectablet®ns which have been shown to contain the sactige and inactive ingredients as the
reference listed drug. The FDA, however, does tways waive requirements fam vivo bioequivalence data. For example, bioequivalenta
was required for the M-Enoxaparin ANDA submission.

Generic drug products that are found tthieeapeutically equivalent by the FDA receive afi féting in FDA's Orange Book, which lists
all approved drug products and therapeutic equiaaevaluations. Products that are therapeutiegilyvalent can be expected in the FDA's
judgment to have equivalent clinical effect anddiference in their potential for adverse effectsenw used under the approved condition
their approved labeling. Products with "A" ratireyg generally substitutable for the innovator dsydoth in-hospital and retail pharmacies.
Many health insurance plans require automatic gutish for "A" rated generic versions of produetben they are available, although
physicians may still prescribe the branded drugrdividual patients. On rare occasions in the pgeteric products were approved that were
not rated as therapeutically equivalent, and tipesducts were generally not substitutable at retaéirmacies.

The timing of final FDA approval of a geitedrug for commercial distribution depends on detg of factors, including whether the
applicant challenges any listed patents for thg @mnd/or its use and whether the manufacturereobthnded product is entitled to one or more
statutory periods of non-patent regulatory excliagi\during which the FDA is prohibited from accigt or approving generic product
applications. For example, submission of an ANDAdarug that was approved under an NDA as a nemital entity will be blocked for
five years after the pioneer's approval, or forfpears after approval if the application includgsaragraph 1V certification of nanfringemen
or invalidity against a patent applicable to tharated drug. This particular circumstance does pplyao M-Enoxaparin but may apply to
future generic products that we pursue. In cetaitumstances, a regulatory exclusivity period eatend beyond the life of a patent, and thus
block ANDAs from being approved on or after theguaitexpiration date. For example, a three-yeamsidgty period may be granted for new
indications, dosage forms, routes of administrat@rstrengths of previously approved drugs, omw uses, if approval of such changes
required the sponsor to conduct new clinical staidie addition, the FDA may extend the exclusiwfya product by six months past the date of
patent expiry or other regulatory exclusivity ietmanufacturer undertakes studies on the effetttedf product in children, a swalled pediatric
exclusivity.

The brand manufacturer may seek to delgyr@rent the approval of an ANDA by filing a Citiz€etition with the FDA. For example, a
Citizen Petition may request the FDA to rule thaegermination of "sameness" and/or therapeutiévatgnce for a particular ANDA is not
possible without extensive clinical testing, basadhe characteristics of the brand product. Bezagisitively few ANDAs for complex mixtu
drugs have been reviewed by FDA, such a petitiaddceubstantially delay approval, or result in rapproval, of an ANDA for a complex
mixture generic product.
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Patent Challenge Process Regarding AND

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides incentivasgeneric pharmaceutical manufacturers to challgragents on branded pharmaceutical
products and/or their methods of use, as well aet@lop products comprising non-infringing formighe patented drugs. The Hatch-Waxman
legislation places significant burdens on the ANfilér to ensure that such challenges are not faus| but also offers the opportunity for
significant financial reward if the challenge ixsassful.

If there is a patent listed for the branded in the FDA's Orange Book at the time of sig®ioin of the ANDA, or at any time before the
ANDA is approved, the generic company's ANDA musfude one of four types of patent certificationthwiespect to each listed patent. If the
applicant seeks approval to market the genericvatpnt prior to the expiration of a listed patehg generic company includes a certification
asserting that the patent is invalid or unenfort@abwill not be infringed, a so-called "paragrdphcertification.” Within 20 days after
receiving notice from the FDA that its applicatisracceptable for review, or immediately if the ANDas been amended to include a
paragraph IV certification after the applicationsrsubmitted to the FDA, the generic applicant igineed to send the patent owner and the
holder of the NDA for the brand-name drug noticplaiking why it believes that the listed patentgjirestion are invalid, unenforceable or not
infringed. If the patent holder commences a patdrihgement lawsuit within 45 days of receipt oich notice, the Hatch-Waxman Act
provides for an automatic stay on the FDA's abilitgrant final approval of the ANDA for the gereproduct, generally for a period of
30 months. A 30-month stay may be shortened ortthemgd by a court order if the district court firldat a party has failed to reasonably
cooperate in expediting the action. Moreover, tis&ridt court may, before expiration of the stagstie a preliminary injunction prohibiting the
commercial sale of the generic drug until the coules on the issues of validity, infringement, amforceability. If the district court finds that
the relevant patent is invalid, unenforceable,arinfringed, such ruling terminates the B@nth stay on the date of the judgment. If it igfiy
determined that the patent is valid, enforceabid,iafringed, approval of the ANDA may not be gethprior to the expiration of the patent. In
addition, if the challenged patent expires durimg 30month period, the FDA may grant final approvaltiee generic drug for marketing, if t
FDA has determined that the application meetsahnical and regulatory requirements for approwdl there are no other obstacles to
approval.

In most cases, patent holders may onlyiolotae 30 month stay with respect to patents ligtetie Orange Book. Specifically, for AND,
with paragraph IV certifications to a patent listedthe branded drug in the Orange Book on orategust 18, 2003, a single 3fenth stay i
available for litigation related to that patentyiilthe patent was submitted to the FDA beforedhte that the ANDA (excluding an
amendment or supplement) was submitted. In othedsy@0-months stays are not triggered by latezdipatents submitted to the FDA on or
after the date the ANDA application was submitgecause of this limitation, in most cases ANDAd wé subject to no more than one 30-
month stay.

Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, the first ANRAplicant to have submitted a substantially conephXIDA that includes a paragraph 1V
certification may be eligible to receive a 180-geyiod of generic market exclusivity during whitle tFDA may not approve any other ANDA
for the same drug product. However, this exclugidibes not prevent the sponsor of the innovatog ¢ham selling an unbranded "authorized
generic" version of its own product during the 186 exclusivity period. This period of market exsiliity may provide the patent challenger
with the opportunity to earn a return on the rieen and its legal and development costs anditd isimarket share before other generic
competitors can enter the market. Under the Hatebxsan Act, as amended by the Medicare Modernizatimrof 2003, or MMA, there are a
number of ways an applicant who has filed an ANDt&rethe date of the MMA may forfeit its 180-dayciusivity, including if the ANDA is
withdrawn or if the applicant fails to market itoguct within the specified statutory timeframeagchieve at least tentative approval within the
specified timeframe. In addition, for ANDASs filedter
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the MMA was enacted, it is possible for more thar ANDA applicant to be eligible for 180-day exdlity. This occurs when multiple "first"
applicants submit substantially complete ANDAs widragraph IV certifications on the same day.

NDA and BLA Approval Processe

In the United States, the FDA regulategdrand biologics under the Federal Food, Drug,Goemetic Act, and, in the case of biologics,
also under the Public Health Service Act, and imq@eting regulations. The steps required beforenaarebranded drug or biologic may be
marketed in the United States include:

. completion of preclinical laboratory tests, anirstaldies and formulation studies under the FDA'sigaboratory practice!

. submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinitedting, which must become effective before hunieaical trials may begit
and must include independent Institutional Revievail, or IRB, approval at each clinical site befibre trial is initiated,;

. performance of adequate and \-controlled clinical trials to establish the safatyd efficacy of the investigational drug prod
for each indication or the safety, purity and peteaof the biological product for its intended ingion;

. completion of developmental chemistry, manufactyand controls activities and manufacture underecuirtGood
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP;

. submission to the FDA of an NDA or BL/
. satisfactory completion of an FDA Advisory Commétteeview, if applicable;

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thanufacturing facility or facilities at which tipeoduct is produced to assess
compliance with cGMPs and to assure that the faas|imethods and controls are adequate to preffedrug's identity,
strength, quality and purity or to meet standartsighed to ensure the biologic's continued safetsity and potency;

. satisfactory completion of FDA inspections of ndimical and or clinical testing sites; and

. FDA review and approval of the NDA or BL,

Preclinical tests include laboratory evétues of product chemistry, toxicity and formulatjas well as animal studies. An IND sponsor
must submit the results of the preclinical tesigether with manufacturing information and anabftiend stability data, to the FDA as part of
the IND. An IND will automatically become effectia® days after receipt by the FDA unless, befoat time, the FDA raises concerns or
guestions about issues such as the conduct ofigiteds outlined in the IND. In that case, the ISibnsor and the FDA must resolve any
outstanding FDA concerns or questions before dirtigals can proceed. Submission of an IND mayrastilt in the FDA allowing clinical
trials to commence.

Clinical trials involve the administratiorf the investigational product to human subjectpatients in accordance with specific protocols
and under the supervision of qualified investigaiaoraccordance with good clinical practices, oiRSCEach clinical trial protocol must be
submitted to the FDA as part of the IND, and an ERERach site where the study is conducted mustagdprove the study. Clinical trials
typically are conducted in three sequential phasgisthe phases may overlap or be combined. Phagdslusually involve the initial
introduction of the investigational drug into huredn evaluate the product's safety, dosage tolergtarmacokinetics and pharmacodynar
If feasible, Phase 1 studies also attempt to det@cearly indication of a drug's potential effeetiess. Phase 2 trials usually involve controlled
trials in a limited patient population to evaludtgsage tolerance and appropriate dosage, idersilple adverse effects and safety risks and
evaluate the
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preliminary efficacy of the drug for specific indibons. Phase 3 trials usually test a specific thgsis to evaluate clinical efficacy and test
further for safety in an expanded patient populgtto establish the overall benefit-risk relatiopsbf the product and to provide adequate
information for the labeling of the product. Phdsé&hase 2 and Phase 3 testing may not be completedssfully within any specified period,
if at all. Furthermore, the FDA, an IRB or a spansay suspend or terminate clinical trials at ameton various grounds, including a finding
that the subjects or patients are being exposad t;macceptable health risk. The FDA can also gd¢bat additional clinical trials be
conducted as a condition of product approval. Bmaponsors are required to publicly disseminafermation about ongoing and completed
clinical trials on a government website administieog the National Institutes of Health, or NIH, aar@ subject to civil money penalties and
other civil and criminal sanctions for failing toeet these obligations.

Assuming successful completion of the regpliclinical testing, the results of the preclimisdies and of the clinical studies, together
with other detailed information, including infornia on the chemistry, manufacture and control efghoduct, are submitted to the FDA in the
form of an NDA or BLA requesting approval to markie¢ product for one or more indications. The F2#iews an NDA to determine, among
other things, whether a product is safe and effedtrr its intended use and whether its manufaotuis cGMP-compliant to assure and
preserve the product's identity, strength, quaitg purity. The FDA reviews a BLA to determine, aigother things, whether the product is
safe, pure and potent and the facility in whicls inanufactured, processed, packed or held mestdatds designed to assure the product's
continued safety, purity and potency. The FDA nefuse to accept and review insufficiently comphgtelications.

Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA hiihspect the facility or the facilities at whiche product is manufactured. The FDA will
not approve the product unless it determines tlettanufacturing processes and facilities are inpliance with cGMP requirements and
adequate to assure consistent production of thatuptavithin required specifications. Additionallyefore approving an NDA or BLA, the FC
will typically inspect one or more clinical sites assure compliance with GCPs. If the FDA detersithe application, manufacturing process
or manufacturing facilities are not acceptabl&iit outline the deficiencies in the submission arften will request additional testing or
information. Notwithstanding the submission of aaguested additional information, the FDA ultimgitelay decide that the application does
not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

The testing and approval process requirbstantial time, effort and financial resourceg] aach may take several years to complete.
Moreover, after approval, some types of changésd@pproved product, such as adding new indicstimanufacturing changes and additic
labeling claims, are subject to further FDA reviamd approval of a new NDA or BLA, or NDA or BLA spipment, before the change can be
implemented.

Pos-Approval Requirements

After regulatory approval of a product i#a@ned, we will be required to comply with a numbgpost-approval requirements. For
example, as a condition of approval of an NDA orBthe FDA may require post-marketing testing andssillance to further assess and
monitor the product's safety or efficacy after coencmlization. Any post-approval regulatory obligat, and the cost of complying with such
obligations, could expand in the future.

In addition, holders of an approved NDA,/Blor ANDA are required to report, among other gsncertain adverse reactions and
production problems to the FDA, to provide updatatkty and efficacy information and to comply wiglguirements concerning advertising
and promotional labeling for their products. Algoality control and manufacturing procedures mostiaue to conform to cGMP after
approval. The FDA periodically inspects manufactgracilities to assess compliance with
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cGMP, which imposes extensive procedural, substastind recordkeeping requirements. Accordingly, ufecturers must continue to expend
time, money and effort in the area of productiod goality control to maintain compliance with cGMPRd other aspects of regulatory
compliance.

Discovery of problems with a product otdaé to comply with the applicable United Stateguieements at any time during the product
development process, approval process or afteogpphmay subject an applicant to administrativgudicial sanctions. These sanctions could
include the imposition by the FDA or an IRB of a@al hold on or termination of studies, the FDAé$usal to approve pending application:
supplements, license suspension or revocationdwéttral of an approval, restriction on marketingrmiag letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of produatiodistribution, injunctions, fines, civil penas or criminal prosecution. Also, new
government requirements may be established thid delay or prevent regulatory approval of our prad under development.

Follow-On Biologics

The BLA regulatory pathway was createdetdew and approve new applications for drugs thatypically produced from living syster
Presently, there is no abbreviated regulatory payhiier the approval of generic or biosimilar versi@f BLA-approved products in the United
States; however, there are emerging biosimilarejurids in the European Union. Proposed legislationld, if enacted, create a regulatory
pathway at the FDA for applicants to seek approt#&bllow-on biologics. We believe that scientificogress in the analysis and
characterization of complex mixture drugs may ieflae the content of such a U.S. regulatory pathiwélye future. Depending on whether
such legislation is enacted, and the content ofetfislation, the FDA could ultimately have thetarity to exercise its discretion to approve
follow-on biologics with limited clinical testingravithout the need for clinical trials, and follosn biologic manufacturers could seek to
challenge the patent rights of branded products poi commercial launch. We are not able to prediwtther future legislation in this area will
follow the existing ANDA process or an alternataygproach and our ability to pursue our follow-oalbdgic opportunities is dependent on the
enactment of legislation as well as the conteranyf resulting legislation.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the Unitedites, we will be subject to a variety of foreiggukations governing clinical trials and commer:
sales and distribution of our products if and whenenter those markets. Whether or not we obtai &pproval for a product, we must obt
approval of a clinical trial application or proddodm the applicable regulatory authorities of fgrecountries before we can commence clir
trials or marketing of the product in those cowedriThe approval process varies from country tmtguand the time may be longer or shorter
than that required for FDA approval. The requiretagyoverning the conduct of clinical trials, protllicensing, pricing and reimbursement
vary greatly from country to country.

Under European Union regulatory systemsmag submit marketing authorizations either undeertralized or decentralized procedure.
The centralized procedure is mandatory for the @gdrof biotechnology products and many pharmacalgroducts and provides for the gr
of a single marketing authorization that is vabd &Il European Union member states. The decemtiglprocedure provides for mutual
recognition of national approval decisions andvigilable at the request of the applicant for pragticat are not subject to the centralized
procedure. Under this procedure, the holder oftmal marketing authorization from one Europeanddmmember state (the reference mer
state) may submit an application to the remainimgniner states. Generally, each member state degltether to recognize the reference
member state's approval in its own country.
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Related Matters

From time to time, legislation is draftéstroduced and passed in Congress that could &gnify change the statutory provisions
governing the approval, manufacturing and marketifgroducts regulated by the FDA or reimbursedenrddedicare by the Center for
Medicare Services. In addition, FDA regulations go@lance are often revised or reinterpreted byatfency in ways that may significantly
affect our business and our products. It is imgmesd predict whether legislative changes willdmacted, or FDA regulations, guidance or
interpretations changed, or what the impact of sh@nges, if any, may be.

Hazardous Materials

Our research and development processeb/etize controlled use of certain hazardous mdgeaiad chemicals, including radioactive
materials and equipment. We are subject to fedstatie and local environmental, health and worlekafety laws and regulations governing
the use, manufacture, storage, handling and dispbeazardous materials and waste products. Weotlexpect the cost of complying with
these laws and regulations to be material.

Employees

We believe that our success will depenatlyen our ability to identify, attract and retaiapable employees. As of December 31, 2009,
we had 176 employees, including a total of 52 eygrs who hold M.D. or Ph.D. degrees. Our emplogeesiot represented by any collective
bargaining unit, and we believe our relations veitit employees are good.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

See the section entitled "Segment Repdripgearing in Note 2 to our consolidated finanstatements for financial information about
geographic areas. The Notes to our consolidatesial statements are contained in Part Il, Itewfi tBis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Iltem 1A. RISK FACTORS

Statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not based on historical fact are "forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. These forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future results are based on
current expectations, estimates, forecasts, projections, intentions, goals, strategies, plans, prospects and the beliefs and assumptions of our
management including, without limitation, our expectations regarding results of operations, general and administrative expenses, research and
devel opment expenses, current and future devel opment and manufacturing efforts, regulatory filings, clinical trial results and the sufficiency of
our cash for future operations. Forward-looking statements can be identified by terminology such as "anticipate," "believe," "could," "could
increase the likelihood,” "hope," "target," "project,” "goals,” "potential,” "predict,” "might,"” "estimate, " "

expect,” "intend,” "is planned,” "may,"
"should," "will," "will enable," "would be expected," "look forward," "may provide," "would" or similar terms, variations of such terms or the
negative of those terms.

We cannot assure investors that our assumptions and expectations will prove to have been correct. Important factors could cause our
actual results to differ materially from those indicated or implied by forward-looking statements. Such factors that could cause or contribute to
such differences include those factors discussed below. We undertake no intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition or results of operations would likely suffer.

Risks Relating to our Business

We have a limited operating history and have incadra cumulative loss since inception. If we do generate significant revenues, we will
not be profitable.

We have incurred significant losses sineeinception in May 2001. At December 31, 2009, accumulated deficit was $321.0 million.
We have not generated revenues from the sale gbpruicts to date. We expect that our annual opegrédsses will increase over the next
several years as we expand our drug commerciaizadievelopment and discovery efforts. To becoroéitable, we must successfully deve
and obtain regulatory approval for our existinggloandidates, and effectively manufacture, markdtsell any drugs we successfully deve
Accordingly, we may never generate significant raes and, even if we do generate significant resgnwe may never achieve profitability.

To become and remain profitable, we musteed in developing and commercializing drugs wignificant market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of chaltengctivities: developing drugs; obtaining regutatapproval for them through either existing
or new regulatory approval pathways; clearing a&tdyg infringing patent rights; and manufacturingstdbuting, marketing and selling them.
We may never succeed in these activities and megrrgenerate revenues that are significant or langeigh to achieve profitability. Even if
we do achieve profitability, we may not be ableststain or increase profitability on a quarterhyaanual basis. Our failure to become and
remain profitable would cause the market pricelof@mmon stock to decrease and could impair ollityatw raise capital, expand our
business, diversify our product offerings or conéirour operations.

If we fail to obtain approval for and commercializeur most advanced product candidate -Enoxaparin, we may have to curtail our
product development programs and our business wdaddmaterially harmed

We have invested a significant portion of time, financial resources and collaboration eéfin the development of our most advanced
product candidate, M-Enoxaparin, a technology-esthigeneric
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version of Lovenox. Our near-term ability to genenavenues and our future success, in large ¢ggpend on the successful development and
commercialization of M-Enoxaparin.

In accordance with our 2003 Sandoz Collation, Sandoz has submitted ANDAs to the FDA sagkinproval to market MEnoxaparin il
the United States. The ANDA review process by FBArgoing. If any of the following occurs, we magvar realize revenue from this
product, we may have to curtail our other prodwstedopment programs and, as a result, our busimeskl be materially harmed:

. if we fail to answer any question from the FDA t® satisfaction as it proceeds with its reviewhaf M-Enoxaparin ANDA,
including questions relating to the potential imragenicity of the drug product;

. if we are unable to satisfactorily demonstrateapeutic equivalence of M-Enoxaparin to Lovenox;
. if the FDA disagrees with our characterization apggh or does not agree tha-Enoxaparin is equivalent to Lovenc
. if we otherwise fail to meet FDA requirements fotaining ANDA approval (including, but not limited, manufacturing and

bioequivalence requirements); or

. if we fail to obtain FDA approval for, and succesf commercialize, MEnoxaparin
If other generic versions of Lovenox are approveddasuccessfully commercialized, our business wosldfer.

In March 2003, Amphastar and Teva each #ttisfANDASs for generic versions of Lovenox wittetkDA. In 2007, Hospira, Inc.
submitted ANDASs for generic versions of Lovenoxiwthe FDA. In addition, other third parties, indlugl, without limitation, Sanofi-Aventis,
may seek approval to market generic versions oehox in the United States. If a competitor obt&BA approval or if Sanofi-Aventis
decides to market its drug as a generic or licértseanother company to be sold as a generic, badlwn as authorized generics, the financial
returns to us from the sale of M-Enoxaparin wowddskgnificantly less than if no other genericsapproved. Under these circumstances, we
may not gain any competitive advantage and thdtnegunarket price for our Menoxaparin product may be lower, our commerciahtumay
be delayed or we may not be able to launch ourymtoat all. Also, we may never achieve significanatrket share for M-Enoxaparin if one or
more third parties markets generic versions of lhawe

The 2003 Sandoz Collaboration contains samhich specify the sharing of commercial returhMeEnoxaparin between us and Sandoz.
Under circumstances when one or more third pastiesessfully commercialize a generic version ofdrax, significantly less favorable
economic terms for us would be triggered. Consetiyyehother generic versions of Lovenox are ap@w and commercialized, our revenues
from M-Enoxaparin would be reduced and, as a reguttbusiness, including our near-term finanaaluits and our ability to fund future
discovery and development programs, would suffer.

If efforts by manufacturers of branded products tielay or limit the use of generics are successtuly sales of technolo¢-enabled generic
products may suffer

Many manufacturers of branded products laseasingly used legislative, regulatory and otheans to delay competition from
manufacturers of generic drugs. These efforts ivastaded:

. settling patent lawsuits with generic companiesuylténg in such patents remaining an obstacle éoregic approval by other
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. settling paragraph IV patent litigation with germezbmpanies to prevent the expiration of the 18pgkmeric marketing
exclusivity period or to delay the triggering ottbuexclusivity period;

. submitting Citizen Petitions to request the FDA @oissioner to take administrative action with resgegrospective and
submitted generic drug applications;

. appealing denials of Citizens Petitions in U.S.dratiDistrict Court and seeking injunctive reliefreverse approval of gene
drug applications;

. seeking changes to the United States Pharmac@weiadustry recognized compilation of drug standard

. pursuing new patents for existing products or pgees which could extend patent protection for abmrmof years or otherwis
delay the launch of generic drugs; and

. attaching special patent extension amendmentsredataed federal legislation.

In February 2003, Sanofi-Aventis filed digzn Petition with the FDA requesting that the Fid&hhold approval of any ANDA for a
generic version of Lovenox until and unless the Rixermines that the manufacturing process usebebgeneric applicant is equivalent to
the process used to make Lovenox, or until the ieapplicant demonstrates through clinical trialat its product is equally safe and effective
as Lovenox, and unless the generic product is sliownntain a specific molecular structure. Tevayphastar, and others have filed comm:
opposing the Sanofi-Aventis Citizen Petition, armsh&i-Aventis has filed numerous supplements aptyreomments in support of its Citizen
Petition. The FDA has yet to rule on the Sanofi-At® Citizen Petition, and if the FDA ultimatelyagts the Sanofiventis Citizen Petition, ¢
if Sanofi-Aventis successfully appeals the denfahe Citizen Petition, we and Sandoz may be untbtbtain approval of our ANDA for M-
Enoxaparin, which would materially harm our busses

In November 2009, Teva Neuroscience, loe.lehalf of Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Litejifa Citizen Petition with the FDA
requesting that the FDA neither approve nor acfeftling any ANDA for a generic version of Copax® because the complexity of Copax
makes it impossible to demonstrate that the aatigeedient in the generic version is the same gsa&one. If the FDA ultimately grants the
Citizen Petition, we and Sandoz may be unable taiolapproval of the ANDA for M356, which would neaially harm our business.

Further, some manufacturers of brandedywrizchave engaged in state-by-state initiativesect legislation that restricts the substitution
of some branded drugs with generic drugs. If tlefimts to delay or block competition are succelssfie may be unable to sell our generic
products, which could have a material adverse effe@ur sales and profitability.

Our patent litigation with Teva Pharmaceutical Indiiries Ltd., the manufacturer of Copaxone, may cawdelays and additional expense in
the commercialization of M356. If we are not sucefid in commercializing M356 or are significantlyelayed in doing so, our business may
be materially harmed.

In July 2008, the FDA accepted for reviese ANDA containing a paragraph IV certification fpeneric Copaxone submitted by Sandoz.
Subsequently, in August 2008, Teva Pharmaceutithldtries Ltd. and related entities sued Sandoraftis AG and us for patent infringem
related to four of the seven Orange Book patestsdifor Copaxone. We, Sandoz, and Novartis AG hasgerted defenses of nmfringement
invalidity and unenforceability and filed countexiths for declaratory judgments to have all sevethefOrange Book patents as well as two
additional patents in the same patent family adjateid in the present lawsuit. In December 2009aRharmaceutical Industries Ltd. and
related entities sued Sandoz, Novartis AG and updtent infringement related to certain non-OraBgek patents. These lawsuits could
significantly delay, impair or prevent our abilitly commercialize M356, our second major generidpet candidate. Litigation involves many
risks and
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uncertainties, and there is no assurance that Nsv&®, Sandoz or we will prevail in any lawsuittiviTeva Pharmaceutical Industries. In
addition, Teva Pharmaceutical Industries has siamt resources and any litigation with Teva Phaeungical Industries could last a number of
years, potentially delaying or prohibiting the coemgialization of M356. If we are not successfutommercializing M356 or are significant
delayed in doing so, our business may be matetiaiyned.

If other generic versions of our product candidateéacluding M356, are approved and successfully aoercialized, our business wou
suffer.

We expect that certain of our product cdatéis may face intense and increasing competitton 6ther manufacturers of generic and/or
branded products. For example, in September 20§8rMnc. announced that the FDA had acceptedilfogfits ANDA for generic
Copaxone. Furthermore, as patents for branded ptednd related exclusivity periods expire, mantufiges of generic products may receive
regulatory approval for generic equivalents and tmayble to achieve significant market penetrathmnthis happens, or as branded
manufacturers launch authorized generic versiossiofi products, market share, revenues and grofistgpically decline, in some cases,
dramatically. If any of our generic product offeyé including MEnoxaparin or M356, enter markets with a numberonhpetitors, we may n
achieve significant market share, revenues or gros#. In addition, as other generic productsiateoduced to the markets in which we
participate, the market share, revenues and gro$is @f our generic products could decline.

If the raw materials, including unfractionated hepa, or UFH, used in our products become difficutb obtain, significantly increase il
cost or become unavailable, we may be unable tadpae our products and this would have a materiaivadse impact on our business.

We and our collaborative partners and vesidbtain certain raw materials, including UFH nfrguppliers who in turn source the matet
from other countries, including China. In 2008, do¢he occurrence of adverse events associatédhgtuse of UFH, there were global rec
of UFH products, including in the United Statess&&on investigation by the FDA into those adversnts, the FDA identified a heparin-like
contaminant in the implicated UFH products and nee@nded that manufacturers and suppliers of UFHadd#ional tests to screen their U
active pharmaceutical ingredient. The FDA and othehorities have also placed restrictions on tiygoirt of some raw materials from China,
and may in the future place additional restrictiand testing requirements on the use of raw médenecluding UFH, in products intended for
sale in the United States. As a result, the raverias, including UFH, used in our products maydwee difficult to obtain, significantly
increase in cost, or become unavailable to usyfad these events occur, we and our collaborgtargners may be unable to produce our
products in sufficient quantities to meet the reguients for the commercial launch of the produdbaneet future demand, which would have
a material adverse impact on our business.

If we or our collaborative partners and other thirgarties are unable to satisfy FDA quality standardnd related regulatory requirement
experience manufacturing difficulties or are unabl® manufacture sufficient quantities of our prodticandidates our development and
commercialization efforts may be materially harmed.

We have limited personnel with experiengeand we do not own facilities for, manufacturargy products. We depend upon our
collaborative partners and other third partiesrtwvjole raw materials meeting FDA quality standeaadd related regulatory requirements,
manufacture the drug substance, produce the fingl product and provide certain analytical servieéh respect to our product candidates,
including M-Enoxaparin. We, our collaborative pams or our third-party contractors may have diffticuneeting FDA manufacturing
requirements, including, but not limited to, repuoibility, validation and scale-up, and continueanpliance with current good manufacturing
practices
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requirements. In addition, events such as the ountion of UFH may have an adverse impact on tipply of starting or raw materials for
some of our product candidates, and we, our calighe partners or our third-party contractors rhaye difficulty producing products in the
guantities necessary to meet FDA requirements et argicipated market demand. If we, our collabeegpartners or our third-party
manufacturers or suppliers are unable to satisfyFIDA pre-approval manufacturing requirements farproduct candidates, or to maintain
compliance with applicable regulatory standardsgrerunable to produce our products in sufficiamrdities to meet the requirements for the
launch of the product or to meet future demand reuenues and gross margins could be adverselgtadfe

We will require substantial additional funds to exete our business plan and, if additional capita hot available, we may need to limit,
scale back or cease our operatiot

As of December 31, 2009, we had cash, egsivalents and marketable securities totaling &8illion. For the year ended December
2009, we had a net loss of $64.0 million and usesthdn operating activities of $55.3 million. Welwbntinue to require substantial funds to
conduct research and development, process devefdpmanufacturing, preclinical testing and clinit@ls of our drug candidates, as well as
funds necessary to manufacture and market any prethat are approved for commercial sale. Becauseessful development of our drug
candidates is uncertain, we are unable to estithatactual funds we will require to complete resband development and commercialize our
products under development.

Our future capital requirements may vargetaling on the following:

. the advancement of our generic product candidaté®ther development programs, including the timohgegulatory
approvals;

. the timing of FDA approval of the products of ownpetitors;
. the cost of litigation, including with Teva Pharmeaticals Industries relating to Copaxone, thabisatherwise covered by our

collaboration agreement, or potential patent ltiawith others, as well as any damages, inclugiogsibly treble damages, tl
may be owed to third parties should we be unsuéiddassuch litigation;

. the time and costs involved in obtaining regulat@pyprovals;

. the ability to enter into strategic collaboratio

. the continued progress in our research and deveopprograms, including completion of our preclatistudies and clinical
trials;

. the potential acquisition and-licensing of other technologies, products or assetd

. the cost of manufacturing, marketing and saleviiet, if any.

We may seek additional funding in the fatand intend to do so through collaborative arraveges and public or private equity and debt
financings. Any additional capital raised throuph tale of equity may dilute your percentage owhiprsf our common stock. Capital raised
through debt financing would require us to makequic interest payments and may impose potentialtjrictive covenants on the conduct of
our business. Additional funds may not be availables on acceptable terms or at all. In additiba,terms of any financing may adversely
affect the holdings or the rights of our stockhotddf we are unable to obtain funding on a timedgis, we may be required to significantly
curtail one or more of our research or developrpengrams. We also could be required to seek fumasigh arrangements with collaborators
or others that may require us to relinquish rightsome of our technologies, product candidatgs@ducts which we would otherwise pursue
on our own.
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Competition in the biotechnology and pharmaceutidatustries is intense, and if we are unable to qoete effectively, our financial results
will suffer.

The markets in which we intend to compeeumdergoing, and are expected to continue torgodeapid and significant technological
change. We expect competition to intensify as tetdgical advances are made or new biotechnologgiymts are introduced. New
developments by competitors may render our cugefiture product candidates and/or technologiesgumpetitive, obsolete or not
economical. Our competitors' products may be mtiireaeious or marketed and sold more effectivelgrttany of our products.

Many of our competitors have:

. significantly greater financial, technical and hummasources than we have at every stage of thewdisg, developmen
manufacturing and commercialization process;

. more extensive experience in commercializing gendmigs, conducting preclinical studies, conductiligical trials, obtaining
regulatory approvals, challenging patents and netufing and marketing pharmaceutical products;

. products that have been approved or are in lagestaf development; and

. collaborative arrangements in our target marketk lgading companies and/or research institutions.

If we successfully develop and obtain apprdor our drug candidates, we will face competitbased on many different factors,
including:

. the safety and effectiveness of our products;

. with regard to our generic product candidatesdifferential availability of clinical data and exjence between a brand
manufacturer that conducts clinical trials and aegie manufacturer;

. the timing and scope of regulatory approvals festhproducts and regulatory opposition to any proapprovals;

. the availability and cost of manufacturing, markgtidistribution and sales capabilities;

. the effectiveness of our marketing, distribution @ales capabilitie

. the price of our product

. the availability and amount of third-party reimbemsent for our products; and

. for our innovative products,the strength of ourepaiposition.

Our competitors may develop or commerogaproducts with significant advantages in regardny of these factors. Our competitors may
therefore be more successful in commercializing f@ducts than we are, which could adverselycffeir competitive position and business.

If we or our collaborators are unable to establistnd maintain key customer distribution arrangementales of our products, and therefo
revenues, would decline.

Generic pharmaceutical products are sotoligih various channels, including retail, mail ardend to hospitals through group purchasing
organizations, or GPOs. As enoxaparin is primaxihospital-based product, we expect to derivegelpercentage of our future revenue for M-
Enoxaparin through contracts with GPOs. Currematlsglatively small number of GPOs control a sultshportion of generic pharmaceutical
sales to hospital customers. In order to establighmaintain contracts with these GPOs, we belieaewe, in collaboration with Sandoz, will
need to maintain
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adequate drug supplies, remain price competitiompty with FDA regulations and provide high-qualitsoducts. The GPOs with whom we or
our collaborators hope to establish contracts nigxy laave relationships with our competitors and hegide to contract for or otherwise prefer
products other than ours, limiting access of M-Eapa¢tin to certain hospital segments. Our salegdcalsb be negatively affected by any
rebates, discounts or fees that are required bgutomers, including the GPOs, wholesalers, Bistivirs, retail chains or mail order services,
to gain and retain market acceptance for our prizsdifiée anticipate that M356 will be primarily dibuited through retail channels and mail
order services. If we or our collaborators are lméb establish and maintain distribution arrangetsigvith all of these customers, future sales
of our products, including M-Enoxaparin and M358@r cevenues and our profits would suffer.

Even if we receive approval to market our produeindidates, the market may not be receptive to owaduct candidates upon the
commercial introduction, which could prevent us fnobeing profitable.

Even if our product candidates are sucodgsdeveloped and approved for marketing, our sss@nd growth will also depend upon the
acceptance of these product candidates by patjmisicians and thirgarty payors. Acceptance of our product candidaitde a function o
our products being clinically useful, being codtefive and demonstrating superior therapeuticcéffiéth an acceptable side effect profile as
compared to existing or future treatments. In addjteven if our products achieve market acceptameemay not be able to maintain that
market acceptance over time.

Factors that we believe will materiallyexft market acceptance of our product candidatesrutel/elopment include:

. the timing of our receipt of any marketing apprayahe terms of any approval and the countrieshicvapprovals are obtaine
. the safety, efficacy and ease of administratioawfproducts;

. the competitive pricing of our products;

. physician confidence in the safety and efficacgahplex generic product

. the success and extent of our physician educatidmearketing programs;

. the clinical, medical affairs, sales, distributimmd marketing efforts of competitors; and

. the availability and amount of government and f-party payor reimbursemet

If our products do not achieve market ataeqe, we will not be able to generate sufficiemenues from product sales to maintain or ¢
our business.

We utilize new technologies in the developmentaig of our products that have not been reviewedocepted by regulatory authorities.

The approvals of some of our products iment or future development, including M-Enoxapaimd M356, are based upon new
technologies that may have not previously beenmedeby the FDA or other regulatory authoritiese HDA's review and acceptance of our
technologies may take time and resources, or reguitependent third-party analysis. Alternativelyr technologies may not be accepted by
the FDA and other regulatory authorities. For saheur products, the regulatory approval path agiirements may not be clear, which c
add significant delay and expense. Delays or faitarobtain regulatory approval of any of the pidduhat we develop would adversely affect
our business.
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If we are not able to retain our current managemetetam or attract and retain qualified scientificethnical and business personnel, o
business will suffer.

We are dependent on the members of our gesment team for our business success. Our empldyamamgements with our executive
officers are terminable by either party on shottagoor no notice. We do not carry life insurancettoe lives of any of our personnel. The loss
of any of our executive officers would result isignificant loss in the knowledge and experienes te, as an organization possess and coulc
cause significant delays, or outright failure,lie 'development and approval of our product caneidah addition, there is intense competition
from numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology @onigs, universities, governmental entities andratigearch institutions, for human
resources, including management, in the technielals in which we operate, and we may not be abkgtract and retain qualified personnel
necessary for the successful development and coomatization of our product candidates.

There is a substantial risk of product liability @ims in our business. If our existing product lidity insurance is insufficient, a product
liability claim against us that exceeds the amouwsftour insurance coverage could adversely affect fusiness.

Our business exposes us to significantriateproduct liability risks that are inherentthre development, manufacturing and marketing of
human therapeutic products. Product liability claicould delay or prevent completion of our develeptrprograms. If we succeed in
marketing products, such claims could result ir@all of our products or a change in the approwditations for which they may be used.
While we currently maintain product liability insurce coverage that we believe is adequate forwuvemt operations, we cannot be sure that
such coverage will be adequate to cover any intideall incidents. Furthermore, clinical trial aptbduct liability insurance is becoming
increasingly expensive. As a result, we may be lentmbmaintain sufficient insurance at a reasonab$ to protect us against losses that could
have a material adverse effect on our businesseTlibilities could prevent or interfere with quroduct development and commercialization
efforts.

As we evolve from a company primarily involved irud discovery and development into one that is alseolved in the commercialization
drug products, we may have difficulty managing ogrowth and expanding our operations successfully.

As we advance our drug candidates throhgldevelopment process, we will need to expandieuvelopment, regulatory, manufacturing,
quality, distribution, sales and marketing capéb#ior contract with other organizations to previtlese capabilities for us. As our operations
expand, we expect that we will need to manage iaddit relationships with various collaborative paits, suppliers and other organizations.
Our ability to manage our operations and growthuires us to continue to improve our operationakficial and management controls,
reporting systems and procedures. For exampleralguesdictions such as the District of Columbiad the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
have imposed licensing requirements for sales septatives and reporting requirements that wouddire public reporting of consulting and
research fees to health care professionals. Betheseporting requirements vary in each jurisditticompliance will be complex and
expensive. The need to build new systems as paurafrowth could place a strain on our administeaiind operational infrastructure. We
may not be able to make improvements to our manageimformation and control systems in an efficientimely manner and may discover
deficiencies in existing systems and controls.
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We may acquire or make investments in companieseghnologies that could have an adverse effect on lousiness, results of operations
and financial condition or cash flows.

We may acquire or invest in companies, petgland technologies. Such transactions involvenaber of risks, including:

. we may find that the acquired company or assets doefurther our business strategy, or that wepaid for the company ¢
assets, or that economic conditions change, allhih may generate a future impairment charge;

. difficulty integrating the operations and personofethe acquired business, and difficulty retainiihg key personnel of the
acquired business;

. difficulty incorporating the acquired technologies;

. difficulties or failures with the performance oftlcquired technologies or drug products;

. we may face product liability risks associated with sale of the acquired company's prodt

. disruption or diversion of management's attentiptrénsition or integration issues and the compyesf managing divers
locations;

. difficulty maintaining uniform standards, interra@ntrols, procedures and policies;

. the acquisition may result in litigation from temated employees or third parties; ¢

. we may experience significant problems or liakghtiassociated with product quality, technology lagdl contingencies.

These factors could have a material adveffeet on our business, results of operationsfiamashcial condition or cash flows, particularly
in the case of a larger acquisition or multiplewsigions in a short period of time. From time ito¢, we may enter into negotiations for
acquisitions that are not ultimately consummateathShegotiations could result in significant divensof management time, as well as out-of-
pocket costs.

The consideration paid in connection witheaquisition also affects our financial resulfavé were to proceed with one or more
significant acquisitions in which the consideratinoluded cash, we could be required to use a anbiat portion of our available cash to
consummate any acquisition. To the extent we isbaees of stock or other rights to purchase siockyding options or other rights, existing
stockholders may be diluted and earnings per shasedecrease. In addition, acquisitions may resute incurrence of debt, large one-time
write-offs and restructuring charges. They may aésuilt in goodwill and other intangible assets #ra subject to impairment tests, which
could result in future impairment charges.

Risks Relating to Development and Regulatory Approal

If we are not able to obtain regulatory approvalffoommercial sale of our generic product candidatéscluding M-Enoxaparin and M356,
as therapeutic equivalents to their correspondirgference listed drugs, our future results of opdoats will be adversely affected.

Our future results of operations depend significant degree on our ability to obtain regaty approval for and commercialize generic
versions of complex drugs, such as M-EnoxaparinNB86. We will be required to demonstrate to thisaction of the FDA, among other
things, that our generic products:

. contain the same active ingredients as the brapdstlicts upon which they are bas

32




Table of Contents

. are of the same dosage form, strength and rowdrofnistration as the branded products upon wiiel &re based, and have
the same labeling as the approved labeling fobthaded products, with certain exceptions; and

. meet compendial or other applicable standardstfength, quality, purity and identity, includingteacy.

In addition, approval of a generic product gengradfuires demonstrating that the generic drugaeduivalent to the reference listed drug
upon which it is based, meaning that there aragroficant differences with respect to the rate amtent to which the active ingredients are
absorbed and become available at the site of drigna However, the FDA may or may not waive thguieements for certain bioequivalence
data (including clinical data) for certain drug guoats, including injectable solutions that haverbgleown to contain the same active and
inactive ingredients in the same concentratiorhagé¢ference listed drug.

Determination of therapeutic equivalencewf generic versions of complex drugs to the esfee listed drugs will be based, in part, on
our demonstration of the chemical equivalence ofveusions to their respective reference listedydrirhe FDA may not agree that we have
adequately characterized our products or that mdyzts and their respective branded drugs are ichéaquivalents. In that case, the FDA
may require additional information, including prie@al or clinical test results, to determine thgatic equivalence or to confirm that any
inactive ingredients or impurities do not comprosnise product's safety and efficacy. Provisionuffigent information for approval may be
difficult, expensive and lengthy. We cannot preditiether any of our generic product candidatesnedeive FDA approval as therapeutically
equivalent to its reference branded product.

In the event that the FDA modifies its emtrstandards for therapeutic equivalence withaesio generic versions of Lovenox, Copaxone
or other complex drug products, does not estaBtishdards for interchangeability for generic varsiof complex drug products, or requires us
to conduct clinical trials or complete other lenggrocedures, the commercialization of some ofdmwelopment candidates could be delayed
or prevented or become more expensive. Delaysyirpart of the process or our inability to obtaigukatory approval for our products could
adversely affect our operating results by restrectir significantly delaying our introduction ofmeroducts.

Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approvakfour generic product candidates, including -Enoxaparin and M356, as therapeutically
equivalent, state pharmacy boards or agencies milconclude that our products are not substitutibat the pharmacy level for the
referenced listed drug. If our generic product caiddtes are not substitutable at the pharmacy lefegltheir referenced listed drugs, this
could materially reduce sales of our product candtds and our business would suffer.

Although the FDA may determine that a genproduct is therapeutically equivalent to a branaiduct and provide it with an "A" rating
the FDA's Orange Book, this designation is not inigdn state pharmacy boards or agencies. As & resatates that do not deem our product
candidates therapeutically equivalent, physiciailisoe required to specifically prescribe a gengmioduct alternative rather than have a rot
substitution at the pharmacy level for the presibrand product. Should this occur with respecint® of our generic product candidates, it
could materially reduce sales in those states wiimhid substantially harm our business.

If the United States Congress does not take actiorreate an abbreviated regulatory pathway forléet-on biologics, or if the FDA is not
able to establish specific guidelines regarding tbaentific analyses required for characterizinglfow-on biologics product candidates, then
the uncertainty about the potential value of ourygloprotein program will be increased.

The regulatory climate in the United Stdtasfollow-on versions of biologics and compleof®in products remains uncertain. Although
there has been legislative activity over the lasesal years,
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there is currently no established statutory or letguy pathway for approval of follow-on versionishiologics and most protein drugs. The
FDA has approved the majority of new protein pradumder the Public Health Service Act, or PHSAgtigh the use of Biologic License
Applications, or BLAs. There is no provision in tReISA for an abbreviated BLA approval pathway corapke to an ANDA under

Section 505(j) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cdnfet, or the FDCA, and the FDA has stated itgloet believe it has the authority to rely
on prior BLA approvals or on their underlying dé&taapprove follow-on products. Moreover, even faotpins originally approved as NDAs
under Section 505(b) of the FDCA, there is uncetyaas to what data the FDA may require to dematesthe sameness required for approval
of an ANDA. In addition, there has been oppositiothe FDA's use of section 505(b)(2), which allamsapplicant to rely on information frc
published scientific literature and/or a prior apgl of a similar drug, to approve folloan versions of protein and other complex drug pote
approved under section 505(b)(1) of the FDCA.

Although the FDA has previously statedrtention to draft guidance that is broadly apgiesto follow-on protein products, the agency
has not issued such guidance to date and may dews. Protracted timelines and failure of the RDAstablish standards for approval of
follow-on protein products or failure of the Unit&tiates Congress to enact legislation establighingbbreviated pathway for approval of
follow-on biologics could reduce the value of, ender obsolete, our glycoprotein program. Moreoseen if the United States Congress
enacts legislation establishing a pathway for apgirof follow-on biologics, the nature of the patiyy the timing of the implementation, and
the procedures enacted for utilizing the pathwayldalso reduce the value, or render non-competitvur therapeutic protein program.

If our preclinical studies and clinical trials forour development candidates, including M118 and M4@2e not successful, we will not t
able to obtain regulatory approval for commerciale of our novel or improved drug candidates.

To obtain regulatory approval for the comea sale of our novel drug candidates, we araired to demonstrate through preclinical
studies and clinical trials that our drug developt@ndidates are safe and effective. Preclinitaliss and clinical trials of new development
candidates are lengthy and expensive and the ieistdailure rate for development candidates ishhig

A failure of one or more of our preclinicaldies or clinical trials can occur at any stafjgesting. We may experience humerous
unforeseen events during, or as a result of, prieali studies and clinical trials that could detayprevent our ability to receive regulatory
approval or commercialize M118, M402 or our othergdcandidates, including:

. regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or conductinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

. our preclinical studies or clinical trials may pum@ negative or inconclusive results, and we magehaired to conduc
additional preclinical studies or clinical trials we may abandon projects that we previously exgaetd be promising;

. enrollment in our clinical trials may be slower thae anticipate, resulting in significant delaysd garticipants may drop out of
our clinical trials at a higher rate than we ampiate;

. we might have to suspend or terminate our clintiGals if the participants are being exposed tocgeatable health risk

. regulators or institutional review boards may reguihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinical aeste for various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirenseat if, in their opinion, participants are beingesed to unacceptable
health risks;
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. the cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate; and

. the effects of our drug candidates may not be #séreld effects or may include undesirable sidectsfer our product candidat
may have other unexpected characteristics.

The results from preclinical studies ofewelopment candidate may not predict the resudis\tfill be obtained in human clinical trials. If
we are required to conduct additional clinicalltriar other testing of M118, M402 or our future q¢weot candidates, if we are unable to
successfully complete our clinical trials or otkests, or if the results of these trials are nditpe or are only modestly positive, we may be
delayed in obtaining marketing approval for ourgloandidates or we may not be able to obtain miakeipproval at all. Our product
development costs will also increase if we expedetielays in testing or approvals. Significantichihtrial delays could allow our competitors
to bring products to market before we do and impairability to commercialize our products or pdiginproducts. If any of these events oci
our business will be materially harmed.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jusdictions would prevent us from marketing our pilacts abroad.

We intend in the future to market our proguif approved, outside of the United States$egitlirectly or through collaborative partners
order to market our products in the European Uaioth many other foreign jurisdictions, we must abt@parate regulatory approvals and
comply with the numerous and varying regulatoryursgments of each jurisdiction. The approval prazedand requirements vary among
countries, and can require, among other thingsjuctimg additional testing in each jurisdiction.elime required to obtain approval abroad
may differ from that required to obtain FDA apprbviEhe foreign regulatory approval process mayudelall of the risks associated with
obtaining FDA approval, and we may not obtain fgneiegulatory approvals on a timely basis, if atAgbpproval by the FDA does not ensure
approval by regulatory authorities in other cowggriand approval by one foreign regulatory authalites not ensure approval by regulatory
authorities in any other foreign country or by #2A. We and our collaborators may not be ablel&oftr regulatory approvals and may not
receive necessary approvals to commercialize amdyats in any market outside of the United Stafes. failure to obtain these approvals
could materially adversely affect our businessriicial condition and results of operations.

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketeroducts will be subject to ongoing regulatoryiew. If we fail to comply witt
continuing United States and foreign regulationsgveould lose our approvals to market products and business would be seriously
harmed.

Even after approval, any drug or biologisadducts we develop will be subject to ongoingutatpry review, including the review of
clinical results which are reported after our pradiare made commercially available. Any regulatipgrovals that we obtain for our product
candidates may also be subject to limitations eraghproved indicated uses for which the product beagnarketed or to the conditions of
approval, or contain requirements for potentiabigtty post-marketing testing, including phase 4ichl trials, and surveillance to monitor the
safety and efficacy of the product candidate. Idittah, the manufacturer and manufacturing faeititive use to produce any of our product
candidates will be subject to periodic review amgpiection by the FDA, or foreign equivalent, anteotregulatory agencies. We will be
required to report any serious and unexpected adweperiences and certain quality problems wittpoaducts and make other periodic
reports to the FDA. The discovery of any new owvpesly unknown problems with the product, manufiaet or facility may result in
restrictions on the product or manufacturer orlitgcincluding withdrawal of the product from tmearket. Certain changes to an approved
product, including in the way it is manufacturedpoomoted, often require prior FDA approval beftite product as modified may be marke
If we fail to comply with applicable FDA regulatorgquirements, we may be subject to fines, warfettgrs, civil penalties, refusal by the
FDA to approve pending applications or
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supplements, suspension or withdrawal of regulaapprovals, product recalls and seizures, injunstioperating restrictions, refusal to permit
the import or export of products and/or criminadgecutions and penalties.

Similarly, we will be subject to comprehemescompliance obligations under state and fedeiatbursement, anti-kickback and
government pricing regulations. If we make falsie@reports, fail to implement adequate compliacmarols or our employees violate the
laws and regulations governing relationships withlth care providers, we could also be subjectibstaintial fines and penalties, criminal
prosecution and debarment from participation inNteglicare, Medicaid or other government reimbursgmpeograms.

In addition, the FDA's policies may charmgel additional government regulations may be edabti@ could prevent, limit or delay
regulatory approval of our product candidates. \Atenot predict the likelihood, nature or extent ofgrnment regulation that may arise from
future legislation or administrative action, eitliethe United States or abroad. If we are slowrmable to adapt to changes in existing
requirements or the adoption of new requirementsoticies, or if we are not able to maintain regotg compliance, we may lose any
marketing approval that we may have obtained anchas not achieve or sustain profitability, whichwa adversely affect our business

If third -party payors do not adequately reimburse custonfersany of our approved products, they might nat purchased or used, and our
revenues and profits will not develop or increase.

Our revenues and profits will depend heawnpon the availability of adequate reimbursementlie use of our approved product
candidates from governmental and other third-paatyors, both in the United States and in foreignketa. Reimbursement by a third-party
payor may depend upon a humber of factors, inctuthe third-party payor's determination that usa pfoduct is:

. a covered benefit under its health pl
. safe, effective and medically necess:
. appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

. neither experimental nor investigatior

Obtaining coverage and reimbursement aggbfov a product from each government or otheidtpiarty payor is a time-consuming and
costly process that could require us to providgsujng scientific, clinical and costffectiveness data for the use of our productsth ayor
We may not be able to provide data sufficient tim gaceptance with respect to coverage and reireinest. There is substantial uncertainty
whether any particular payor will reimburse the aéany drug product incorporating new technoldgyen when a payor determines that a
product is eligible for reimbursement, the payolrimapose coverage limitations that preclude paynfiensome uses that are approved by the
FDA or comparable authority. Moreover, eligibilfigr coverage does not imply that any product wallreimbursed in all cases or at a rate that
allows us to make a profit or even cover our cdsterim payments for new products, if applicalfgy also not be sufficient to cover our ct
and may not be made permanent. Reimbursementmatgsary according to the use of the product aecttimical setting in which it is used,
may be based on payments allowed for lower-costymis that are already reimbursed, may be incotpdiato existing payments for other
products or services, and may reflect budgetargtcaimts and/or imperfections in Medicare, Mediaaidther data used to calculate these
rates. Net prices for products may be reduced hydietary discounts or rebates required by governineaith care programs or by any future
relaxation of laws that restrict imports of certaiedical products from countries where they magdid at lower prices than in the United
States.
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There have been, and we expect that thiéreomtinue to be, federal and state proposalsotestrain expenditures for medical products
and services, which may affect payments for oudpcts. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Sesyior CMS, frequently change prod
descriptors, coverage policies, product and semdckes, payment methodologies and reimbursememésarl hird-party payors often follow
Medicare coverage policy and payment limitationsetting their own reimbursement rates, and bottS@¥d other third-party payors may
have sufficient market power to demand signifiganite reductions. Due in part to actions by thiedtp payors, the health care industry is
experiencing a trend toward containing or reduciogts through various means, including loweringiteirsement rates, limiting therapeutic
class coverage and negotiating reduced paymendiglgsewith service providers for drug products.

Our inability to promptly obtain coveragedaprofitable reimbursement rates from governmeantiéd and private payors for our products
could have a material adverse effect on our opegatisults and our overall financial condition.

Federal legislation will increase the pressure teduce prices of pharmaceutical products paid for Mgdicare or may otherwise seek to lit
healthcare costs, either of which could adverseffeat our revenues, if any.

The Medicare Modernization Act of 2003 M¥A changed the way Medicare covers and reimbuf@epharmaceutical products. The
legislation introduced a new reimbursement methagipbased on average sales prices for drugs thatsad in hospital settings or under the
direct supervision of a physician and, startin@®6, expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchaste elderly. In addition, the MMA
requires the creation of formularies for self-adistered drugs, and provides authority for limitthg number of drugs that will be covered in
any therapeutic class and provides for plan sperisonegotiate prices with manufacturers and sappbf covered drugs. As a result of the
MMA and the expansion of federal coverage of drragpcts, we expect continuing pressure to contaghraduce costs of pharmaceutical
products. Cost reduction initiatives and other ions of this legislation could decrease the cagerand price that we receive for our prod
and could materially adversely affect our operatiesults and overall financial condition. While & A generally applies only to drug
benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payaften follow Medicare coverage policy and payménitations in setting their own
reimbursement policies, and any reduction in cayem payment that results from the MMA may result similar reduction in coverage or
payments from private payors.

Furthermore, Congress is currently considelegislation that would dramatically overhauttd.S. health care system, including the
possibility of creating a government health casnplAs part of this legislative initiative, Congsds considering a number of proposals that are
intended to reduce or limit the growth of healtheceosts, which could significantly change the reaflar pharmaceuticals and biological
products. While we cannot predict whether any lagiiee or regulatory proposals will be adopted, adeption of such proposals could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmzatlition and potential profitability.

In addition, Congress has from time to titoasidered other legislation, which if enacteduldgermit more widespread re-importation of
drugs from foreign countries into the United Stated which may include rieaportation from foreign countries where drugs faeguently solt
at lower prices than in the United States; otheppsed legislation would have removed restrictem€MS' ability to negotiate discounts
directly with prescription drug manufacturers pded through the Medicare program. Such legislatorsimilar regulatory changes, could
decrease the reimbursement we receive for any epg@noroducts which, in turn, could materially achety affect our operating results and our
overall financial condition.
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Foreign governments tend to impose strict pricereimbursement controls, which may adversely affear revenues, if any.

In some foreign countries, particularly tieeintries of the European Union, the pricing andéanbursement of prescription
pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental conitndhese countries, pricing negotiations with goweental authorities can take considerable
time after the receipt of marketing approval f@raduct. To obtain reimbursement or pricing appltavaome countries, we may be require
conduct a clinical trial that compares the cose@ff’eness of our product candidate to other avigiltherapies. If reimbursement of our
products is unavailable or limited in scope or amnipar if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levedsy business could be adversely affected.

If we do not comply with laws regulating the protan of the environment and health and human safetyur business could be adverst
affected.

Our research and development involves,maag in the future involve, the use of hazardouseni@s and chemicals and certain radioac
materials and related equipment. For the yearscebéeember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we spent ajppaiely $125,000, $65,000 and
$64,000, respectively, in order to comply with eaaimental and waste disposal regulations. Althouglbelieve that our safety procedures for
handling and disposing of these materials compti tie standards mandated by state and federdhtems, the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials cari®eliminated. If an accident occurs, we couldhéle liable for resulting damages, which
could be substantial. We are also subject to nunseeavironmental, health and workplace safety lamgsregulations, including those
governing laboratory procedures, exposure to blomthe pathogens and the handling of biohazardotsrials. Although we maintain
workers' compensation insurance as prescribedédoZtmmonwealth of Massachusetts and, for claimsowred by workers' compensation
insurance, employer's liability insurance, to caveffor costs and expenses we may incur due tdesjto our employees resulting from the
of these materials, this insurance may not prosiikquate coverage against potential liabilities.d&/@ot maintain insurance for
environmental liability or toxic tort claims thatay be asserted against us. Additional federal statl local laws and regulations affecting our
operations may be adopted in the future. We mayrisabstantial costs to comply with, and substhfitias or penalties if we violate, any of
these laws or regulations.

Risks Relating to Patents and Licenses

If we are not able to obtain and enforce patent ggotion for our discoveries, our ability to succésy commercialize our produc
candidates will be harmed and we may not be ablegerate our business profitably.

Our success depends, in part, on our phdiprotect proprietary methods and technolodies we develop under the patent and other
intellectual property laws of the United States atlter countries, so that we can prevent othera fising our inventions and proprietary
information. Because patent applications in thetéthBStates and many foreign jurisdictions are gipicmot published until 18 months after
filing, or in some cases not at all, and becaudsigations of discoveries in scientific literatuegy behind actual discoveries, we cannot be
certain that we were the first to make the invargiolaimed in issued patents or pending patenicgtians, or that we were the first to file for
protection of the inventions set forth in our patapplications. As a result, we may be requireditain licenses under third-party patents to
market our proposed products. If licenses are waitable to us on acceptable terms, or at all, Wenet be able to market the affected
products.

Our strategy depends on our ability to dapidentify and seek patent protection for ourcdigeries. This process is expensive and time
consuming, and we may not be able to file and maeeall necessary or desirable patent applicabd@asreasonable cost or in a timely man
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Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgjlunauthorized parties may be able to obtainusednformation that we regard as propriet
The issuance of a patent does not guarantee fisatdtid or enforceable, so even if we obtain ptgtethey may not be valid or enforceable
against third parties.

Our pending patent applications may natltes issued patents. The patent position of pleeentical or biotechnology companies,
including ours, is generally uncertain and involeemplex legal and factual considerations. Thedsteas which the U.S. Patent and Trader
Office and its foreign counterparts use to grameps are not always applied predictably or unifgrand can change. There is also no unift
worldwide policy regarding the subject matter aodpe of claims granted or allowable in pharmacautc biotechnology patents. The laws of
some foreign countries do not protect proprietafgrmation to the same extent as the laws of théedrStates, and many companies have
encountered significant problems and costs in ptiotg their proprietary information in these foneigountries. Accordingly, we do not know
the degree of future protection for our proprietaghts or the breadth of claims allowed in anyepés issued to us or to others.

The allowance of broader claims may incegig incidence and cost of patent interferencegadings and/or opposition proceedings, and
the risk of infringement litigation. On the otheartd, the allowance of narrower claims may limit ¥iaéie of our proprietary rights. Our issued
patents may not contain claims sufficiently broagiotect us against third parties with similatigalogies or products, or provide us with any
competitive advantage. Moreover, once they haweesour patents and any patent for which we haeeded or may license rights may be
challenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumventedur patents are invalidated or otherwise limjtether companies will be better able to
develop products that compete with ours, which @@ulversely affect our competitive business pasijtimsiness prospects and financial
condition.

We also rely on trade secrets, know-howtaotinology, which are not protected by patentspaintain our competitive position. If any
trade secret, know-how or other technology notquietd by a patent were to be disclosed to or intgrely developed by a competitor, our
business and financial condition could be materiativersely affected.

Third parties may allege that we are infringing tiventellectual property rights, forcing us to expel substantial resources in resulting
litigation, the outcome of which would be uncertaidny unfavorable outcome of such litigation coulthve a material adverse effect on our
business, financial position and results of operatis.

The issuance of our own patents does rentagiee that we have the right to practice thenpadeinventions. Third parties may have
blocking patents that could be used to preventars fnarketing our own patented product and pragjiour own patented technology.

If any party asserts that we are infringitsgntellectual property rights or that our cieator use of proprietary technology infringes upon
its intellectual property rights, we might be falde incur expenses to respond to and litigateckhiens. Furthermore, we may be ordered to
damages, potentially including treble damages gifare found to have willfully infringed a party'atpnt rights. In addition, if we are
unsuccessful in litigation, or pending the outcashétigation, a court could issue a temporary igtion or a permanent injunction preventing
us from marketing and selling the patented drugtier technology for the life of the patent thatlese allegedly or been deemed to have
infringed. Litigation concerning intellectual prapeand proprietary technologies is widespread @ambe protracted and expensive, and can
distract management and other key personnel frofionpeing their duties for us.

Any legal action against us or our collators claiming damages and seeking to enjoin ativitées, including commercial activities
relating to the affected products, and processaklcim addition to subjecting us to potential il for damages, require us or our
collaborators to obtain a

39




Table of Contents

license in order to continue to manufacture or raatke affected products and processes. Any licexggdred under any patent may not be
made available on commercially acceptable terme, d@l. In addition, some licenses may be non+esiee, and therefore, our competitors may
have access to the same technology licensed to us.

If we fail to obtain a required licenseave unable to design around a patent, we may Heaitmeffectively market some of our
technology and products, which could limit our @bito generate revenues or achieve profitabilitd @ossibly prevent us from generating
revenue sufficient to sustain our operations.

If we become involved in patent litigation or otheroceedings to determine or enforce our intelleatyproperty rights, we could incu
substantial costs which could adversely affect duursiness

We may need to resort to litigation to enéoa patent issued to us or to determine the smogealidity of third-party patent or other
proprietary rights in jurisdictions where we intetedmarket our products, including the United Statee European Union, and many other
foreign jurisdictions. The cost to us of any litiiga or other proceeding relating to determining Halidity of intellectual property rights, even
if resolved in our favor, could be substantial andld divert our management's efforts. Some ofcounpetitors may be able to sustain the ¢
of complex patent litigation more effectively thae can because they may have substantially gresseurces. Moreover, the failure to obtain
a favorable outcome in any litigation in a jurigéha where there is a claim of patent infringememiild significantly delay the marketing of «
products in that particular jurisdiction. The coasisl uncertainties resulting from the initiatiordaontinuation of any litigation could limit our
ability to continue our operations.

We in-license a significant portion of our propriaty technologies and if we fail to comply with oobligations under any of the related
agreements, we could lose license rights that aeeessary to develop our product candidates.

We are a party to and rely on a numbendicense agreements with third parties, such asetlwvith the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology, that give us rights to intellectualgegy that is necessary for our business. In aufitive expect to enter into additional licenses
in the future. Our current in-license arrangeméangsose various diligence, development, royalty atiéér obligations on us. If we breach our
obligations with regard to our exclusive in-licessthey could be converted to non-exclusive licersehe agreements could be terminated,
which would result in our being unable to develo@gnufacture and sell products that are coveretidyicensed technology.

Risks Relating to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Our 2003 Sandoz Collaboration and 2006 Sandoz Cadleation are important to our business. If Sandcails to adequately perform under
either collaboration, or if we or Sandoz terminatdl or a portion of either collaboration, the devggdment and commercialization of some of
our drug candidates, including injectable enoxapariwould be delayed or terminated and our businessild be adversely affected.

2003 Sandoz Collaboration

Either we or Sandoz may terminate the 2883doz Collaboration for material uncured breachme®rtain events of bankruptcy or
insolvency by the other party. Sandoz may alsoiteata the 2003 Sandoz Collaboration if the injelet@noxaparin product or the market la
commercial viability, if new laws or regulationsegrassed or court decisions rendered that sukedtartiminish our legal avenues for
commercialization of M-Enoxaparin, or, in multiplases, if certain costs exceed mutually agreed Llimits. If the 2003 Sandoz Collaboration
is terminated other than due to our uncured breadfankruptcy, we will be granted an exclusiverise under certain intellectual property of
Sandoz to develop and commercialize injectable apapin in the United States. In that event, we
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would need to expand our internal capabilitiesraeeinto another collaboration, which could casigmificant delays that could prevent us
from completing the development and commercialiratf injectable enoxaparin. If Sandoz terminabes2003 Sandoz Collaboration due to
our uncured breach or bankruptcy, Sandoz wouldrréb@ exclusive right to develop and commercialigectable enoxaparin in the United
States. In that event, we would no longer haveiaffiyence over the development or commercializativategy of injectable M-Enoxaparin in
the United States. In addition, Sandoz would reitsinights of first negotiation with respect tateén of our other products in certain
circumstances and its rights of first refusal alasif the United States and the European Unionosliegly, if Sandoz terminates the 2003
Sandoz Collaboration, our introduction of M-Enoxapanay be significantly delayed, we may decidéiszontinue the M-Enoxaparin project,
or our revenues may be reduced, any one of whialddwmve a material adverse effect on our business.

2006 Sandoz Collaboration

Either we or Sandoz may terminate the bollation and license agreement, or Definitive Agrest, we executed with Sandoz in June
2007, as amended in April 2008, for material unduyeeaches or certain events of bankruptcy or wesay by the other party. In addition,
either we or Sandoz may terminate some of the mtsdon a product-by-product basis, if clinicahsiare required. For some of the products,
for any termination of the Definitive Agreement eththan a termination by Sandoz due to our unchredch or bankruptcy, or a termination
by us alone due to the need for clinical trials,wilt be granted an exclusive license under ceriati@llectual property of Sandoz to develop
commercialize the particular product. In that eyerg would need to expand our internal capabilibiesnter into another collaboration, which
could cause significant delays that could preverfram completing the development and commercititimeof such product. For some
products, if Sandoz terminates the Definitive Agneat due to our uncured breach or bankruptcy, iheife is a termination by us alone due to
the need for clinical trials, Sandoz would retdia exclusive right to develop and commercializeapplicable product. In that event, we would
no longer have any influence over the developmeobmmercialization strategy of such product. Iditdn, for other products, if Sandoz
terminates due to our uncured breach or bankrufagdoz retains a right to license certain of oteliectual property without the obligation
make any additional payments for such licensescEdain products, if the Definitive Agreementésnhinated other than due to our uncured
breach or bankruptcy, neither party will have atise to the other party's intellectual propertythbt event, we would need to expand our
internal capabilities or enter into another collatimn, which could cause significant delays thaild prevent us from completing the
development and commercialization of such proddctordingly, if the Definitive Agreement is termitea, our introduction of certain
products may be significantly delayed, or our raxenmay be significantly reduced either of whichlddave a material adverse effect on our
business.

We may need or elect to enter into alliances orlabbrations with other companies to fund our devptoent efforts or to supplement and
enhance our own capabilities. If we are unsuccedsfuforming or maintaining these alliances on favable terms, or if any collaborative
partner terminates or fails to perform its obligatns, our business could be adversely affec

Because we have limited or no capabilitiesnanufacturing, sales, marketing and distributand because we have limited resources, we
may need to enter into alliances or collaboratiwite other companies that can assist with the agraknt and commercialization of our
product candidates, such as M118. In those situsitiwe would expect our alliance or collaboratiaetipers to provide substantial capabilities
in manufacturing, sales, marketing and distributMMe may not be successful in entering into any sligances. Even if we do succeed in
securing such alliances, we may not be able to taiaithem.

41




Table of Contents
Factors that may affect the success otoliaborations include the following:

. disputes may arise in the future with respect goawnership of rights to technology developed withaborators;

. our collaborators may pursue alternative technewgr develop alternative products, either on thin or in collaboration witl
others, that may be competitive with the productsvbich they are collaborating with us or which lcbaffect our collaborators'
commitment to our collaborations;

. our collaborators may terminate their collaboradianth us, which could make it difficult for us &dtract new collaborators
adversely affect how we are perceived in the bgsimad financial communities;

. our collaborators may pursue higher-priority pragseor change the focus of their development progravhich could affect the
collaborators' commitment to us; and

. our collaborators with marketing rights may chotzsdevote fewer resources to the marketing of codyct candidates, if ar
are approved for marketing, than to products frbairtown development programs.

In addition to relying on a third party fitg capabilities, we may depend on our alliancil wther companies to provide substantial
additional funding for development and potentiahooercialization of our drug candidates. We mayhb®able to obtain funding on favorable
terms from these alliances, and if we are not ssfakin doing so, we may not have sufficient futmlslevelop particular drug candidates
internally, or to bring drug candidates to marketilure or delays in bringing our drug candidatesarket will reduce their competitiveness
and prevent us from generating sales revenueshwhay substantially harm our business.

Furthermore, in an effort to continuallydape and enhance our proprietary technology platfare enter into agreements with other
companies to develop, license, acquire and/or lootkte on various technologies. If we are unabknter into the desired agreements, if the
agreements do not yield the intended results thieifagreements terminate, we may need to findnaltime approaches to such technology
needs. If any of these occur, the development anthtercialization of one or more drug candidatedccbe delayed, curtailed or terminated,
any of which may adversely affect our business.

We and our collaborative partners depend on thirdrpes for the manufacture of products. If we encoter difficulties in our supply or
manufacturing arrangements, our business may be prélly adversely affected.

We have a limited number of personnel weperience in, and we do not own facilities fornfacturing products. In addition, we do
have, and do not intend to develop, the abilitynenufacture material for our clinical trials orcaimmercial scale. To develop our product
candidates, apply for regulatory approvals and cercialize any products, we or our collaborativetipenrs need to contract for or otherwise
arrange for the necessary manufacturing facildied capabilities. If these contract manufacturegsuaable to manufacture sufficient quanti
of product, comply with regulatory requirementshogach or terminate their manufacturing arrangasneith us, the development and
commercialization of the affected products or deagdidates could be delayed, which could have anmahtdverse effect on our business. In
addition, any change in these manufacturers coallcoistly because the commercial terms of any neamgement could be less favorable and
because the expenses relating to the transfercesary technology and processes could be sigmifica

We have relied upon third parties to predomterial for preclinical and clinical studies andy continue to do so in the future. We cannot
be certain that we will be able to obtain and/ointzan
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long-term supply and supply arrangements of thoaterals on acceptable terms, if at all. If we amable to arrange for third-party
manufacturing, or to do so on commercially reastsedyms, we may not be able to complete developeour products or market them.

In addition, the FDA and other regulatougterities require that our products be manufact@ecording to current good manufacturing
practices, or cGMP, regulations and that propecguiares are implemented to assure the quality o$@urcing of raw materials and the
manufacture of our products. Any failure by us, coitaborative partners or our third-party manufiaets to comply with cGMP, and/or our
failure to scale-up our manufacturing processe$ddead to a delay in, or failure to obtain, regatsg approval. In addition, such failure could
be the basis for action by the FDA to withdraw amais for drug candidates previously granted tand for other regulatory action, including
product recall or seizure, fines, imposition of gig restrictions, total or partial suspensiopafduction or injunctions. To the extent we r
on a third-party manufacturer, the risk of non-ctiarre with cGMPs may be greater and the abilitgffect corrective actions for any such
noncompliance may be compromised or delayed.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirgpabilities or enter into agreements with third pgags to market and sell our produ
candidates, we may be unable to generate producénees.

We do not have a sales organization ané hawexperience as a company in the sale, marketidgtribution of pharmaceutical produc
There are risks involved with establishing our csahes and marketing capabilities, as well as ergento arrangements with third parties to
perform these services. For example, developirajes $orce is expensive and time consuming anddaely any product launch. In addition,
to the extent that we enter into arrangements thitid parties to perform sales, marketing or disttion services, we will have less control ¢
sales of our products and our future revenues woepend heavily on the success of the effortsedehhird parties.

General Company Related Risks

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attet®y our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management

Provisions in our certificate of incorpaoat and our by-laws may delay or prevent an actjoisdf us or a change in our management. In
addition, these provisions may frustrate or preeent attempts by our stockholders to replace ookenour current management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefsur board of directors. Because our board adadors is responsible for appointing the
members of our management team, these provisiard goturn affect any attempt by our stockhold@rseplace current members of our
management team. These provisions include:

. a classified board of director
. a prohibition on actions by our stockholders byttr consent; and
. limitations on the removal of directors.

Moreover, because we are incorporated ia\ere, we are governed by the provisions of Se@i@3 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownexcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockfrmerging or combining with us fol
period of three years after the date of the traimam which the person acquired in excess of IB%ur outstanding voting stock, unless the
merger or combination is approved in a prescribadmer. Finally, these provisions establish advautiee requirements for nominations for
election to our board of directors or for proposingtters that can be acted upon at stockholderimgsefThese provisions would apply even if
the offer may be considered beneficial by someksioiders.
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Our stock price may be volatile, and purchasersooir common stock could incur substantial losses.

The stock market in general and the mapkiees for securities of biotechnology companieparnicular have experienced extreme
volatility that often has been unrelated or dispmipnate to the operating performance of thesepaomies. The trading price of our common
stock has been, and is likely to continue to bégtite. Furthermore, our stock price could be sabje wide fluctuations in response to a var
of factors, including the following:

. failure to obtain FDA approval for the-Enoxaparin or M356 ANDAs

. other adverse FDA decisions relating to the M-Empaxian or M356 ANDAS, including an FDA decision tequire additional
data, including requiring clinical trials as a caiuh to M-Enoxaparin or M356 ANDA approval,

. FDA approval of other companies' ANDAs for genesesions of Lovenox or Copaxor
. litigation involving our company or our general irgdry or both;
. a decision in favor of or against Teva Pharmacelticlustries Ltd. in the current patent litigatioratters, or a settlement rela

to either case;

. failure of our other product applications to mdwet tequirements for regulatory review and/or apal

. results or delays in our or our competitors' chhitials or regulatory filings;

. failure to demonstrate therapeutic equivalence végipect to our technology-enabled generic prodaietiidates;
. demonstration of or failure to demonstrate thetgadad efficacy for our novel development produentididates
. our inability to manufacture any products in confance with cGMP or in commercial quantities;

. failure of any of our product candidates, if ap@dyto achieve commercial success;

. developments or disputes concerning our patensher proprietary rights

. changes in estimates of our financial results comemendations by securities analy

. termination of any of our strategic partnerships;

. significant acquisitions, strategic partnership#tjventures or capital commitments by us or ammpetitors;

. investors' general perception of our company, eadpcts, the economy and general market condit

. rapid or disorderly sales of stock by holders ghdicant amounts of our stock;

. significant fluctuations in the price of securitigsnerally or biotech company securities specifjcal

If any of these factors causes an advdfseten our business, results of operations arfoial condition, the price of our common stock
could fall and investors may not be able to salrtbommon stock at or above their respective msetprices.
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We could be subject to class action litigation dwestock price volatility, which, if it occurs, willistract our management and could result
substantial costs or large judgments against

The stock market in general has recenthegrnced extreme price and volume fluctuationswddition, the market prices of securities of
companies in the biotechnology industry have bed¢remely volatile and have experienced fluctuatitiveg have often been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance e$¢hcompanies. These fluctuations could adveréfelgtdhe market price of our common
stock. In the past, securities class action litayahas often been brought against companies follgpweriods of volatility in the market prices
of their securities. We may be the target of simlitagation in the future. Securities litigatiomwld result in substantial costs and divert our
management's attention and resources, which caulskecserious harm to our business, operating semudt financial condition.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
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ltem 2. PROPERTIES

As of March 1, 2010, pursuant to our subdeagreements, we are leasing a total of approaiyna8,500 square feet of office and
laboratory space in one building in Cambridge, Mahsisetts:

Approximate Lease
Square Expiration
Property Location Footage Use Date
675 West Kendall Stre: 78,50( Laboratory and Offict 04/30/201.

Cambridge, Massachusetts 02!
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On August 28, 2008, Teva Pharmaceuticaladtries Ltd. and related entities ("Teva") and & 8search and Development Co., Ltd.
("Yeda") filed suit against us, Sandoz and Novaksin the United Stated Federal District CourSiauthern District of New York in response
to the filing by Sandoz of the ANDA with a Paragndl’ certification for M356. The suit alleges infgement by us, Sandoz and Novartis AG
of Orange Book patents owned by Yeda and licengelklva and seeks monetary, injunctive and declaragdief. In addition, Teva and Yeda
alleged additional claims against Sandoz and NsvAG seeking monetary, injunctive and declaratefief for alleged misappropriation of
trade secrets and unfair competition. On Novemb@088, we and Sandoz each filed responsive plgadianying the allegations of
infringement, setting forth affirmative defensesd on invalidity, non-infringement and inequitabtenduct and counterclaims seeking
declaratory relief that the patent rights of Ternd & eda pertaining to M356 are either not infringedalid or unenforceable. Sandoz's answer
also denied the allegations made by Teva and Ykelgirsg misappropriation of trade secrets and urdampetition. In addition, we filed a
counterclaim seeking damages for false patent mankinder the applicable United States patent lavddvember 2009, Teva amended its
complaint to remove the trade secrets and unfaipatition claims against Sandoz and Novartis AG D@nember 23, 2009, near the close of
discovery, we and Sandoz filed a motion for sumnjadgment as a matter of law in the case. On Jg2@r2010, the court heard arguments
from the parties on the meaning of certain dispetaiin terms in a claim construction hearing (ddeown as a "Markman hearing"). There is
no defined timeline for the judge to issue a decigin claim construction or on the summary judgnmeotion.

On December 10, 2009, in a separate aatitinee same court, Teva sued Sandoz, Novartis Aauarfor patent infringement related to
certain non-Orange Book patents after Teva's matiadd those patents to the ongoing Paragraphid¢ition was denied. On January 7,
2010, we and Sandoz filed a motion to dismissgbond suit on several grounds, including the ffaibf Teva to state an actionable legal ¢
and lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

While we intend to vigorously defend thesés and prosecute our counterclaims, and weuegetlgat we can ultimately prove our case in
court, litigation involves many risks and uncertag, and each of these litigations could lastmiper of years. As a result, one or both of these
litigations could significantly delay, impair orgarent our ability to commercialize M356 and ouribass could be materially harmed.

Litigation involves many risks and uncertaintiesdahere is no assurance that Novartis AG, Sandezvill prevail in any lawsuit with Teva
Pharmaceutical Industries.

ltem 4. RESERVED
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PART I

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded publicly on MESDAQ Global Market under the symbol "MNTA." Thellbwing table sets forth the high
and low sale prices of our common stock for thegaksrindicated, as reported on the NASDAQ Globatihda

Quarter ended High Low

March 31, 200¢ $ 124¢ $ 5.91
June 30, 200 15.9¢ 10.3¢
September 30, 20C 20.0¢ 12.0C
December 31, 200 13.5¢ 6.47
March 31, 200¢ 12.5¢ 6.9/
June 30, 200 12.4¢ 8.37
September 30, 20( 12.1¢ 9.2¢
December 31, 200 13.17 8.7C

Holders
On February 26, 2010, the approximate nurobbolders of record of our common stock was 82.
Dividends

We have never declared or paid any casidetids on our common stock. We anticipate thatyénforeseeable future, we will continue to
retain any earnings for use in the operation oftauginess and will not pay any cash dividends.

Sale of Unregistered Securitie

On August 4, 2009, we issued to ParividCL{"Parivid"), a data integration and analysis &ew provider to us, 91,576 shares of our
common stock in connection with an Amendment (dmé&ndment”) to that certain Asset Purchase Agreg¢ndleted April 20, 2007, by and
among us, Parivid and S. Raguram (the "Purchaseehgent”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, quérad certain of the assets and
assumed certain of the liabilities of Parivid rethto the acquired assets, for $2.5 million in gaeid at closing and up to $11.0 million in
contingent milestone payments in a combinationaghcand/or stock in the manner and on the termsamditions set forth in the Purchase
Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment, we agreedn@mther things, as consideration for the commhesind satisfaction of certain of the
milestones that were achieved, agreed to pay &5 million cash and to issue 91,576 sharesioEommon stock. The issuance of shares
of common stock described above was exempt fromstragon under the Securities Act of 1933 pursuargn exemption from registration
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933amended, and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgéextunder as not involving a public
offering.
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Stock Performance Grap

The comparative stock performance grapbwelompares the cumulative total stockholder refassuming reinvestment of dividends, if
any) from investing $100 on December 31, 2004 thhoDecember 31, 2009, in each of (i) our commoaokstfi) The NASDAQ Composite
Index and (iii) The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index (d¢gtization weighted).

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc., The NASDAQ @osite Index
And The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

$350 -

5300

£200

5150

3100

SD 1 L 1 | ]
12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09

—— Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
— —A— — NASDAQ Composite
- ===~ - NASDAQ Biotechnology

12/31/04 12/31/0t 12/31/0€ 12/31/07 12/31/0€ 12/31/0¢
Momenta Pharmaceuticals, In 100.0( 312.1¢ 222.8( 101.1: 164.3! 178.4°
The NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0( 101.3: 114.0: 123.7: 73.11 105.6:
The NASDAQ Biotechnology Inde 100.0( 117.5¢ 117.37 121.37 113.41 124.5¢

The information included under the headi@tpck Performance Graph" in Iltem 5 of this AnnRalport on Form 10-K is "furnished" and
not “filed" and shall not be deemed to be "soligjtmaterial” or subject to Regulation 14A, shall be deemed "filed" for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilfethat section, nor shall it be deemed
incorporated by reference in any filing under tlee@ities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Secarifichange Act of 1934, as amended.
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ltem 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial datdosth below with respect to our statement of ggiens data for the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007 and the balance sheet datdDexember 31, 2009 and 2008 are derived from odited financial statements includec
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statementp#rations data for the years ended December 38, 29 2005 and the balance sheet data
as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are defiiwadour audited financial statements, which areimduded herein. Historical results are
not necessarily indicative of future results. Seenotes to the consolidated financial statemeamtari explanation of the method used to
determine the number of shares used in computisig bad diluted net loss per common share. Thetseleonsolidated financial data set
forth below should be read in conjunction with adualified in its entirety by our audited consglalied financial statements and related notes
thereto found at "Item 8. Financial Statements @unpplementary Data" and "ltem 7. Management's B&son and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” which arduded elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share information)

Statements of Operations Data

Collaboration revenu $ 20,24¢ $ 1457( $ 21,56 $ 15,99¢ $ 13,01
Operating expense

Research and developme 60,61: 55,30! 69,89¢ 46,91¢ 23,71(

General and administratiy 23,80( 24,591 28,21¢ 28,46¢ 14,05¢
Total operating expens: 84,41 79,89: 98,11¢ 75,38 37,76¢
Loss from operation (64,169 (65,327) (76,55 (59,389 (24,759
Interest incomt 82t 3,48: 8,48¢ 7,974 3,35¢
Interest expens (570 (79¢) (80¢) (509) (257)
Other expens (109 — — — —
Net loss $ (64,019 $ (62,637 $ (68,88) $ (51,919 $ (21,662)

Basic and diluted netlosspersh $ (1.60) $ (1.7 $ (199 $ (162 $ (0.79

Shares used in computing basic i
diluted net loss per sha 40,05¢ 35,96( 35,63¢ 32,10: 27,28:

As of December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalel $ 2193: $ 5507( $ 33,03 $ 2235 $ 25,89
Marketable securitie 73,71¢ 53,46 102,89¢ 168,91« 130,36
Working capital 85,75 93,48: 125,29: 185,29¢ 155,66
Total asset 118,45: 132,20: 168,29¢ 216,38! 171,10:
Total lon¢-term obligations 7,94¢ 13,60¢ 7,971 7,057 2,99¢
Total liabilities 24,28¢ 32,69¢ 40,75¢ 33,79: 10,94¢
Accumulated defici (321,049  (257,03) (194,40() (125,519 (73,606
Total stockholders' equit $ 94,16: $ 99,50f $ 127,54( $ 182,59: $ 160,15
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our Management's Discussion and AnalysKimdincial Condition and Results of Operationsudeks the identification of certain trends
and other statements that may predict or anticifesitee business or financial results. There aneartant factors that could cause our actual
results to differ materially from those indicat&ke "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of this Annual RepmmtForm 10-K.

Business Overview

Momenta is a biotechnology company spegiaiiin the characterization and process engingearirtomplex molecules. These complex
molecules include proteins, polypeptides, andsugflace polysaccharides, like heparan-sulfate pghyeans, or HSPGs. This results in a
diversified product pipeline of complex generidjda-on biologic, and novel drugs. These produgba@punities are derived from our
proprietary, innovative technology platform whicle Veverage to study theructure (thorough characterization of chemical components),
structure-process (understand, design and control of manufacturirnggss), andtructure-activity (understand and relate structure to biological
and clinical activity) of complex molecule drugs.

Our complex generics and follow-on biol@yactivities are focused on building a thorougharathnding of thetructure-process-activity
of complex molecule drugs to develop generic vasiaf marketed products. While we use a similafhyical and development approach
across all of our product candidates, we tailot #pgroach for each specific product candidate.fidatrobjective is to apply our core analyti
technology to thoroughly characterize #eucture of the marketed product. By defining the chemicahposition of multiple batches of the
marketed product, we are able to develop an ecerieal window which captures the inherent variabdityhe innovator's manufacturing
process. Using this information we then build ateegive understanding of tlsgucture-process relationship to thoroughly understand, design
and control our manufacturing process to reproducitanufacture an equivalent version of the makg@t®duct. Where necessary, and as
required by the U.S. Food and Drug Administrationi-DA, we will supplement an application with atitatial supportivestructure-activity
data (e.g., immunogenicity, pharmacodynamics). @aal is to obtain FDA approval for and commerciligither directly or with collaborati\
partners, complex generic and follow-on biologiogarcts thereby providing high quality, effectivafesand affordable medicines to patients in
need.

Our two most advanced complex generic pebdandidates target marketed products which wegénally approved by the FDA as New
Drug Applications, or NDAs. Therefore, we were atdle@ccess the existing generic regulatory pathavelysubmitted Abbreviated New Drug
Applications, or ANDAs, for these generic candidal-Enoxaparin is designed to be a generic version of Lovenox®xaparin sodium
injection), a low molecular weight heparin, or LMVWtked to prevent and treat deep vein thrombosiBVa@, and to support the treatment of
acute coronary syndromes, or ACS. Lovenox is a ¢exnmixture of polysaccharide chains derived fromtunally sourced heparin. Our second
major generic product candidateM856 , a generic version of Copaxone® (glatiramer aedtgéction), a drug that is indicated for the
reduction of the frequency of relapses in patienits Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis, or RBMCopaxone consists of a complex
mixture of polypeptide chains. With M356, we hawéeaded our core characterization and process eegirg capabilities from the
characterization of complex polysaccharide mixtuceimclude the characterization of complex polyymmixtures. The ANDAs for both M-
Enoxaparin and M356 are currently under FDA review.

In addition to our two complex generic pioticandidates, our follow-on biologics progranttier extends our proprietary technology
platform to include the characterization and engiimgy of therapeutic protein products. By thoroygttiaracterizing these molecules, which
are derived from natural or cell based manufactuprocesses, we seek to gain a deeper understaofding
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relationship between the multiple steps involvethigir manufacturing processes and the final prodompositions. Our goal is to replicate
development approach with M-Enoxaparin and M356@ndue the development and commercialization dfipie biogeneric (designated by
FDA to be substitutable with the marketed prodocthiosimilar (designated by FDA not to be diredlbstitutable with the marketed drug)
products.

Our novel drug program leverages our charaation and process engineering capabilitiedetcelop novel drugs by studying the
structure-activity of complex mixtures. We are targeting our effoatsihderstand the relationship between structuretamiological and
therapeutic activity of various complex moleculeglicandidates. Our goal is to capitalize on thecstiral diversity and multi-targeting
potential of these complex molecules to enginegehdrug candidates that we believe will meet kegnat medical needs in various diseases.
While we believe that our capabilities to enginiegproved and novel complex molecule drug candidedesbe applied across several product
categories with significant therapeutic potential most advanced efforts have been in the arets&Gs. Our lead novel HSPG-based drug
candidateM118, has been engineered to possess what we belidJgevein improved therapeutic profile compared vather currently
marketed products to support the treatment of A@#)2, our second novel HSPG-based drug candidate garig development as a potential
anti-cancer agent. We also are seeking to discaveidevelop additional novel HSPG-based drugs ellsas improved and novel protein drug
candidates by applying our technology to bettereusiéind the function of these complex moleculdsofogical processes.

Since our inception in May 2001, we hawaimed annual net losses. As of December 31, 208%ad an accumulated deficit of
$321.0 million. We recognized net losses of $64illan, $62.6 million and $68.9 million for the yesaended December 31, 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively. We expect to incur substaatia increasing losses for the next several yeansatevelop our product candidates, expand
our research and development activities and prepatbe potential commercial launch of our prodeatdidates. Additionally, we plan to
continue to evaluate possible acquisitions or kaeg of rights to additional technologies, produmtsssets that fit within our growth strategy.
Accordingly, we will need to generate significaavenues to achieve and then maintain profitability.

Since our inception, we have had no reverfiteen product sales. Our revenues for the yeade@dDecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 of
$20.2 million, $14.6 million and $21.6 million, yctively, have been derived from our 2003 SandaiaBoration and 2006 Sandoz
Collaboration and primarily consist of amounts earby us for reimbursement by Sandoz of researdidanelopment services and
development costs for certain programs. To datehawe devoted substantially all of our capital tese expenditures to the research and
development of our product candidates.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

We have not yet generated any revenue fnaduct sales and are uncertain whether or not iWg@nerate any revenue from the sale of
products over the next several years. We have réped, in the aggregate, $94.6 million of revemeenf our inception through December 31,
2009. This revenue was derived entirely from oud38andoz Collaboration and 2006 Sandoz CollatmraWe will seek to generate revenue
from a combination of research and development jgaysn profit sharing payments, milestone paymemdsrayalties in connection with our
2003 Sandoz Collaboration and 2006 Sandoz Colléibarand similar future collaborative or strategitationships. We expect that any
revenue we generate will fluctuate from quarteguarter as a result of the timing and amount afaesh and development and other payments
received under our collaborative or strategic reteships, and the amount and timing of paymentsegeive upon the sale of our products, to
the extent any are successfully commercialized.
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Research and Developme

Research and development expenses cofisissis incurred in identifying, developing andtiteg product candidates. These expenses
consist primarily of salaries and related expeffieepersonnel, license fees, consulting fees, @ihtrial costs, contract research and
manufacturing costs, and the costs of laboratowypagent and facilities. We expense research andldpment costs as incurred. Due to the
variability in the length of time necessary to depea product, the uncertainties related to thenegéed cost of the projects and ultimate ability
to obtain governmental approval for commercialatiaccurate and meaningful estimates of the uléroast to bring our product candidate
market are not available.

The following summarizes our primary reskaand development programs:
Development Program
M-Enoxaparin

Our most advanced product candidate, M-Bpaxin, is designed to be a generic version of hoxga complex drug consisting of a
mixture of polysaccharide chains. Lovenox is a Wigeescribed LMWH used for the prevention and tmeent of DVT and to support the
treatment of ACS. Under our 2003 Sandoz Collabonative work with Sandoz exclusively to develop, ofanture and commercialize M-
Enoxaparin in the U.S. and Sandoz is responsibl&ifaling substantially all of the U.S.-related Mdxaparin development, regulatory, legal
and commercialization costs. The total cost of tgyaent and commercialization, and the timing oBxexaparin product launch, are subject
to uncertainties relating to the development, ragui/ approval and legal processes. Our collabagtartner, Sandoz, submitted ANDAS in its
name to the FDA for M-Enoxaparin in syringe and féams seeking approval to market M-Enoxaparithia United States.

The FDA is currently reviewing both of Saats M-Enoxaparin ANDAS, including our manufactgyigata and technology and
characterization methodology. We and Sandoz aregular communication with the FDA to address atgitfonal questions or requests that it
may have as it continues the review of Sandoz'Scgpion. The FDA has not requested human clinidals at this time. However, there can be
no assurances that the FDA will not require addélsstudies, including clinical studies, in theuftet and we cannot predict with a high degree
of certainty the timing of any potential approvétiee M-Enoxaparin ANDA by the FDA. We and Sandoe also in active dialogue with the
FDA regarding the sourcing and processing of opalia supply. We and Sandoz are working togethereépare for the commercialization of
M-Enoxaparin, if and when approved, by advancingufiacturing, supply chain, and sales and marketbjgctives.

M356

M356 is designed to be a generic versioBafaxone, a complex drug consisting of a mixtineabypeptide chains. Copaxone is
indicated for reduction of the frequency of relapsepatients with RRMS. Multiple sclerosis is aartic disease of the central nervous system
characterized by inflammation and neurodegeneratioNorth America, Copaxone is marketed by Tevardscience LLC, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Teva Pharmaceutical Industries LtcElirope, Copaxone is marketed by Teva Pharmaeéltidustries Ltd. and Sanofi-Aventis.

In December 2007, our collaborative part@@andoz, submitted to the FDA an ANDA in its naspnataining a Paragraph IV certification
seeking approval to market M356 in the United Stalte July 2008, the FDA notified Sandoz that it lzecepted the ANDA for review as of
December 27, 2007. In addition, the FDA's publistiethbase indicates that the first substantialigpdete ANDA submitted for glatiramer
acetate injection containing a Paragraph IV cedtfon was filed on December 27, 2007, making Sz2sddNDA eligible for the grant of a
180-day generic exclusivity period upon approvéle Teview of Sandoz's ANDA is ongoing. We and Sarate in regular communication
with the FDA
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to address any additional questions or requeststtimay have as it continues the review of Sarglapplication.
M118

M118 is a novel anticoagulant that is a ptax drug consisting of a mixture of polysacchartiains. M118 was rationally designed to
capture, in a single therapy, the positive attesudf both unfractionated heparin (reversibilitygnitorability and broad inhibition of the
coagulation cascade) and LMWH (adequate bioavditiabind predictable pharmacokinetics to allow donvenient subcutaneous
administration). We believe that M118 has the piigé¢io provide baseline anticoagulant therapydatients diagnosed with ACS who are
medically managed and who may or may not requirer@ry intervention in order to treat their cormtiti as well as for patients diagnosed \
stable angina who require a coronary interventida.believe that the properties of M118 observeditie in both preclinical and clinical
investigations continue to support the design hypsis and may provide physicians with a more flexiteatment option than is currently
available. ACS includes several diseases rangom finstable angina, which is characterized by gbeistat rest, to acute myocardial
infarction, or heart attack, which is caused bymplete blockage of a coronary artery. Currentlynagority of patients are initially medically
managed with an anti-clotting agent, such as LMW!Hdrdractionated heparin, or UFH, in combinationhadther therapies. An increasing
proportion of ACS patients are also proceedingattyentervention with procedures such as angidplas coronary artery bypass grafting, or
CABG. Both angioplasty and CABG require anticoagttherapy to prevent clot formation during and ietiately following the procedure.
M118 is designed to be a LMWH that could be useahittiple settings, including initial medical marsgent, angioplasty or CABG.

In July 2006, we filed an Investigationaw Drug Application, or IND, with the FDA for our M8 intravenous injection product and in
October 2006 began Phase 1 clinical trials to etalits human safety, tolerability and pharmacdigrgrofile. In June 2009, we completed a
Phase 2a clinical trial to evaluate the feasibibityutilizing M118 intravenous injection as an aotigulant in patients with stable coronary a
disease undergoing percutaneous coronary inteorerkhis trial, known as EMINENCE (Evaluation of #8.in Percutaneous Coronary
Intervention), enrolled approximately 500 patientth stable coronary artery disease undergoingigke®ercutaneous Coronary Intervention.
Patients were randomly assigned to receive treatmim one of three doses of intravenous M118 staadard dose of unfractionated heparin
(UFH). The primary endpoint of the study was thenboed incidence of clinical events defined asabeposite of death, myocardial
infarction, repeat revascularization, and stroke(dghirty days); incidence of bleeding and thromydopenia (over the first 24 hours); and
bailout use of glycoprotein lIb/llla inhibitors amdtheter thrombus (during the procedure). The gmynanalysis in the study provided evidence
of non-inferiority of the combined M118 group (coiming all three doses) as compared to the UFH gwititin the parameters of the
prospectively defined analysis. The observed immdeof the primary endpoint was lower in all M1i&atment groups than in the UFH group;
however it should be noted that the study was asigthed or powered to detect statistically sigaificdifferences between treatments. The
incidence of serious and non-serious adverse ewagsomparable in all treatment groups.

In March 2007, we submitted an IND for &t18 subcutaneous injection product, and in May7208gan Phase 1 clinical trials to
evaluate its human safety, tolerability and phawkatetic profile. These trials have been completed.

We believe that the results of clinicahlsiconducted to date support continuing the etialuaf M118 in patients diagnosed with ACS
who are medically managed with or without an inéeion. We are seeking a collaborative partneintanice and support the further clinical
development of M118. We will not start additionahical trials until we have a partner or fundingadable, but we do remain committed to
product and its continued development.
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M402

M402 is our next most advanced novel HSR&el product candidate and is engineered to haeatmmnti-cancer properties and low
anticoagulant activity. HSPGs are complex molecplesent in the tumor microenvironment which plagla in the conversion of normal ce
into cancerous cells, and present growth factgtekines, and chemokines necessary for tumor ceWth, migration, and survival. M402 is
designed to exploit this biology. Data from preidai studies have shown that M402 has the potetatimlodulate angiogenesis and tumor
metastasis through a variety of HSPG-binding pnsteiVe currently have plans to advance M402 intadruclinical trials in the first half of
2011.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses copsistarily of salaries and other related costgfersonnel in executive, finance, legal,
accounting, investor relations, business developraet human resource functions. Other costs indlaciéty and insurance costs not
otherwise included in research and developmentresgseand professional fees for legal and accous@ngces and other general expenses.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
Revenue

Revenue for 2009 was $20.2 million, comgdasith $14.6 million for 2008 and $21.6 million f8007. Revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2009 consists of amounts earned byder our 2003 Sandoz Collaboration for reimbursgméresearch and development
services and reimbursement of development costsuarodints earned by us under our 2006 Sandoz Cadisdno for amortization of the equity
premium, reimbursement of research and developeeaices and reimbursement of development costerRe increased $5.6 million from
2008 to 2009 due primarily to a $6.4 million incsean reimbursable process engineering activisss@ated with our M356 program and a
$0.6 million increase in reimbursable expensesaatsa with our M-Enoxaparin program, primarily flgvelopment services related to the
ANDA review process. These increases were offset $%.3 million decrease in reimbursable expensesdciated with our M178 program, as
planned development activities on the M178 progvasre completed.

Revenue decreased $7.0 million from 20020108 due primarily to a decrease in reimbursakpereses associated with the development
of M-Enoxaparin. The manufacturing costs for prealeh inventory for MEnoxaparin are incurred directly by Sandoz andetfoee do not flov
through our collaborative revenues.

Research and Developme

Research and development expense for 268360.6 million, compared with $55.3 million in&and $69.9 million in 2007. The
increase of $5.3 million, or 10%, from 2008 to 2@hcipally resulted from: increases of $4.6 mifliin manufacturing, process development
and third-party research costs primarily in suppdur M356 program; $1.3 million in stock-basempensation expense; $1.0 million in
depreciation and facility related expense; $0.6ionilin personnel and related costs; and $0.3 omilin consultant costs. These increases were
offset by decreases of $1.5 million in clinical éepment costs associated with the completion ®fhase 2a clinical trial for our M118
program, a $0.5 million credit to research and tpraent expense as a result of a revision to aruadamilestone liability and a decrease of
$0.5 million in laboratory supplies.

The decrease of $14.6 million, or 21%, fra@07 to 2008 principally resulted from decreade$13.8 million in process development,
manufacturing and third-party research costs ipstof our development programs, principally owBvoxaparin and M356 programs;
$1.7 million in stock-based
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compensation expense; $0.7 milliondrocess research and development expense relateel 2007 Parivid asset purchase; and $0.5 mific
consultant costs. These decreases were offsetbsaises of $1.1 million in personnel and relatesis;$0.7 million in laboratory expenses and
$0.7 million in depreciation expense.

The lengthy process of securing FDA appiof@a new drugs requires the expenditure of sutistbresources. Any failure by us to obte
or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals ldauaterially adversely affect our product devel@mtnefforts and our business overall.
Accordingly, we cannot currently estimate with atgegree of certainty the amount of time or money weawill be required to expend in the
future on our product candidates prior to theiutatpry approval, if such approval is ever grantesla result of these uncertainties surroun
the timing and outcome of any approvals, we areectly unable to estimate when, if ever, our pradandidates will generate revenues and
cash flows. We expect future research and developmeenses to increase in support of our prodamticates.

The following table summarizes the primaoynponents of our research and development expeeasifor our principal research and
development programs for the years ended Decenih@0B9, 2008, and 2007, and shows the total eadtensts incurred by us for each of our
major research and development projects. The tatdlides costs incurred by our collaboration partmesuch major research and
development projects. We do not maintain or evaluatd therefore do not allocate, internal reseanchdevelopment costs on a project-by-
project basis. Consequently, we do not analyzeriateesearch and development costs by projectinaging our research and development
activities.

Project Inception to

Research and Development Expense (in thousanc 2009 2008 2007 December 31, 2009

Development programs (Statt
M-Enoxaparin (ANDA Filed $ 423¢ $ 3855 $ 13,07¢ $ 44,10:
M356 (ANDA Filed) 10,67( 4,401 8,10¢ 26,67¢
M118 (Phase 2¢ 5,641 9,88¢ 10,94¢ 35,26¢
Other development prograr 1,96¢ 58¢ 442

Discovery program 45¢ 664 997

Research and development internal ¢ 37,63¢ 35,90¢ 36,33:

Total research and development expe $ 60,61 $ 55,301 $ 69,89¢

The increase of $0.4 million in externaperditures related to our M-Enoxaparin program f2f88 to 2009 was primarily due to
increased development services related to the AKE¥ew process. The increase in external experaditan our M356 program of
$6.3 million from 2008 to 2009 was due to increagegtess development, manufacturing costs and-garty research expenses. The decrease
of $4.2 million in external expenditures on our Nldrogram from 2008 to 2009 was due to the congieati our Phase 2a clinical trial in Ju
20009.

The decrease of $9.2 million in externgdenditures related to our M-Enoxaparin program f&087 to 2008 was primarily due to lower
manufacturing activity and a shift to commerciaidty being contracted directly with Sandoz. Thectease of $3.7 million in external
expenditures related to our M356 program from 2@0Z008 was primarily related to the timing of dpcess work and the investment
required to support the ANDA filing at the end &0Z. The decrease of $1.0 million in external exitemnes on our M118 program from 2007
to 2008 was primarily attributable to start-up edsturred in 2007 for the Phase 2a clinical trial.

The research and development internal @ustsist of compensation and other expense foarelseand development personnel, supplies
and materials, facility costs and depreciation. ifleeease of $1.7 million from 2008 to 2009 was thuadditional research and development
headcount and related costs in support of our dewednt programs.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expense foyte ended December 31, 2009 was $23.8 million pesed to $24.6 million in 2008 and
$28.2 million in 2007. General and administratixpense decreased by $0.8 million, or 3%, from 2008009 primarily due to a decrease of
$1.1 million in professional fees due to a redutfiolegal and consulting activities, offset byiacrease of $0.3 million in stock-based
compensation expense. General and administrativense decreased by $3.6 million, or 13%, from 2002008 due to a decrease of
$1.8 million in stock-based compensation expenseasily due to a revision of the expected vestiagedbn certain performance-based
restricted stock awards and a decrease of $1.Bmil professional fees due to a reduction in llega consulting activities.

We expect our general and administratiygeaeses, including internal and external legal argirtess development costs that support our
various product development efforts, to vary froemipd to period in relation to our research andettgyment activities.

Interest Income

Interest income was $0.8 million, $3.5 milland $8.5 million for the years ended Decemle2B09, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The
decrease of $2.7 million from 2008 to 2009 anddberease of $5.0 million from 2007 to 2008 werengrily due to lower average investment
balances and lower interest rates.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense was $0.6 million, $0.8iomland $0.8 million for the years ended Decen8%r2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The
decrease of $0.2 million from 2008 to 2009 was priiy due to the completion of a repayment schedualeur equipment line of credit during
2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations since itigeprimarily through the sale of equity secustipayments from our 2003 Sandoz
Collaboration and 2006 Sandoz Collaboration anddwdangs from our lines of credit and capital leafdigations. Since our inception, we hi
received net proceeds of $45.4 million from theigsse of redeemable convertible preferred stocBufre 2004, we completed our initial
public offering and raised net proceeds of $35 [aniat which time all shares of preferred stockieerted to common stock. In July 2005, we
completed a follow-on public offering and raised pmceeds of $122.3 million. In September 2006y@aeived net proceeds of $74.9 million
from Novartis Pharma AG's purchase of 4,708,67%shaf our common stock in connection with our 2@@®doz Collaboration. In Decem|
2008 and September 2009, we completed public offsrand raised net proceeds of $24.1 million ar&8whillion, respectively. As of
December 31, 2009, we have received a cumulatteédd$89.3 million from our 2003 Sandoz Collaltara and 2006 Sandoz Collaboration,
$4.0 million from debt financing, $9.2 million frooapital lease obligations and $3.2 million fronr tandlord for leasehold improvements
related to our corporate facility and additionaids from interest income. We expect to financeauurent and planned operating requirements
principally through our current cash, cash equiva@nd marketable securities. We believe thaethasds will be sufficient to meet our
operating requirements through at least 2011. Hewewr forecast of the period of time through whaar financial resources will be adequ
to support our operations is a forward-lookingestaént that involves risks and uncertainties, andahcesults could vary materially. We may,
from time to time, seek additional funding throuyhombination of new collaborative agreementsteggia alliances and additional equity and
debt financings or from other sources.

At December 31, 2009, we had $95.7 milliooash, cash equivalents and marketable secuiitiegidition, we also hold $1.8 million in
restricted cash which serves as collateral fottarlef credit
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related to our facility lease. During the yearsezh®ecember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, our operatitigties used $55.3 million,

$48.4 million and $56.3 million, respectively. Thse of cash for operating activities generally agpnates our net loss adjusted for non-cash
items and changes in operating assets and liakilikor the year ended December 31, 2009, nonieasé include stock based compensation
of $10.8 million and depreciation and amortizatir$4.8 million. For the year ended December 3DR@ur net loss adjusted for non-cash
items was $48.4 million. In addition, the net chamgour operating assets and liabilities used #6l8n and resulted from: a decrease in
accounts receivable of $0.5 million, due to thengnof cash receipts from Sandoz; an increase fuilled collaboration revenue of

$2.4 million, resulting from increased commercietivdties for our M356 program; an increase in @igjpexpenses and other current assets of
$0.5 million, related to interest accrued on U.&aBury and government-sponsored enterprise sesyatdecrease in accounts payable of
$1.4 million, primarily due to the timing of manetaring costs for M356 manufacturing batches; aelse in accrued expenses of

$0.6 million, due to a decrease in clinical accswedsociated with the completion in June 2009 ofRtase 2a clinical trial for our M118
program; a decrease in deferred revenue of $1l®miprincipally due to the amortization of the358 million equity premium paid by
Novartis in connection with the 2006 Sandoz Coltation; and a decrease in other current liabili€$2.0 million. Of the $2.0 millioi
decrease in other current liabilities, $0.5 milli@tates to a revision to an accrued milestonéligb$0.5 million was paid in cash and

$1.0 million of common stock was issued as consitien for the completion and satisfaction of mitests achieved under our asset purchase
agreement with Parivid LLC.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, etloss adjusted for non-cash items was $51.2anillin addition, the net change in our
operating assets and liabilities provided $2.7iarilland resulted from: a decrease in accountsvalks of $0.3 million, due to the timing of
cash receipts from Sandoz; a decrease in unbidiaboration revenue of $6.7 million, resultingfralecreased manufacturing and research
costs for our M-Enoxaparin program; a decreasedpaid expenses and other current assets of $0i@nnielated to declining investment
balances and lower interest rates; a decreaseauats payable of $3.6 million, due to the paynw@mhanufacturing and research costs for our
M-Enoxaparin program; a decrease in deferred reven$2.2 million, due primarily to the amortizatiof the $13.6 million equity premium
paid by Novartis in connection with the 2006 San@olaboration; and an increase in accrued expevfsg8.8 million, due to the timing of
vendor payments.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, etloss adjusted for non-cash items was $57.7anillin addition, the net change in our
operating assets and liabilities provided $1.4ianilland resulted from: increases in accounts rabévof $0.7 million and unbilled
collaboration revenue of $4.3 million, due to tigniof cash receipts from Sandoz and an increasilable activities; a decrease in restricted
cash of $2.9 million due to the cancellation oétdr of credit for a terminated sublease; an emedn accounts payable of $4.8 million,
resulting from increased manufacturing and reseewosks for our programs; and a decrease in defeerazhue of $1.3 million, due primarily to
the amortization of the $13.6 million equity premiu

Net cash used in investing activities wa2.$ million for the year ended December 31, 2@&ing 2009, we used $110.2 million of c:
to purchase marketable securities, and we rec&88d million from maturities of marketable sedest Net cash provided by investing
activities was $48.2 million for the year ended &mber 31, 2008. During 2008, we used $120.5 miliiboash to purchase marketable
securities, and we received $172.1 million fronesand maturities of marketable securities. Nét pasvided by investing activities was
$60.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2@#ting 2007, we used $242.5 million of cash tochaise marketable securities, offset by
cash provided of $314.7 million in maturities ofniketable securities. During the years ended DeceBihe2009, 2008 and 2007, we used
$1.7 million, $3.4 million and $8.8 million, respaely, to purchase laboratory equipment and lealskimprovements.
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Net cash provided by financing activitieassb44.4 million, $22.3 million and $6.1 millionrfthe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007, respectively. During 2009, we receivednaceeds of $46.8 million from our public offegiof common stock and $0.5 million fre
stock option exercises and purchases of commomslhiarough our employee stock purchase plan. Treseeds were offset by principal
payments of $2.2 million on our line of credit atapital lease agreement obligations and $0.7 milhio financed leasehold improvements
related to our corporate facility. During 2008, meeeived net proceeds of $24.1 million from ourljpubffering of common stock and
$1.2 million from stock option exercises and pusgwof common shares through our employee stodhase plan. These proceeds were
offset by principal payments of $2.4 million on dine of credit and capital lease agreement ohibgatand $0.6 million on financed leasehold
improvements related to our corporate facility. iDgr2007, we borrowed $4.2 million on our equipmieaise agreement, recovered
$3.7 million in property and equipment from theigsment of a sublease, received proceeds of $dl@mirom stock option exercises and
purchases of common shares through our employek ptochase plan. These borrowings and proceeds effset by principal payments of
$2.1 million on our line of credit and capital lessgreement obligations and payments of $0.6 mibio financed leasehold improvements.

The following table summarizes our contwatobligations and commercial commitments at Ddamm31, 2009:

2011 2013

through through After
Contractual Obligations (in thousands) Total 2010 2012 2014 2014
License maintenance obligatic $ 78 $ 15¢ $ 31t $ 31E L
Capital lease obligatior 4,44 2,62¢ 1,817 — $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 4,93( 3,65( 1,28( — —
Total contractual obligatior $ 10,16 $ 6,432 $ 3412 $ 31t $ —

*

After 2014, the annual obligations, which extendifinitely, are approximately $0.2 million per ye

Parivid Milestone Payment

On August 4, 2009, we entered into an Ameerat to the Asset Purchase Agreement, or the Psechgreement, dated April 20, 2007,
with Parivid, LLC, a data integration and analysgsvices provider, and S. Raguram. Pursuant tBtinehase Agreement, we acquired certain
of the assets and assumed certain of the lialsildfeParivid related to the acquired assets in @xgh for $2.5 million in cash paid at closing

up to $11.0 million in contingent milestone paynseinta combination of cash and/or stock in the reamnd on the terms and conditions set
forth in the Purchase Agreement.

The contingent milestone payments weregirad to include (i) potential payments of no mibran $2.0 million in cash if certain
milestones were achieved within two years fromdaee of the Purchase Agreement (the "Initial Mdests") and (ii) the issuance of up to
$9.0 million of our common stock to Parivid if cairt other milestones are achieved within fifteeargeof the date of the Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the Amendment, we agreed &nelxthe time period for completion of the Initiallétones to June 30, 2009, specified those
Initial Milestones that had been achieved as oM 2009 and, as consideration for the completimhsatisfaction of the Initial Milestones
that were achieved, agreed to pay Parivid $0.5anitash and to issue 91,576 shares of our comiogk at a value of $10.92 per share. In

addition, in September 2009, we made a cash payofi&®. 1 million to Parivid, recorded as other expe representing the difference between
the net proceeds from Parivid's
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sale of the shares issued in satisfaction of thimliMilestones and the value of such shares dh@flate of the Amendment.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finahoigdition and results of operations are basedwrfinancial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principkrsegally accepted in the United States. The préiparaf these financial statements requires
us to make estimates and judgments that affeceterted amounts of assets and liabilities andlibeosure of contingent assets and liabili
at the date of the financial statements and therteg amounts of revenues and expenses duringploeting periods. On an on-going basis, we
evaluate our estimates and judgments, includingehelated to revenue recognition, accrued expamskshare-based payments. We base our
estimates on historical experience, known trendseaents and various other factors that are baliéwéde reasonable under the circumstances
the results of which form the basis for making jomgnts about the carrying values of assets andifiabithat are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from thestimates under different assumptions or condition

We believe the following critical accourgipolicies affect our more significant judgmentsl astimates used in the preparation of our
financial statements.

Revenue

We recognize revenue from research andldewesnt collaboration agreements. We record revenugn accrual basis as it is earned and
when amounts are considered collectible. Reverzeiwed in advance of performance obligations arases where we have a continuing
obligation to perform services are deferred andgaized over the performance period. When we areired to defer revenue, the period over
which such revenue is recognized is based on etstinly management and may change over the coutlse pérformance period. At the
inception of a collaboration agreement, we estirttaéeterm of our performance obligation based andewelopment plans and our estimate of
the regulatory review period. The development plgerserally include designing a manufacturing pred¢esnake the drug product, scaling up
the process, contributing to the preparation otil@gry filings, further scaling up the manufachgriprocess to commercial scale and related
development of intellectual property. Each repgrieriod we reassess our remaining performancgathdins under the applicable
collaboration arrangement by considering the timeqa over which any remaining development andieelaervices to be provided prior to
obtaining regulatory approval are expected to bepteted. Changes in our estimate could occur dedaoges in our development plans or
due to changes in regulatory or legal requireméfiss have deferred upfront payments of $0.6 milama $13.6 million in connection with our
2003 Sandoz Collaboration and 2006 Sandoz Colléibaraespectively. Such upfront payments are beétggnized over our estimated pel
of performance obligation, which is approximatelyefand a half years and six years, respectivetynfthe applicable collaboration inception
date. The deferral period for the upfront paymessbaiated with our 2003 Sandoz Collaboration waspteted during 2008.

We recognize payments for the achievemgstilostantive, at risk milestones that represemttiimination of a separate earnings process
as revenue when due or paid.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider only those investments whiehaghly liquid, readily convertible to cash andttmature within three months from date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalentaeied at fair value, which approximates cast] were primarily comprised of money
market funds at December 31, 2009.
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Marketable Securitie:

Available-for-sale debt securities are rded at fair market value. Purchased premiumssmodints on debt securities are amortized to
interest income through the stated maturities efdébt securities. We determine the appropriassifi@ation of our investments in marketable
securities at the time of purchase and evaluate designation as of each balance sheet date. irgéaains and losses are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),wisiceported as a separate component of stocktsoketguity. If a decline in the fair value
is considered other-thaemporary, based on available evidence, the uzezhlpss is transferred from other comprehensigenre (loss) to tt
statements of operations. There were no charges fak other than temporary declines in fair vadfienarketable securities in 2009, 2008 or
2007. Realized gains and losses are reporteddreisitincome on a specific identification basistibyithe year ended December 31, 2008, we
recorded realized gains on marketable securiti€@f000. There were no realized gains or lossesarketable securities during the years
ended December 31, 2009 or 2007.

Fair Value of other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of our financial instients that are not stated at fair value, whichughe accounts receivable, unbilled collabora
revenue and other accrued expenses, approximatdaineralues due to their short maturities. Tlerging amount of our line of credit and
capital lease obligations approximate their faiuea due to their variable interest rates.

Intangible Asset:

We have acquired intangible assets thatalige and record. We use a discounted cash flowefrtodralue intangible assets at acquisition.
The discounted cash flow model requires assumptbnpsit the timing and amount of future cash infland outflows, risk and the cost of
capital. Each of these factors can significantfgetfthe value of the intangible asset. We revietargible assets for impairment on a periodic
basis using an undiscounted net cash flows appneaen impairment indicators arise. If the undisdedrcash flows of an intangible asset are
less than the carrying value of an intangible asgetwould write down the intangible asset to tleeaunted cash flow value. Where we cannot
identify cash flows for an individual asset, owieav is applied at the lowest group level for whadsh flows are identifiable.

Accrued Expense

As part of the process of preparing finahstatements, we are required to estimate ac@xjegehses. This process involves identifying
services that have been performed on our behalfferdestimating the level of service performed tedassociated cost incurred for such
service as of each balance sheet date in our fimastatements. Examples of estimated expensestfimh we accrue include contract service
fees paid to contract manufacturers in conjunctiith the production of clinical drug supplies adcbntract research organizations. In
connection with such service fees, our estimatesrerst affected by our understanding of the statalstiming of services provided relative to
the actual levels of services incurred by suchisemroviders. The majority of our service proviglérvoice us monthly in arrears for services
performed. In the event that we do not identifytaiercosts, which have begun to be incurred, oumger- or oveestimate the level of servic
performed or the costs of such services, our redakpenses for such period would be too low ohigh. The date on which certain services
commence, the level of services performed on avreed given date and the cost of such servicesftee determined based on subjective
judgments. We make these judgments based upoadtednd circumstances known to us in accordartbegenerally accepted accounti
principles.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize the fair value of stock-basathpensation in our statement of operations. Shaded compensation expense primarily
relates to stock options, restricted stock andksissued under our stock option plans and emplsy@ek purchase plan. We recognize stock-
based compensation expense equal to the fair eélst®ck options on a straight-line basis overrgguisite service period. Restricted stock
awards are recorded as compensation cost, bagée omarket value on the date of the grant, onaagstt-line basis over the requisite service
period. We issue new shares to satisfy stock ogti@ncises, the issuance of restricted stock aruk $$sued under our employee stock
purchase plan.

We estimate the fair value of each optivara on the date of grant using the Black-Scholestdh option pricing model. Option
valuation models require the input of highly sulijgzassumptions, including stock price volatityd expected term of an option. We believe
a blended volatility rate based upon historicafgrenance, as well as the implied volatilities ofremtly traded options, best reflects the
expected volatility of our stock going forward. @igas in market price directly affect volatility anduld cause stock-based compensation
expense to vary significantly in future reportingripds.

The expected term of awards representpétied of time that the awards are expected toutgtanding. We use a blend of our own
historical employee exercise and post-vest territndiehavior and expected term data from our pemrgto arrive at the estimated expected
life of an option. We update these assumptionseaded to reflect recent historical data. Additibnale are required to estimate forfeiture
rates to approximate the number of shares thatsdt in a period to which the fair value is appliEstimated forfeitures will be adjusted to
actual forfeitures upon the vest date of the cdedealptions as a cumulative adjustment on a quartessis.

The value of our restricted stock awardggognized as compensation cost in our consotidetetements of operations over each award's
explicit or implicit service periods. We estimateavard's implicit service period based on our bestnate of the period over which an
award's vesting conditions will be achieved. Wevadigate these estimates on a quarterly basis dhteabgnize any remaining unrecognized
compensation as of the date of an estimate revisienthe revised remaining implicit service peribdDecember 2009, we revised the
implicit service period for certain performance-easestricted stock awards due to a change inxpected vesting date. The impact of this
change in estimate on our net loss and net losshzge was immaterial for the year ended Decembe2(B9.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 20688007, we recognized total stock-based comfiensaxpense of $10.8 million,
$9.2 million and $12.7 million, respectively. AsBécember 31, 2009, the total remaining unrecoghnimenpensation cost related to nonve
stock option awards amounted to $8.5 million, idahg estimated forfeitures, which will be amortizeeer the weighted-average remaining
requisite service periods of 2.1 years. As of Ddzen31, 2009, the total remaining unrecognized amaption cost related to nonvested
restricted stock awards amounted to $3.1 milliohiclv will be amortized over the weighted-averageaming requisite service periods of
approximately 1.1 years.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Please see Note 2 to our Consolidated Eiab8tatementsummary of Sgnificant Accounting Policies, for a discussion of new
accounting standards.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related tmgps in interest rates. Our current investmerntypd to maintain an investment portfolio
consisting mainly of U.S. money market, governmgztured, and high-grade corporate securities, tiirecthrough managed funds, with
maturities of twenty-four months or less. Our cestieposited in and invested through highly ratedrfcial institutions in North America. Our
marketable securities are subject to interestriskeand will fall in value if market interest ratencrease. However, due to the conservative
nature of our investments and relatively shortafie maturities of debt instruments, interest ragk is mitigated. If market interest rates were
to increase immediately and uniformly by 10% fraadls at December 31, 2009, we estimate that thedlue of our investment portfolio
would decline by an immaterial amount. We do nohalgrivative financial instruments in our investrnpartfolio. Accordingly, we do not
believe that there is any material market risk expe with respect to derivative, foreign currencyther financial instruments that would
require disclosure under this item.
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Iltem 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and StockholderMoimenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conse@itbatlance sheets of Momenta Pharmaceuticalsasrmaf December 31, 2009 and 2008, and
the related consolidated statements of operatgioskholders' equity and comprehensive loss, ash ftaws for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2009. These financitdments are the responsibility of the Company'sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemersiscban our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementeneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2062008, and the consolidated results of its dip@sand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@@nformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), Momenta
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s internal control over fiiahreporting as of December 31, 2009, based iterier established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiaha@ur report dated March 12, 2010
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2010
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Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
2009 2008
(In thousands, except pel
share amounts)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 2193¢$ 5507(
Marketable securitie 73,71¢ 53,46:
Accounts receivabl — 45k
Unbilled collaboration revent 4,75( 2,372
Prepaid expenses and other current a 1,69: 1,217
Total current asse 102,09 112,57!
Property and equipment, net of accumulated defreci 11,79t 14,72¢
Intangible assets, n 2,78t 3,111
Restricted cas 1,77¢ 1,77¢
Other asset — 12
Total asset $ 118,45. $ 132,20:

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 422t 3 5,57¢
Accrued expense 6,114 6,744
Deferred revenu 2,85( 2,15(
Line of credit obligation: — 17
Capital lease obligatior 2,34¢ 1,84¢
Lease financing liability 737 687
Deferred ren 70 70
Other current liabilitie: — 2,00¢

Total current liabilities 16,34( 19,09:
Deferred revenue, net of current port 5,91z 8,06:
Capital lease obligations, net of current por 1,72¢ 4,42
Lease financing liability, net of current porti 25€ 99t
Other long term liabilitie: 49 11¢

Total liabilities 24,28¢ 32,69¢

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000 shareeréd at December 3
2009 and 2008, 100 shares of Series A Junior Reatiog Preferred
Stock, $0.01 par value designated and no shanesdsmd outstandir — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000 sharémered a
December 31, 2009 and 2008, 44,627 and 39,691sslssteed and

outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respéc 4 4
Additional paic-in capital 415,21 356,12-
Accumulated other comprehensive income (It (7 414
Accumulated defici (321,049 (257,03)

Total stockholders' equit 94,16: 99,50¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 118,45: $ 132,20:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Collaboration revenu
Operating expense
Research and developmel
General and administrative

Total operating expens

Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incom
Interest expens

Other expens

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshart

* Includes stoc-based compensation as follov
Research and developm
General and administrati

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands,
except per share amounts)

$ 20,24¢ $ 1457( $ 21,56

60,61: 55,301 69,89¢
23,80( 24,59 28,21¢

84,41,  79,89. 98,11t
(64,167  (65,32)  (76,55)

82t 3,48: 8,48¢
(570) (79€) (80¢)
(104) — —

$ (64,01) $ (62,63) $ (68,88)
$ (160 % (179 $ (199
40,05¢  35,96( 35,63

$ 4371 $ 3122 $ 4,79
$ 637 $ 6,09 $ 7,89

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Common Stock Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensive Total
Par Paid-In Income Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares Value Capital (Loss) Deficit Equity

Balances at December 3

2006 36,09¢ $ 4 $308,06: $ 45 $ (125,519 $ 182,59:
Issuance of common sto

pursuant to the exercis

of stock options and

employee stock

purchase pla 142 — 85€ — — 85€
Issuance of restricte

stock 24¢ — — — — —
Stockbased compensati

expense for employe: — — 12,68: — — 12,68:

Stockbased compensati
expense for non-

employees — — 5 — — 5
Unrealized gain on

marketable securitie — — — 287 — 287
Net loss — — — — (68,88)) (68,88))
Comprehensive los — — — — — (68,599
Balances at December 2

2007 36,48¢ $ 4 $321,60: $ 332 $ (194,400 $ 127,54
Issuance of common sto

in public offering 2,80( — 24,14( — — 24,14

Issuance of common sto
pursuant to the exercis
of stock options and
employee stock

purchase pla 19¢ 1,16¢ — 1,16¢
Issuance of restricte

stock 252 — — — — —
Cancellation of restrictec

stock (43 — — — — —
Stockbased compensati

expense for employe: — — 9,21¢ — — 9,21«
Unrealized gain ol

marketable securitie — — — 82 — 82
Net loss — — — — (62,63) (62,637)
Comprehensive los — — — — — (62,555
Balances at December 2

2008 39,690 $ 4 $356,12: $ 414 $ (257,03) $ 99,50:
Issuance of common sto

in public offering 4,60( — 46,76¢ — — 46,76¢
Issuance of common sto

to Parivid 91 — 1,00(¢ — — 1,00C

Issuance of common sto
pursuant to the exercis
of stock options and
employee stock

purchase pla 76 — 56¢ — — 56¢
Issuance of restricted

stock 16¢ — — — — —
Stoclk-based compensati

expense for employe: — — 10,65¢ — — 10,65¢

Stockbased compensati
expense for nc-



employee 97 97
Unrealized loss on

marketable securitie — — — (421) — (421
Net loss — — — — (64,012 (64,012
Comprehensive los (64,439
Balances at December &

2009 44,627 $ 4 $41521: $ (7) $ (321,049 $ 94,16

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating activities:

Net loss $ (64,017 $ (62,637 $ (68,88)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegperating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,47 3,97¢ 3,30¢
Stock-based compensation expel 10,75¢ 9,21¢ 12,68’
Loss on disposal of ass¢ 114 7 92
Accretion of discount on investmer (57) (2,047 (5,907
Realized gain on sales of marketable secul — 47 —
Charge for i-process research and developn — — 737
Amortization of intangible: 32¢ 384 26€
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl 45E 292 (747)
Unbilled collaboration revent (2,37¢%) 6,66¢ (4,310
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (47€) 767 85
Restricted cas — — 2,907
Other asset 12 12 12
Accounts payabl (2,359 (3,559 4,821
Accrued expense (630C) 771 187
Deferred ren (70 (70) (312)
Deferred revenu (1,450 (2,179 (1,287)
Other current liabilitie: (2,000 — —
Other long term liabilitie: — 26 —
Net cash used in operating activit (55,299 (48,42)) (56,33¢)

Cash Flows from Investing activities:

Purchase of intangible ass — — (2,500
Purchases of marketable securi (110,199 (120,52 (242,529
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur 89,57¢ 163,80( 314,73!
Purchase of property and equipm (1,659 (3,41)) (8,81%)
Sales of marketable securiti — 8,341 —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (22,279 48,20: 60,89:
Cash Flows from Financing activities:
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, afe

issuance cos! 46,76¢ 24,14( —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under gtiacls 56¢ 1,16¢ 85¢€
Payments on financed leasehold improvem (687) (639) (59¢€)
Principal payments on line of cre: ()] (727) (889)
Proceeds from capital lease obligatit — — 4,19¢
Principal payments on capital lease obligati (2,200 (1,69¢) (1,169
Proceeds from assignment of sublease, net of regofeent

expense — — 3,72¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 44,43 22,25( 6,131
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivz (33,13¢) 22,03: 10,68’
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 55,07( 33,03¢ 22,35
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 21,93 $ 5507( $ 33,03¢
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for intere: $ 57C $ 79¢ $ 80¢
Non Cash Transactions:
Accrued milestone payments to Pari $ — $ — $ 2,00C
Issuance of common stock for payment of milest $ 1,00C $ — 3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Decembai, 2009
1. The Company
Business

Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "CompanyMomenta") was incorporated in the state ofeddare in May, 2001 and began
operations in early 2002. Its facilities are lockite Cambridge, Massachusetts. Momenta is a biatdogy company specializing in the
detailed structural analysis of complex mixturegdiuapplying its technology to the developmentexfeyic or follow-on versions of complex
drug products as well as to the discovery and dgweént of complex novel drugs. The Company pregelatives all of its revenue from
research collaborations with pharmaceutical comgsni

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidatior

The Company's consolidated financial statetinclude the Company's accounts and the accofithe Company's wholly-owned
subsidiary, Momenta Pharmaceuticals Securities @atjon. All intercompany transactions have beémiahted.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally eapted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféattae amounts reported in the financial statetiand accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ materially from those estinsate

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers only those investsehich are highly liquid, readily convertible tash and that mature within three months
from date of purchase to be cash equivalents. €gsivalents are carried at fair value, which apjmaes cost and were primarily comprised
of money market funds at December 31, 2009.

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company éstbp newly issued accounting standard for fainwaheasurements of all nonfinancial assets
and nonfinancial liabilities not recognized or dised at fair value in the financial statementaagecurring basis. The adoption of the
accounting standard for these assets and liabiliti¢ not have a material impact on the Compairy&ntial position or results of operations.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company éstbp standard for fair value measurements fdimigscial assets and liabilities that are re-
measured and reported at fair value at each regaptriod, and non-financial assets and liabilitied are re-measured and reported at fair
value at least annually. The adoption of this gné#adid not have an impact on the Company's figdupdsition or results of operations.

On a recurring basis, the Company measigeain financial assets and financial liabiliteair value based upon quoted market prices,
where available. Where quoted market prices orrathservable inputs are not available, the Compgpjies valuation techniques to estimate
fair value. The accounting standards for fair vaheasurements establish a three-level valuaticataiey for
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disclosure of fair value measurements. The categtion of financial assets and financial liabiktiithin the valuation hierarchy is based upon
the lowest level of input that is significant tetmeasurement of fair value. The three levels @hikrarchy are defined as follows:

. Level 1—inputs to the valuation methodology aretqd@rices (unadjusted) for identical assets dilltees in active markets.

. Level 2—inputs to the valuation methodology are other oledale inputs, including quoted prices for similasets and liabilitie
in active or non-active markets, inputs other thaoted prices that are observable for the asdethulity, and inputs that are not
directly observable, but are corroborated by theeolmable market data.

. Level 3—inputs to the valuation methodology arehsesvable for the asset or liability.

A Level 1 classification is applied to aagset that has a readily available quoted price fin active market where there is significant
transparency in the executed / quoted price. A L2wassification is applied to assets whoseValues are determined using quoted prices in
active markets for similar assets or inputs othantquoted prices that are observable for the.asset

The carrying amounts reflected in the ctidated balance sheets for cash, accounts receivabbilled collaboration revenue, other
current assets, accounts payable and accrued egepproximate fair value due to their short-teraturities. The carrying amounts for the
line of credit and capital lease obligations apprate their fair values due to their variable ietdrrates.

Concentration of Credit Risks
The Company's primary exposure to credit derives from its cash, cash equivalents and enalole securities.

The Company invests its cash in bank démpasioney market accounts, corporate debt seajrd@nmercial paper and U.S. government-
sponsored enterprise securities in accordanceitsithvestment policy. The Company has establighedelines relating to diversification and
maturities that allow the Company to manage risk.

Marketable Securitie:
Mar ketable Debt Securities

Available-for-sale debt securities are reled at fair market value. Purchased premiumsswodints on debt securities are amortized to
interest income through the stated maturities efdébt securities. The Company determines the pppte classification of its investments in
marketable securities at the time of purchase aatliates such designation as of each balance dagetUnrealized gains and losses are
included in accumulated other comprehensive incfoss), which is reported as a separate comporiestbokholders' equity. If a decline in
the fair value is considered other-than-temporaaged on available evidence, the unrealized lasarisferred from other comprehensive
income (loss) to the consolidated statements ofadio®s. There were no charges taken for other-tearporary declines in fair value of
marketable securities in 2009, 2008 or 2007. Redlgains and losses are reported in interest inameespecific identification basis. During
the year ended December 31, 2008, the Companydedoealized gains on marketable securities of3p07,There were no realized gains or
losses on marketable securities during the yeatsceBecember 31, 2009 or 2007.

Other-than-Temporary Impairments

In April 2009, the Company implemented avlyeissued accounting standard which provides guiddor the recognition, measurement
and presentation of other-than-temporary impairsentis
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newly issued standard amended the other-than-temponpairment model for debt securities and rexpiadditional disclosures regarding the
calculation of credit losses and the factors carsid in reaching a conclusion that an investmeathisr-than-temporarily impaired.

Under the new accounting standards, amr-dtiam-temporary impairment must be recognizeduhoearnings if an investor has the intent
to sell the debt security or if it is more likelyan not that the investor will be required to sfedl debt security before recovery of its amortized
cost basis. However, even if an investor does xypeet to sell a debt security, expected cash flimise received must be evaluated to
determine if a credit loss has occurred. In thenewéa credit loss, only the amount associateti wie credit loss is recognized in income. The
amount of losses relating to other factors, inalgdhose resulting from changes in interest ratesrecorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). The Company did ratrceany impairment charges related to marketadgarsties during the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 or 2007.

Unbilled Collaboration Revenue

Unbilled collaboration revenue represemt®ants owed from one collaborative partner at Ddmar31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.
Company has not recorded any allowance for unddilecaccounts or bad debt write-offs and it morsitids receivables to facilitate timely
payment.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at Gusts of major additions and betterments are daggith maintenance and repairs, which do not
improve or extend the life of the respective asasscharged to expense. Upon disposal, the retat#cand accumulated depreciation or
amortization is removed from the accounts and asulting gain or loss is included in the resultpérations. Depreciation is computed using
the straightine method over the estimated useful lives ofabgets, which range from three to seven yearsebdegssets meeting certain caj
lease criteria are capitalized and the presenevaluhe related lease payments is recorded abiitli. Assets under capital lease arrangements
are depreciated using the straight-line method thair estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvet:ane amortized over the estimated useful
lives of the assets or related lease terms, whahiswshorter.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitysofroperty, equipment and intangible assets wdireumstances indicate that an event of
impairment may have occurred. The Company recograrempairment loss only if the carrying amounadéng-lived asset is not recoverable
based on its undiscounted future cash flows. Imnpat is measured based on the difference betweeratinying value of the related assets or
businesses and the undiscounted future cash flossch assets or businesses. No impairment chaeyesbeen recognized through
December 31, 2009.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company receives revenue from reseamdrdevelopment collaboration agreements. Undetetines of collaboration agreements
entered into by the Company, the Company may reasivn-refundable, up-front license fees, fundingeimbursement of research and
development efforts, milestone payments if spetifibjectives are achieved and/or profit-sharingogalties on product sales. Agreements
containing multiple elements are divided into sapaunits of accounting if certain criteria are nietluding whether the delivered element has
stand-alone value to the collaborative partnenahether there is objective and reliable evidenclaiofvalue of the undelivered obligation(s).
The consideration received is then allocated antbageparate units based on either
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their respective fair values or the residual mettaodl the applicable revenue recognition criteréaapplied to each of the separate units.

Revenue from non-refundable, up-front Isefees are recognized on a straight-line basistbeecontracted or estimated period of
performance, which is typically the developmenirteResearch and development funding is recognigezhmed over the period of effort.

Any milestone payments are recognized asmge upon achievement of the milestone only itijg)milestone payment is non-refundable,
(2) substantive effort is involved in achieving thdestone and (3) the amount of the milestoneasonable in relation to the effort expended
or the risk associated with achievement of the stolee. If any of these conditions are not metptilestone payment is deferred and
recognized as revenue over the estimated remajarigd of performance under the contract as thef2mmy completes its performance
obligations. Royalty and/or profit-share revendi@nly, is recognized based upon actual and estihregesales of licensed products in licensed
territories as provided by the licensee and inpgod the sales occur. The Company has not rezedr@iny milestone, royalty or profit-share
revenue to date.

Research and Developme

Research and development costs are expassadurred. Research and development costs melhages, benefits, facility and other
researclrelated overhead expenses, as well as licensedé@gsal trial costs and contracted research akibpment activities. Nonrefunda
advance payments for goods or services to be mddivthe future for use in research and developmetvities are deferred and capitalized.
The capitalized amounts are expensed as the rejatets are delivered or the services are received.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes the fair value aflsthased compensation in its statement of operatiBtock-based compensation expense
primarily relates to stock options, restricted ktaod stock issued under the Company's stock optanms and employee stock purchase plan.
The Company recognizes stock-based compensati@nsgpequal to the fair value of stock options straght-line basis over the requisite
service period. Restricted stock awards are redoagdecompensation cost, based on the market valtleeadate of the grant, on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period. The Comsues new shares to satisfy stock option exescibe issuance of restricted stock and
stock issued under the Company's employee stoahase plan.

The Company estimates the fair value ohegation award on the date of grant using the Bi&ackoles-Merton option-pricing model. The
Company considers, among other factors, the impiiddtilities of its own currently traded optiores irovide an estimate of volatility based
upon current trading activity. The Company conctlitteat a blended volatility rate based upon thetmexsent four-and-one-half year period of
its own historical performance, as well as the isgblolatilities of its own currently traded optmrappropriately reflects the expected volat
of its stock going forward. The Company uses adlafnits own historical data and peer data to estinoption exercise and employee
termination behavior, adjusted for known trendsariive at the estimated expected life of an option

For purposes of identifying peer entitid®, Company considers characteristics such astiydstage of life cycle and financial leverage.
The Company updates these assumptions as neeridftbtd recent historical data. The risk-free iestrate for periods within the contractual
life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasugldycurve in effect at the time of grant.

The Company applies an estimated forfeitate to current period expense to recognize sbhasded compensation expense only for those
awards expected to vest. The Company estimatessitimds
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based upon historical data, adjusted for knowndseand will adjust its estimate of forfeituresdtual forfeitures differ, or are expected to
differ from such estimates. Subsequent changestimated forfeitures will be recognized throughuaalative adjustment in the period of
change and will also impact the amount of stockedasompensation expense in future periods.

Unvested stock options held by consultangsrevalued using the Company's estimate of &irevat each balance sheet date.
Income Taxes

The Company determines its deferred tagtased liabilities based on the differences betvwibe financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assetdialbifities are measured using the enacted teesrtitat will be in effect when the differences
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is medmwhen it is more likely than not that the deddrtax asset will not be recovered.

The Company applies judgment in the deteation of the financial statement recognition arehsurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The Compaoggnizes any material interest and penaltiesaelit unrecognized tax benefits in income
tax expense.

The Company files income tax returns intthmited States federal jurisdiction and multiplatstjurisdictions. The Company is no longer
subject to any tax assessment from an income taxigation for years before 2004, except to thersitteat in the future it utilizes net
operating losses or tax credit carryforwards thigfimated before 2004. The Company currently isurater examination by the Internal
Revenue Service or other jurisdictions for anyytears.

Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive incomesflas of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 20@8ste entirely of unrealized gains ¢
losses on available-for-sale securities. Comprahenasss for the years ended December 31, 2008 260 2007 was $64.4 million,
$62.6 million and $68.6 million, respectively.

Net Loss Per Shar

The Company computes net loss per shadiiging net loss by the weighted-average numberoofimon shares outstanding during the
reporting period. Diluted net loss per common slgwmmputed by dividing net loss by the weightedrage number of common shares and
dilutive common share equivalents then outstandfagential common stock equivalent shares consisieancremental common shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options andants. Since the Company has a net loss for abgepresented, the effect of all potentially
dilutive securities is antidilutive. Accordinglyabic and diluted net loss per common share isahesn all periods. The total number of shares
excluded from the calculations of historical dillitget loss per share, due to their antidilutive&ffwas 5,515,593, 4,938,537 and 3,981,60
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2&€pectively, prior to the application of the tragsstock method.

Segment Reportin

Operating segments are determined bas#teomay management organizes its business for malperating decisions and assessing
performance. The Company has only one operatingnsey the discovery, development and commerciadizaif product candidates. All of
the Company's revenues through December 31, 20@9dmmne from one collaborative partner.
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Subsequent Event

The Company has evaluated events occuafileg the date of the consolidated financial statets for potential recognition or disclosur
its financial statements. The Company did not idigminy subsequent events requiring adjustmertiécaccompanying consolidated financial
statements (recognizable subsequent events) doslise (unrecognized subsequent events).

Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In October 2009, the Financial Accountingrdlards Board issued Accounting Standards Upd&eY No. 2009-13Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements (Topic 605) , or ASU 2009-13. ASU 2009-13 amends existing reeerecognition accounting
pronouncements that are currently within the safp&ccounting Standards Codification (ASC) Subtopdb-25. The consensus in ASU 2009-
13 provides accounting principles and applicatiaidgnce on whether multiple deliverables exist, hlogvarrangement should be separated,
and the consideration allocated. This guidanceieditas the requirement to establish the fair vafuendelivered products and services and
instead provides for separate revenue recognitieed upon management's estimate of the selling foian undelivered item when there it
other means to determine the fair value of thaelinered item. The present standard requires tteatdir value of the undelivered item be the
price of the item either sold in a separate traimadetween unrelated third parties or the prizarged for each item when the item is sold
separately by the vendor. This was difficult toedletine when the product was not individually soddduse of its unique features. In addition,
if the fair value of all of the elements in theaargement was not determinable, then revenue wasrddfuntil all of the items were delivered or
fair value was determined. This new approach isotiffe prospectively for revenue arrangements edteto or materially modified in fiscal
years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. The @Gomypoes not believe this standard will have a riatenpact on its financial position
results of operations.

3. Fair Value Measurements
Summary of Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fe®lue

The tables below present information alibetCompany's assets that are measured at fag vala recurring basis as of December 31,
2009 and 2008 and indicate the fair value hieraaftthe valuation techniques the Company utilizedetermine such fair value, which is
described further within Note 2.

Financial assets classified as Level 1Zahdve been initially valued at the transactioecgeand subsequently valued based on changes in
guoted market prices or based on prices provideithiby party pricing services. The pricing servicse many observable market inputs to
determine value, including reportable trades, berask yields, broker/dealer quotes, bids and offEne Company validates the prices
provided by its third party pricing services and dbt adjust or override any fair value measuresaatof December 31, 2009 and 2008.
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The following tables set forth the Comparfinancial assets and liabilities that were reedrdt fair value (in thousands):

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant Other
December 31, Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Description 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 20,20 $ 19,70C $ 501 $ —
Marketable securitie:
U.S. Treasury obligatior 15,18 15,18 — —
U.S. Governmel-sponsored enterprise obligatic 58,53t — 58,53t —
Total $ 93,917 $ 34,881 $ 59,03¢ $ —
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant Other
December 31, Active Markets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Description 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 50,50¢ $ 50,50¢ $ — $ —
Marketable securitie:
Commercial paper obligatior 23,491 — 23,491 —
U.S. Governmel-sponsored enterprise obligatic 29,96« — 29,96« —
Total $ 103,96° $ 50,50¢ $ 53,461 $ —

The following table summarizes the Compsweg'sh, cash equivalents and marketable secwagtie December 31, 2009 and 2008 (in
thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

December 31, 200! Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market fun $ 21,437 % — 3 — $ 21,43
U.S. Treasury obligations due in one year or 15,18¢ 1 (4) 15,18
U.S. Governmel-sponsored enterprise obligatir

due in one year or le: 59,04( 11 (15 59,03¢
Total $ 95,65 $ 12 $ (19) $ 95,65(
Reported as

Cash and cash equivale! $ 21,93 $ — 3 — $ 21,93

Marketable securitie 73,72 12 (29 73,71¢
Total $ 95,65 $ 12 $ (19) $ 95,65(
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Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

December 31, 2008 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash and money market fun $ 55,07C $ — 3 — $ 55,07(
Commercial paper obligations due in one yea

less 23,34¢ 14¢ — 23,491
U.S. Governmel-sponsored enterpris

obligations due in one year or le 29,69¢ 26€ — 29,96¢
Total $ 108,11° $ 414 $ — $ 108,53:
Reported as

Cash and cash equivale! $ 55,07C $ — 3 — $ 55,07(

Marketable securitie 53,041 414 — 53,46:
Total $ 108,11° $ 414 $ — $ 108,53:

At December 31, 2009, 18 marketable sdesnitere in an unrealized loss position for lessitbne year. At December 31, 2008, no
marketable securities were in an unrealized los#tipa. The unrealized losses were caused by fatictos in interest rates. The following table
summarizes the aggregate fair value of these ssuat December 31, 2009.

2009
Aggregate Unrealized
(in thousands) Fair Value Losses
U.S. Treasury bonds due in one yea
less $ 912: $ 4
U.S. Government-sponsored enterpris
obligations due in one year or le $ 2285 % (15)

To determine whether an other-than-tempgarapairment exists, the Company considers whethetends to sell the debt security and, if
it does not intend to sell the debt security, giders available evidence to assess whethemibie likely than not that it will be required to
sell the security before the recovery of its anzedicost basis. The Company reviewed its investngith unrealized losses and concluded
no other-than-temporary impairment existed at Ddigm31, 2009 as it has the ability and intent tll leese investments to maturity and it is
not more likely than not that it will be requiremigell the security before the recovery of its dimed cost basis.

4. Property and Equipment

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, propertyemdpment, net consists of the following (in thangs):

2009 2008 Depreciable Lives

Computer equipmet $ 40¢ $ 382 3 years
Software 2,86¢ 2,70¢ 3 years
Office furniture and equipme! 1,24¢ 90t 5to 6 year:
Laboratory equipmer 8,16( 6,17( 7 years
Leasehold improvemen 4,74 4,57C  Shorter of asset life or lease te
Equipment purchased under capital

lease obligation 8,40¢ 10,06: 3to 7 year:
Less: accumulated depreciati (14,04 (20,079

$ 11,79 $ 14,72

75




Table of Contents

Depreciation and amortization expensepitdiclg amortization of assets recorded under calgigsles, amounted to $4.5 million,
$4.0 million and $3.3 million for the years endedcdember 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

5. Intangible Assets

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, intangiBkets, net of accumulated amortization, are asviisl(in thousands):

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
Estimated Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Life Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Core technolog 12 years $ 359 $ (80¢) $ 359 $ (50¢)
Non-compete agreeme 2 years 17C (170 17C (144
Total intangible asse $ 3,762 $ (978 $ 3,762 $ (652)

Amortization is computed using the strailiie method over the useful lives of the respectivtangible assets. Amortization expense was
$0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million duringears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 ctashe.

The Company expects to incur amortizatigmease of appropriately $0.3 million per year facle of the next five years.

6. Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of $1.8 milliosigeated as collateral for a letter of credit redeto the lease of office and laboratory spaces Thi
balance will remain restricted during the 80-mdetise term and the Company will continue to eaterést on the balance.

7. Accrued Expenses
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, accruedresgeeconsisted of the following (in thousands):

2009 2008

Accrued compensatic $ 3,307 $ 3,20¢
Accrued contracted research cc 1,872 2,47¢
Accrued professional fet 57C 773
Other 36& 287

$ 6,114 $ 6,74«

8. Collaborations and License Agreements

2003 Sandoz Collaboration

In November 2003, the Company enteredantollaboration and license agreement (the "200®@I&aCollaboration”) with Sandoz N.V.
and Sandoz Inc. to jointly develop and commeratalii-Enoxaparin, a generic version of Lovenox®,\d faolecular weight heparin.
Sandoz N.V. later assigned its rights and obligetionder the 2003 Sandoz Collaboration to SandozSs@doz AG and Sandoz Inc. are
collectively referred to as "Sandoz." Under the2@&andoz Collaboration, the Company granted Sati@oexclusive right to manufacture,
distribute and sell M-Enoxaparin in the United 8safThe Company agreed to provide developmentelated services on a commercially
reasonable basis, which includes developing a naatwing process to make M-Enoxaparin, scalinghepprocess, contributing to the
preparation of an Abbreviated New Drug ApplicationANDA, in
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Sandoz's name to be filed with the Food and Drumigstration, or FDA, further scaling up the maraitaing process to commercial scale,
and related development of intellectual propertye Company has the right to participate in a jeteering committee which is responsible for
overseeing development, legal and commercial detsvand approves the annual collaboration pland&ais responsible for
commercialization activities and will exclusivelisttibute and market the product.

As compensation under the 2003 Sandoz mldion, the Company received a $0.6 million nefuindable up-front payment as
reimbursement for certain specified vendor cosas were incurred prior to the effective date of 2083 Sandoz Collaboration. The Company
is paid at cost for external costs incurred forelepment and related activities and is paid fortfole equivalents ("FTES") performing
development and related services. In addition, 8amdll share profits with the Company, in the evtdrere are no third party competitors
marketing a Loveno¥quivalent Product (as defined in the 2003 SandulaBoration). Alternatively, in certain circumstags, if there are thi
party competitors marketing a Lovenox-Equivalerdderict, Sandoz will pay royalties to the Companynenhsales of injectable M-Enoxaparin.
If certain milestones are achieved with respeatjectable M-Enoxaparin under certain circumstan8aesidoz will make payments to the
Company, which would reach $55 million if all sutfilestones are achieved. A portion of the develagregpenses and certain legal exper
which in the aggregate have exceeded a specifiediatywill be offset against profit-sharing amoumtyalties and milestone payments.
Sandoz also may offset a portion of any produdility costs and certain other expenses arisingfpatent litigation against any profit-sharing
amounts, royalties and milestone payments. The @ognpas not earned any milestones, royalties ditysftaring amounts to date.

The Company recognized the $0.6 million-nefundable up-front payment as revenue on a $tidilge basis over the estimated M-
Enoxaparin development period of 5.5 years. The (@my recognized revenue relating to this up-frayrpent of approximately $25,000 and
$0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 28882007, respectively. The deferral period forup&ont payment associated with the
2003 Sandoz Collaboration was completed during 2008

The Company recognizes revenue from FTH# s and revenue from external development cggia agompletion of the performance
requirements (i.e., as the services are performddfee reimbursable costs are incurred). Reveram éxternal development costs is recorded
on a gross basis as the Company contracts dineitly manages the work of and is responsible fgmpents to third-party vendors for such
development and related services, except with mgpeany amounts due Sandoz for manufacturingmaterial purchases, which are recorded
on a net basis as an offset to the related devedopaxpense. There have been no such manufactasingaterial purchases since 2006.

2006 Sandoz Collaboration

In July 2006, the Company entered intoasPurchase Agreement and an Investor Rights Aggaewith Novartis Pharma AG, and in
June 2007, the Company and Sandoz AG executedratigefcollaboration and license agreement (thefiitive Agreement). Together, this
series of agreements is referred to as the "2088&aCollaboration."

Pursuant to the terms of the Stock PurcAggeement, the Company sold 4,708,679 sharesrofran stock to Novartis Pharma AG at a
per share price of $15.93 (the closing price of@loepany's common stock on the NASDAQ Global Mavka$ $13.05 on the date of the
Stock Purchase Agreement) for an aggregate purghisgeof $75.0 million, resulting in a paid premmiwf $13.6 million. The Company
recognizes revenue from the $13.6 million paid poemon a straight-line basis over the estimatecetmment period of approximately six
years beginning in June 2007. The Company recodgmiae=nue relating to this paid premium of appratigly $2.2 million for each of tt
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and aptetin$1.2 million for the year end
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December 31, 2007. Under the 2006 Sandoz Collabarahe Company and Sandoz AG expanded the M-Eraskageographic markets
covered by the 2003 Sandoz Collaboration to incthéeEuropean Union and further agreed to excliysi@laborate on the development and
commercialization of three other follow-on and cdexpgeneric products for sale in specified regiohthe world. In December 2008, the
Company and Sandoz AG terminated the collaborgtiwgram with regard to one of the follow-on prodydf1249, primarily due to the
commercial prospects for M249. In December 2008 Gbmpany and Sandoz AG terminated the collab@@tiwgram with regard to the other
follow-on product, M178. Each party has granteddtieer an exclusive license under its intellecpraperty rights to develop and
commercialize such products for all medical indmag in the relevant regions. For the remaininglpods under the collaboration, the
Company has agreed to provide development andedetatrvices on a commercially reasonable basighwhcludes developing a
manufacturing process to make the products, scalinifpe process, contributing to the preparatioregtilatory filings, further scaling up the
manufacturing process to commercial scale, andegtidevelopment of intellectual property. The Complas the right to participate in a joint
steering committee, which is responsible for oveirsg development, legal and commercial activities approves the annual collaboration
plan. Sandoz AG is responsible for commercializatiotivities and will exclusively distribute and rket the products.

The term of the Definitive Agreement exterldroughout the development and commercializaifadhe products until the last sale of the
products, unless earlier terminated by either pawtguant to the provisions of the Definitive Agrent. Sandoz AG has agreed to indemnify
the Company for various claims, and a certain portif such costs may be offset against certaiméytayments received by the Company.

Costs, including development costs and:tist of clinical studies, will be borne by the jEestin varying proportions, depending on the
type of expense and the related product. All conciaBzation responsibilities and costs will be betyy Sandoz AG. Under the 2006 Sandoz
Collaboration, the Company is paid at cost for external costs incurred in the development of petslwhere development activities are
funded solely by Sandoz AG, or partly in proportishere development costs are shared between the&Zgnand Sandoz AG. The Company
also is paid for FTEs performing development s@awviwhere development activities are funded solelg@dndoz AG, or partly by proportion
where development costs are shared between the&gnamd Sandoz AG. The parties will share profitgarying proportions, depending on
the product. The Company is eligible to receiveaaip163.0 million in milestone payments if all nsitenes are achieved for the products
remaining under collaboration. None of these paysj@mce received, is refundable and there areenergl rights of return in the arrangem

The Company recognizes revenue from FTH# s and revenue from external development cgsia egompletion of the performance
requirements (i.e., as the services are performddtee reimbursable costs are incurred). Revermume éxternal development costs are reco
on a gross basis as the Company contracts dineitly manages the work of and is responsible fgnpents to third party vendors for such
development and related services, except with ctgpeany amounts due Sandoz for shared developeoostd, which are recorded on a net
basis.

Massachusetts Institute of Technoloy

The Company has two patent license agreeméth the Massachusetts Institute of Technolddy.I(T.") that grant the Company various
exclusive and nonexclusive worldwide licenses, it right to grant sublicenses, under certainrmiatand patent applications relating to
methods and technologies for analyzing and chaiaittg sugars and certain heparins, heparinasested enzymes and synthesis methods.
Subiject to typical retained rights of M.I.T. ane tinited States government, the Company was graxigdsive rights under certain of these
patents and applications in certain fields.
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In exchange for these rights, the Compaaigt M.I.T. a license issue fee, and pays annuahie maintenance fees. The Company, upon
commercialization, is also required to pay M.l.dyalties on products and services covered by temdies and sold by the Company or its
affiliates or sublicensees, a percentage of cedthiar income received by the Company from corgopattners and sublicensees, and certain
patent prosecution and maintenance costs. M.1.d cartain contributing individuals were also issgbdres of the Company's common stock.
The Company recorded license fee expense of $132$307,500 and $82,500 related to these agreernmetiis years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company must meet certain diligencairegqents in order to maintain its licenses unterttvo agreements. Under the agreements,
the Company must expend at least $1.0 to $1.2amiffier year commencing in 2005 towards the resedsmstelopment and commercialization
of products and processes covered by the agreenhe@igdition, the Company is obligated to makstfaommercial sales and meet certain
minimum sales thresholds of products or process®ading, under the amended and restated agreeeérgf commercial sale of a product or
process no later than June 2013 and minimal s&l@oducts thereafter, ranging from $0.5 million®®.0 million annually. If the Company
fails to meet its diligence obligations, M.I.T. maag its sole remedy, convert the exclusive licemgganted to the Company under the amended
and restated license agreement to non-exclusigades. Under the license agreement covering seiggemachines, M.1.T. has the right to
treat the Company's failure to fulfill its diligemobligations as a material breach of the licelgseament.

If, due to the Company's failure to mediggdnce obligations, M.1.T. converts certain of thempany's exclusive licenses to rexclusive
or if M.L.T. terminates one of the agreements, M.will honor the exclusive nature of the sublicetise Company granted to Sandoz so lor
Sandoz both continues to fulfill its obligationstt@ Company under the 2003 Sandoz Collaborati@® Sandoz Collaboration and license
agreement and agrees to assume the Company'saightsbligations to M.I.T.

9. Share-Based Payments
2004 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company's 2004 Stock Incentive Plammasnded, allows for the granting of incentive andstatutory stock options, restricted stock
awards, stock appreciation rights and other stadell awards to employees, officers, directors,dtargs and advisors. At December 31,
2009, the Company was authorized to issue up @0%45 shares of common stock with annual incre@edse added on the first day of the
Company's fiscal years during the period beginiminfgscal year 2005 and ending on the second ddigcdl year 2013) equal to the lowest of
() 1,974,393 shares, (ii) 5% of the then outstagdiumber of common shares or (iii) such other amhas the Board of Directors may
authorize. Effective January 1, 2010, the CompaBgard of Directors increased the number of autiearishares by 1,974,303 shares. At
December 31, 2009, the Company had 3,902,383 shaadlable for grant under the 2004 Stock Incenfian.

Incentive stock options are granted onlgrmployees of the Company. Incentive stock optgmasted to employees who own more than
10% of the total combined voting power of all clesef stock will be granted at no less than 110%hefair market value of the Company's
common stock on the date of grant. Incentive stiations generally vest ratably over four years. {dtatutory stock options may be granted to
employees, officers, directors, consultants andsads. Non-statutory stock options granted havgingrvesting schedules. Incentive and non-
statutory stock options generally expire ten yadter the date of grant. Restricted stock is awdifdam time to time to key employees, offic
and directors. Some restricted stock awards vettt@achievement of corporate milestones and otheasds generally vest over a four year
vesting period.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Total compensation cost for all share-bassanent arrangements, including employee, direatorconsultant stock options, restricted
stock and the Company's employee stock purchasdqidhe years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 @dd ®as $10.8 million, $9.2 million
and $12.7 million, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense relatedtstanding employee stock option grants was &ifllon, $6.7 million and $7.0 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 28€¥atively.

During the year ended December 31, 2003,1®% stock options were granted, of which 517 ®&Ee in connection with annual merit
awards; the remainder were granted in conjunctibth awards to the members of the board of direcosthe hiring of new employees. The
fair value of each option award was estimated erdtite of grant using the Black-Scholes-Mertonaopfiricing model that uses the
assumptions noted in the table below.

The following table summarizes the weighdedrage assumptions the Company used in itsdhiecalculations at the date of grant:

Weighted Average Assumptions
Employee Stock

Stock Options Purchase Plan
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Expected volatility 98% 83% 76% 95% 80% 74%
Expected dividend — — — — — —
Expected life (years 6 6 6 0.5 0.t 0.t
Risk-free interest rat 26% 3.2% 4.7% 0.6% 3.C% 4.8%

Under the 2004 Employee Stock Purchase PE®PP"), participating employees purchase comstock through payroll deductions. An
employee may withdraw from an offering before tiieghase date and obtain a refund of the amounkdeli through payroll deductions. The
purchase price is equal to 85% of the lower ofdlosing price of the Company's common stock orfitsebusiness day and the last business
day of the relevant plan period. The plan perioeigifbon February 1 and August 1 of each year. T®ReFEprovides for the issuance of up to
524,652 shares of common stock to participatingleyges. At December 31, 2009, the Company had 3288ares available for grant under
the ESPP. The Company issued 44,737 shares of corstock to employees under the plan during the geded December 31, 2009. The fair
value of each ESPP award was estimated on thelfigsof the offering period using the Black-Scheldsrton option-pricing model that uses
the assumptions noted in the table above. The Coyngeognizes stock-based compensation expensétedha fair value of the ESPP
awards on a straight-line basis over the offeriagqul. During the years ended December 31, 20038 206d 2007, the Company recorded
stockbased compensation expense of $0.3 million, $0lBbbmand $0.2 million, respectively, with respéatthe ESPP. At December 31, 20
subscriptions were outstanding for an estimate@3®3shares at a fair value of approximately $4 &3ghare. The weighted average grant date
fair value of the offerings during 2009, 2008 ad®?2 was $4.88, $4.88 and $6.27 per share, respictiv
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The following table presents stock optiativdaty of the Company's stock plan for the yeadeth December 31, 2009:

Weighted
Number of Weighted Average Aggregate
Stock Average Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Contractual Value
(in thousands) Price Term (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2C 3971 $ 11.2i
Granted 68< 10.07
Exercisec (32) 5.0¢
Forfeited (43) 12.81
Expired (66) 16.5(
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 451« $ 11.0¢ 6.81 $ 12,93:
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 3,12t $ 11.3( 6.1z $ 9,13t
Vested or expected to vest at
December 31, 200 4,39t $ 11.0¢ 6.7¢ $ 12,59:

The weighted average grant date fair vafugptions granted during 2009, 2008 and 2007 va865 $6.92 and $7.90 per option,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiamsercised during 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $0.2anjlis1.1 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2009, the total rewngi unrecognized compensation cost related to ested stock option awards amounted to
$8.5 million, including estimated forfeitures, whiwill be recognized over the weighted average ieimg requisite service period of 2.1 yei
The total fair value of shares vested during 2@0®8 and 2007 was $7.6 million, $6.2 million and3¥million, respectively.

Cash received from option exercises forl2@D08 and 2007 was $0.2 million, $0.8 million &W4 million, respectively. Due to the
Company's net loss position, the tax benefit rel&tethe tax deductions from option exercises waserlized in any of the periods presented.

Restricted Stock Award

The Company has also made awards of resiraommon stock to certain employees, officersdirettors. During the year ended
December 31, 2009, the Company awarded 169,35@sbérestricted common stock to certain employgeekofficers. Awards generally ful
vest four years from the grant date, although gegwards have performance conditions, such asdhmemercial launch of Menoxaparin in th
u.s.

In December 2009, the Company revisedrtmicit service period for certain performance-lheestricted stock awards due to a change
in the expected vesting date. The impact of themgle in estimate on the Company's net loss andseper share was immaterial for the year
ended December 31, 2009.

A summary of the status of nonvested shafresstricted stock as of December 31, 2009, hacthanges during the year then ended, is
presented below:

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Grant Date

(in thousands) Fair Value
Nonvested at January 1, 20 98t $ 16.8¢
Granted 16¢ 10.4:
Vested (153 9.1

Nonvested at December &

2009 1,001 $ 16.9¢

81




Table of Contents

Nonvested shares of restricted stock thaelime-based or performanibased vesting schedules as of December 31, 20GRiar@arize
below:

Nonvested
Shares
Vesting Schedule (in thousands)
Time-basec 62¢€
Performanc-basec 37¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2(C 1,001

The total fair value of shares of resticstock vested during 2009, 2008 and 2007 wasrlillidn, $144,000 and $64,000, respectively.
The Company recorded stock-based compensation seuéi$2.8 million, $2.3 million and $5.4 milliorlated to outstanding restricted stock
awards during 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivelyofA3ecember 31, 2009, the total remaining unrez@ghcompensation cost related to
nonvested restricted stock awards amounted torfillibn, which is expected to be recognized over Weighted average remaining requisite
service period of 1.1 years.

Stock Options Granted to N-Employee Consultants

As of December 31, 2009, the Company hadtgd stock options to purchase 169,004 sharesnainon stock to consultants. These st
options were granted in exchange for consultingises to be rendered and vest over periods of dguioyears. During 2007, 7,812 stock
options were cancelled due to the termination dfai® consulting agreements. During 2009 and 20080 and 8,000 stock options expired,
respectively. As of December 31, 2009, optionsuicpase an aggregate of 97,927 shares of commokstre exercisable. The Company
recorded a stock-based compensation expense, aisiagcelerated method, of $97,000, zero and $5/000g 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The fair value of the options israstied on the date of grant and subsequently red@tieach reporting period over their vesting
period using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pigcmodel and assumptions including an expecteddifiging from approximately six to nine
years, volatility of approximately 98% and a ris&d interest rate of approximately 3.C

10. Preferred and Common Stock
Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5.0ionilshares of preferred stock in one or more sameksto fix the powers, designations,
preferences and relative participating, optiontbeorights thereof, including dividend rights, gension rights, voting rights, redemption
terms, liquidation preferences and the number afeshconstituting any series, without any furtheewor action by the Company's
stockholders. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008Ctrapany had no shares of preferred stock issuedtetanding.

Common Stock

Holders of common stock are entitled teeree dividends, if and when declared by the Bodmicectors, and to share ratably in the
Company's assets legally available for distributmthe Company's stockholders in the event ofdigtion. Holders of common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption, or conversights. The holders of common stock do not havaudative voting rights. The holders of a
majority of the shares of common stock can eldaifahe directors and can control the Company'sagament and affairs. Holders of comr
stock are entitled to one vote per share on altersto be voted upon by the stockholders of the@my.

In connection with the 2006 Sandoz Collation, the Company sold 4,708,679 shares of constamrk to Novartis Pharma AG for an
aggregate purchase price of $75.0 million.
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In December 2008, the Company raised $2dllibn in a public offering, net of expenses, frdhe sale and issuance of 2,800,000 shares
of common stock. The price to the public was $%60share.

In September 2009, the Company raised $4@l®n in a public offering, net of expenses,frdhe sale and issuance of 4,600,000 shares
of common stock. The price to the public was $1@&bshare.

11. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the federal statutoncéme tax provision to the Company's actual prowi$or the years ended December 31, 2009,
2008 and 2007 is as follows (in thousands):

2009 2008 2007
Benefit at federal statutory

tax rate $ (21,756 $ (21,309 $ (23,38)
State taxes, net of federal

benefit (4,014 (3,927) (4,319
Change in valuatio

allowance 25,02« 25,13¢ 27,89:
Stock-based compensati 1,16¢ 662 81C
Tax credits (485) (601) (1,02])
Other 62 31 19
Income tax provisiol $ — $ — $ —

At December 31, 2009, the Company had fdderd state net operating loss carryforwards 892 million and $236.0 million available,
respectively, to reduce future taxable income ahitvwill expire at various dates through 2029 tld$ amount, approximately $4.7 million
federal and state net operating loss carryforweeldge to stock option deductions for which thated tax benefit will be recognized in equity
when realized. At December 31, 2009, federal aatd sesearch and development and other creditfoangrds were $5.6 million and
$2.0 million, respectively, available to reduceufigt tax liabilities, and, which will expire at vats dates beginning in 2017 through 2029.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagyimounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for incarpurposes. Significant components of the Comgaisferred tax assets are as follows
(in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008

Deferred tax asset
Federal and state net operating los $ 91,97¢ $ 70,61:

Research credit 4,93¢ 4,827
Deferred compensatic 12,14¢ 9,94:
Deferred revenu 3,44: 4,011
Accrued expense 22¢ 201
Intangibles 283 437
Capital lease 1,991 3,12¢
Unrealized loss on marketable securi 2 —
Total deferred tax asse 115,01: 93,15:
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior (2,439 (3,759
Unrealized gain on marketak

securities — (144
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,439 (3,899
Valuation allowanct (112,57 (89,25
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —
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Realization of deferred tax assets is ddprtupon future earnings, if any, the timing antant of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the
net deferred tax assets have been fully offset \ml@ation allowance. The valuation allowance iasedl by $23.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009, primarily as a result of theentrperiod loss.

The Company's practice has been and caitaube to recognize interest and penalty expartaed to uncertain tax positions in incc
tax expense, which was zero for the years endedrleer 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

A reconciliation of the beginning and erglamount of unrecognized tax benefits for the yeaded December 31, 2009 and 2008 (in
thousands) in accordance with ASC 740-10 is aevid!

2009 2008
Balance, beginning of ye. $ 4,954 $ 4,42t
Additions for tax positions related to the

current yea 311 64¢
Reductions of tax positions of prior yei (1,199 (220
Balance, end of ye: $ 4,066 $ 4,95¢

As of December 31, 2009, the Company hatl 84dllion of gross unrecognized tax benefits, $#ibion of which, if recognized, would
impact the Company's effective tax rate. As of Delzer 31, 2008, the Company had $4.9 million of gnasrecognized tax benefits,
$4.5 million of which, if recognized, would impattie Company's effective tax rate. The differendsvben the total amount of the
unrecognized tax benefits and the amount that wafii&tt the effective tax rate consists of the fatiax benefit of state research and
development credits.

The Company reassessed its unused stat@rcbsand development credits in 2009. As a reétltat reassessment and recalculation, the
carryforward amount was reduced by $1.2 millionvadl as the unrecognized tax benefits shown irathave rollforward.

The Company's policy is to recognize baitraed interest and penalties related to unrecegrax benefits in income tax expense. The
Company has not recognized any interest and pesaliince the adoption of ASC 740-10.

The Company does not anticipate thatriéésonably possible that the uncertain tax positiili significantly increase or decrease within
the next twelve months.

12. Line of Credit

In December 2004, the Company entereddritoan and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreemenith Silicon Valley Bank (the
"Bank"). Under the terms of the Loan Agreement,Gloenpany was eligible to borrow up to an aggreg&&3.0 million solely for
reimbursement of purchases of Eligible Equipmentjefined under the Loan Agreement. As of DecerBtheP005, the Company had drawn
$3.0 million against the Loan Agreement. The Conypaas not obligated to draw down any amounts utftet.oan Agreement and any
borrowings bear interest at the per annum rateeflS. Treasury note yield to maturity for a tequal to forty-two months plus 5%, which
rate was fixed on the funding date for each advamcker the Loan Agreement. Advances under the llggaement were to be repaid over a
forty-two month period commencing on the applicdhleding date. To secure the payment and perforsmanfull of the Company's
obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Compaamgtgd to the Bank a continuing security intereghe Collateral, as such term is defined
under the Loan Agreement and which essentiallyuohes all Eligible Equipment and records relatingréto. As of December 31, 2008, the
Company had approximately $17,000 in borrowingstaunding under the Loan Agreement subject to amest rate of 9.18%. The Company
repaid all borrowings during 2009.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies
Capital and Operating Leases

In December 2005, the Company entereddrittaster Lease Agreement (the "Agreement") withedarElectric Capital Corporation
("GECC"). Under the Agreement, the Company maydesdfice, laboratory, computer and other equipnfierh GECC by executing specified
equipment schedules with GECC. Each equipment std&dll specify the lease term with respect to timelerlying leased equipment. As of
December 31, 2008, the Company had drawn $9.6omiligainst the Agreement and no additional amouete drawn in the year ending
December 31, 2009. Borrowings under the Agreemenpayable over a 54-month period at effective ahimierest rates of 7.51% to 9.39%.
In accordance with the Agreement, should the dffectorporate income tax rate for calendar-yeapagers increase above 35%, GECC will
have the right to increase rent payments by raggipayment of a single additional sum, calculateddcordance with the Agreement. The
Agreement also provides the Company an early pgecbation after 48 months at a predetermined fanket value, which the Company
intends to exercise. As a result, the Agreemeatiisidered a capital lease for accounting purpasdghe equipment is included in property
and equipment. Under the Agreement, if any matedakrse change in the Company or its businessg@sisolely determined by GECC, the
total unpaid principal would become immediately dnel payable. There have been no events of defadér this agreement. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company had approximatey idlion in outstanding borrowings under the Agmeent.

The Company leases office space and equipuoreler various operating lease agreements. Reenee for office space under operating
leases amounted to $5.4 million, $5.0 million add$million for the years ended December 31, 2@098 and 2007, respectively.

In September 2004, the Company enteredaintagreement to lease 53,323 square feet of @ffiddaboratory space located at 675 West
Kendall Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts, forra 6§80 months (the "West Kendall Sublease"). Thenany has an option to extend the
West Kendall Sublease for one additional term ofméths, ending April 2015, or on such other eadegte as provided in accordance with the
West Kendall Sublease. In November 2005, the Comparended the West Kendall Sublease to lease ationdd 25,131 square feet in its
current premises through April 2011. Under thedemmendment, the landlord agreed to finance trseledd improvements. The Company
commenced expensing the applicable rent on a btrlige basis beginning with the commencement of threstruction period. The construct
period was completed in June 2006. The Companytheaswner of the leasehold assets during the agt&in period, and as of December 31,
2009, the Company has recorded $3.2 million indbakl improvements offset by $1.0 million as atetldease financing liability.

In October 2006, the Company entered intagreement to lease approximately 22,300 squatefeffice and research space located in
Cambridge, Massachusetts (the "Third Street Sublgads July 2007, as a result of an evaluatioit$pace needs, the Company determined
that the office and laboratory space leased, buyetooccupied, under the Third Street Subleaseinvascess of the Company's present
requirements. Accordingly, in October 2007, the @any executed an agreement pursuant to whichaphity agreed to assume the
Company's rights and obligations under the Third&tSublease. Under the agreement the third paitythe Company approximately
$4.4 million to offset certain rent payments aneksfpaid by the Company to architects, contractookers and other vendors engaged to build
out the space. The effect of this transaction waelaction in the Company's property and equiproéapproximately $3.7 million and a
recovery of operating expenses of approximately $dllion. In addition, upon the cancellation otttetter of credit associated with the Third
Street Sublease, $2.9 million was reclassified frestricted cash to cash and cash equivalents.

85




Table of Contents
Future minimum capital and total operatis@se commitments as of December 31, 2009 ardlag$a(in thousands):

Operating Lease Capital Lease

2010 $ 3,65( $ 2,62¢
2011 1,28( 1,817
2012 — —
2013 — —

2014 and beyon — —
Total future minimum lease

payments $ 4,93( 4,44
Less—Amounts representing

interest (370
Capital lease obligation

December 31, 200 4,07
Les—Current maturitie: (2,349
Capital lease obligation, net

current maturitie: $ 1,72¢

License Agreement

In connection with license arrangement$ihie research university discussed in Note 8Cimapany has certain annual fixed obligations
to pay fees for the technology licensed. Beginming010, the annual financial obligations, whichesx indefinitely, are approximately
$0.2 million per year. The Company may terminagedgreements at any time without further annuagetibns. Annual payments may be
applied towards royalties payable to the licensotliat year for product sales, sublicensing ofgaent rights or joint development revenue.

Legal Contingencie:

In July 2008, the FDA accepted for reviene ANDA containing a paragraph IV certification fpeneric Copaxone submitted by Sandoz.
Subsequently, in August 2008 Teva Pharmaceutichldmmies Ltd. and related entities sued SandozaNisvAG and the Company for patent
infringement. In December 2009, in a separate adtidhe same court, Teva Pharmaceutical Indudttiésand related entities sued Sandoz,
Novartis AG and the Company for patent infringemretdted to additional patents after Teva's motioadd those additional patents to
ongoing Paragraph IV litigation was denied. Whilesinot possible to determine with any degreeenfainty the ultimate outcome of the legal
proceeding, the Company believes that it has méite defenses with respect to the claims assagathst it and intends to vigorously defend
its position. In addition, under the terms of tl#®& Sandoz Collaboration, Sandoz AG agreed to inifgrthe Company for various claims,
including patent infringement claims based on tbenGany's activities related to partnered prograrhs. Company has not recorded any
accrual for such matter as it is not probable #hlatss has been incurred nor is a loss estimable.

14. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a defined contribution Kpglan available to eligible employees. Employeatdbutions are voluntary and are
determined on an individual basis, limited by theximum amounts allowable under federal tax reguteti The Company has discretion to
make contributions to the plan. In March 2005, @wnpany's Board of Directors approved a match &6 5dthe first 6% contributed by
employees, effective for the 2004 plan year ancetifeer. The Company recorded $0.4 million, $0.8iom and $0.4 million of such match
expense in the years ended December 31, 2009,&@D8007, respectively.
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15. Related Party Transactions

Parivid, LLC, or Parivid, a company thabyided data integration and analysis servicesedbmpany, was considered to be a related
party as a co-founder and member of the CompargasdBof Directors is the brother of the former €héehnology officer of Parivid. In 2007,
the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agraetheri’Purchase Agreement") with Parivid. In caetien with the Purchase Agreement,
the Company acquired patent rights, software, khow-and other intangible assets, and assumedrtefacified liabilities of Parivid related
to the acquired assets, for $2.5 million in casid paclosing and up to $11.0 million in additiopalyments, which, if certain milestones were
achieved, would be paid in a combination of casti@rstock. In 2007, the Company recorded a tatatipase price of $4.5 million that
includes the $2.5 million cash paid at the closing $2.0 million in Initial milestone payments, eiiwere probable and accrued at
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

On August 4, 2009, the Company enteredanté\mendment to the Purchase Agreement. Pursoiginé tAmendment, the Company
agreed to extend the time period for completiothefInitial Milestones to June 30, 2009, specifigase Initial Milestones that had been
achieved as of June 30, 2009 and, as consideffatidhe completion and satisfaction of the Initililestones that were achieved, agreed to pay
Parivid $0.5 million in cash and to issue 91,57&rsh of the Company's common stock, at a valua@®® per share. In addition, in Septen
2009, the Company made a cash payment of $0.lomiiti Parivid, recorded as other expense, repriesgethie difference between the net
proceeds from Parivid's sale of the shares issuedtisfaction of the Initial Milestones and thdéueaof such shares as of the date of the
Amendment.

Additionally, in 2007, the Company recoragedacquired in-process research and developmangetof $0.7 million, which is included in
research and development expense in the consalidtt=ment of operations for the year ended Deeeith 2007. The Company recorded
$0.2 million as research and development experatedeto work performed by Parivid in the year eh@&cember 31, 2007.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Quarter Ended

(in thousands, except per share date March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
2009

Collaboration revenue $ 399C $ 6,608 $ 4,00¢ $ 5,64¢
Net loss $ (17,909 $ (16,779 $ (14,640 $ (14,689

Basic and diluted net loss per commonsl $ (0.4€ $ (0.4%9) $ (0.3¢) $ (0.39
Shares used in computing basic and dilute

net loss per shal 38,74 38,80¢ 39,01« 43,61*
2008
Collaboration revenue $ 4152 $ 356: $ 391< % 2,941
Net loss $ (13,339 $ (14,970 $ (15959 $ (18,370

Basic and diluted net loss per commonsl $ (0.37) $ (042 $ (0.45) $ (0.50
Shares used in computing basic and dilute
net loss per shal 35,74( 35,77: 35,84¢ 36,47¢

Net loss per common share amounts for tizetgrs and full years have been calculated separaétccordingly, quarterly amounts may
not add to the annual amount because of differeimc® weighted average common shares outstamldirigg each period principally due to
the effect of the Company's issuing shares ofdtaraon stock during the year.

Diluted and basic net loss per common stsaidentical since common equivalent shares ackudrd from the calculation, as their effect
is anti-dilutive.
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ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ltem 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

1. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#r, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2®9. The term "disclosure controls and procesliias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 188&ns controls and other procedures of a comibpatyare designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Compiartye reports that it files or submits under 8exurities Exchange Act of 1934 is recor
processed, summarized and reported, within the peneds specified in the SEC's rules and formscbsure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures desijt®ensure that information required to be disadogy a company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Securities Exchange Act o##li8&ccumulated and communicated to the compamrsgement, including its principal
executive and principal financial officers, as agptate to allow timely decisions regarding reqdidésclosure. Our management recognizes
that any controls and procedures, no matter howdesigned and operated, can provide only reaseregdurance of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgmetdtuating the cost-benefit relationship of possiintrols and procedures. Based on this
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chiafdncial Officer concluded that, as of DecemberZI9, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assitavel.

2. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
(@) Management's Annual Report on Inte@uatrol Over Financial Reporting

The management of Momenta is responsilslegtablishing and maintaining adequate internatrobover financial reporting. Internal
control over financial reporting is defined in Rdiga-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the SiiesrExchange Act of 1934 as a process
designed by, or under the supervision of, the Camiarincipal executive and principal financialicérs and effected by the Company's b
of directors, management and other personnel,awige reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilifinancial reporting and the preparat
of financial statements for external purposes toatance with generally accepted accounting priesipnd includes those policies and
procedures that:

. Pertain to the maintenance of records that in restsle detail accurately and fairly reflect the saetions and dispositions of t
assets of the Company;

. Provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@mled as necessary to permit preparation ofifinhstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of thepemy are being made ot
in accordance with authorizations of managementdimretttors of the Company; and

. Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, vselisposition of the
Company's assets that could have a material effettie financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agect to the
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risk that controls may become inadequate becauskanfges in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the policies or procedures n
deteriorate.

Momenta's management, including the supinviand participation of the Chief Executive Oéfi@and Chief Financial Officer, assessed
the effectiveness of the Company's internal corvelr financial reporting as of December 31, 20Q9naking this assessment, the Company's
management used the criteria set forth by the Cdtmenof Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwamn@dassion (COSO) in "Internal
Control—Integrated Framework."

Based on its assessment, management helsided that, as of December 31, 2009, the Compartgshal control over financial reporting
is effective based on those criteria.

The independent registered public accogrfiim that audited the Company's financial statehirecluded in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K has issued its report on the effectiveridshe Company's internal control over finanoggdorting. This report appears below.

(b) Attestation Report of the Independeagistered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholderoimenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Momenta Pharmaceuticatsslmternal control over financial reporting december 31, 2009, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'sagament is responsible for maintaining effectiverimal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriatecontrol over financial reporting included ietaccompanying Management's Annual
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@gir responsibility is to express an opinion o @ompany's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withstandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgkt8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finangigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thgi€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject
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to the risk that controls may become inadequataumxof changes in conditions, or that the dedreeropliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Momenta Pharmaceuticals, maintained, in all material respects, effectivternal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Momenta Pharmaattinc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, ancethted consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' equity and compreheresg and cash flows for each of the three yeatisarperiod ended December 31, 2009 of
Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dsliath 12, 2010 expressed an unqualified opiniorethe.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2010

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Ficial Reporting

No change in our internal control over finel reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 46d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred
during the fiscal quarter ended as of DecembeRBQ9 that has materially affected, or is reasonbkdyy to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information relating to our directon®minees for election as directors and executifieess under the headings "Election of
Directors," "Corporate Governance—Our Executiveid@ffs,” "Corporate Governance—Section 16(a) Berafi@wnership Reporting
Compliance" and "Corporate Governance—Board Coreesttin our definitive proxy statement for the 2@kthual Meeting of Stockholders
is incorporated herein by reference to such préaiement.

We have adopted a written code of businessluct and ethics that applies to our directdf&g;ess and employees, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, pdipal accounting officer or controller, or persqesforming similar functions. We make
available our code of business conduct and ethéesdf charge through our website which is locategww.momentapharma.com . We intend
to disclose any amendment to, or waiver from, aarecof business conduct and ethics that is requirée publicly disclosed pursuant to rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and th&DAQ Global Market by posting it on our website.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The discussion under the headings or suihga "Executive Compensation,” "Compensation @éttors,"” "Compensation Committee
Report" and "Compensation Committee Interlocks lasdler Participation” in our definitive proxy statent for the 2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders is incorporated herein by referencautd proxy statement.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The discussion under the heading "Sec@ityership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manag#red Related Stockholder Matters'
our definitive proxy statement for the 2010 Annkdeting of Stockholders is incorporated hereindfgmrence to such proxy statement.
Information required by this Item relating to setias authorized for issuance under equity comp@msglans is contained in our definitive
proxy statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of mmiders under the subheading "Equity Compensd&lan Information” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The discussion under the headings "CeRailationships and Related Transactions" and "Catpdéovernance—Board Determination of
Independence” in our definitive proxy statementtfer 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incogbed herein by reference to such proxy
statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The discussion under the heading "Ratificadf Selection of Independent Registered Pubticdunting Firm" in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockhddg incorporated herein by reference to suchystatement.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
(&) The following documents are inclu@dasdoart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1. Financial Statements:

Page number

in this report

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimm 63
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2GD2G08 64
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2009, 2008

and 2007 65
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mahprehensive Loss for tl

years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 66
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@ded December 31, 2009, 2(

and 2007 67
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 68

2. All schedules are omitted as therimfation required is either inapplicable or is presd in the financial statements and/or the rélate
notes.

3. The Exhibits listed in the Exhihidex immediately preceding the Exhibits are filachgart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized this 1¥ day of March, 2010.

MOMENTA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /sl CRAIG A. WHEELER

Craig A. Wheeler
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl CRAIG A. WHEELER

President and Chief Executive Officer; Directorifeipal Executive Officer March 12, 2011
Craig A. Wheele

/s/ RICHARD P. SHEA Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 12, 201!
Richard P. She

/sl JAMES SULAT

Chairman of the Board and Director March 12, 201!
James Sule
/s/ JOHN K. CLARKE
Director March 12, 201!
John K. Clarke
/s/ ALAN L. CRANE
Director March 12, 201!
Alan L. Crane
/sl MARSHA H. FANUCCI
Director March 12, 201!
Marsha H. Fanuc
/s/ PETER BARTON HUTT
Director March 12, 201!
Peter Barton Hui
/s/ BRUCE DOWNEY
Director March 12, 201!
Bruce Downey
/sl RAM SASISEKHARAN
Director March 12, 201!
Ram Sasisekhare
/s/ BENNETT M. SHAPIRO
Director March 12, 201!
Bennett M. Shapir
/s/ ELIZABETH STONER
Director March 12, 201!

Elizabeth Stone
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference tc

Filing

Exhibit Form or Exhibit Date SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number
Articles of Incorporation and B-Laws
3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpore S-1 3.3  3/11/2004 33:-11352:
3.2 Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior R#ating Preferred Stock of tt 8-K 3.1  11/8/200t 00C-50797
Registran
3.2 Second Amended and Restatec-Laws S1 3.4  3/11/2004 33311352
Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holde
4.1 Specimen Certificate evidencing shares of commaock: S-1/A 4.1 6/15/2004 33:-11352:
4.2 Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of July PB62 by and between Novartis 10-Q 10.2  11/8/2006  000-50797
Pharma AG and the Registr:
Material Contract—License Agreements
10.11 Collaboration and License Agreement, dated Noverhib2003, by and amor S-1/A 10.4 5/11/2004 3311352
Biochemie West Indies, N.V., Geneva Pharmaceutitats and the Registra
10.21 Amended and Restated Exclusive Patent License Agree dated November 8-K 10.1 8/15/200€ 00C-50797

2002, by and between the Massachusetts Institufeafinology and the Registrant
(the "November 1, 2002 M.1.T. License"); First Andiement to the November 1,

2002 M.1.T. License, dated November 15, 2002, hy lsetween the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and the Registrant; LeBgreement, dated September 12,
2003, between the Massachusetts Institute of Tdogp@nd the Registrant; Letter

Agreement, dated October 22, 2003, between theadhssetts Institute of
Technology and the Registrant; Second Amendmethetdlovember 1, 2002
M.L.T. License, dated November 19, 2003, by andvbeh the Massachusetts

Institute of Technology and the Registrant; Thinsiénhdment to the November 1,

2002 M.1.T. License, dated April 2, 2004, by andWeen the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and the Registr

94




Table of Contents

Incorporated by Reference to

Filin
Exhibit Form or Exhibit Datg SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number

10.31 Letter Agreement Regarding November 1, 2002 Mligense, dated August 8-K 10.1 8/15/200€ 00C-50797
2006, between the Massachusetts Institute of Téogp@nd the Registral

10.41 Letter Agreement Regarding November 1, 2002 Mlitense, dated October 18, 10-Q 10.6  11/8/2006  000-50797
2006, between the Massachusetts Institute of Téogp@nd the Registral

10.51 Exclusive Patent License Agreement, dated Oct8beP002, by and between the S-1/A 10.6  5/11/2004 333352:
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and the Ragis(the "October 31, 2002
M.I.T. License"); First Amendment to the October 3002 M.I.T. License, dated
November 15, 2002, by and between the Massachusstitsite of Technology ar
the Registran

10.61 Fourth Amendment to the November 1, 2002 M.I.T ehise, dated July 17, 20( 1C¢-Q 10.3 8/16/2004 00C-50797
by and between the Massachusetts Institute of T@oby and the Registra

10.71 Second Amendment to the October 31, 2002 M.|.Teh$e, dated July 17, 2004, 1C-Q 10.4 8/16/2004 00C-50797
and between the Massachusetts Institute of Techpalod the Registral

10.81 Fifth Amendment to the November 1, 2002 M.1.Tcense, dated August 5, 2006, 10-Q 10.5 11/8/2006  000-50797
by and between the Massachusetts Institute of Taoby and the Registra

10.91 Third Amendment to the October 31, 2002 M.I.T. lnse, dated August 5, 2006, 10-Q 10.4  11/8/2006  000-50797
and between the Massachusetts Institute of Techpaod the Registral

10.1C Sixth Amendment to the November 1, 2002 M.I.T. bise, dated January 10,20 1C-K 10.8  3/15/2007 00C-50797
by and between the Massachusetts Institute of Taoby and the Registra

10.11 Fourth Amendment to the October 31, 2002 M.I.T ebise, dated January 10, 2C  1C-K 10.11 3/15/2007 00C-50797
by and between the Massachusetts Institute of Tatoby and the Registra

10.1Z Letter Agreement dated January 29, 2007 betweedd2ahG and the Registra 1C-K 10.16 3/15/2007 00C-50797

10.1: Letter Agreement dated February 1, 2007 betweed@&aAG and the Registra 1C¢-Q 10.2 5/10/2007 00C-50797
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Incorporated by Reference to

Filin
Exhibit Form or Exhibit Datg SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number
10.1¢ Letter Agreement Regarding the November 1, 2002MLicense, dated June 1 1C-Q 10.2  8/9/2007 00C-50797
2007, between the Massachusetts Institute of Téogp@nd the Registral
10.15" Collaboration and License Agreement, dated J32007, by and among Sandoz 10-Q 10.1 8/9/2007  000-50797
AG and the Registrai
10.1¢ Amendment No. 1, dated April 25, 2008, to thel&wmration and License 10-Q 10.1 5/9/2008  000-50797
Agreement, dated June 13, 2007, by and among Saf@a@nd the Registral
10.17 Seventh Amendment to the Amended and Restated $ixel@atent Licens 1C-Q 10.1  8/6/2009 00C-50797
Agreement, dated November 1, 2002, by and betweeMassachusetts Institute
Technology and the Registrant dated June 1,
*10.181 Amendment No. 2, dated December 11, 2009, to thial@wation and Licens
Agreement, dated June 13, 2007, by and among Sa&f@a@nd the Registral
Material Contract—Management Contracts and Compensation Plans
10.19¢ Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Incentive 1C-K 10.17 3/15/2007 00C-50797
10.20¢ 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amen 1C-K 10.18 3/15/2007 00C-50797
10.21# Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Graritetler 2004 Stock Incentive 10-Q 10.1  8/16/2004 000-50797
Plan
10.22¢ Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement Gedrinder 2004 Stock 10-Q 10.2  8/16/2004 000-50797
Incentive Plar
10.23¢ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2004 Shocé&ntive Plar 8-K 10.2 2/28/08  00C-50797
10.24¢ 2004 Employee Stock Purchase F S-1/A  10.3 4/16/2004 333-11352:
*10.254 Non-Employee Director Compensation Summ
10.26¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated March 7, 2006yden Ganesh Venkataram 1C-Q  10.14 11/8/200€ 00C-50797
and the Registral
10.27¢ Employment Agreement, dated August 22, 2006, betv@raig Wheeler and tt 1C-Q 10.7  11/8/200€ 00C-50797
Registran
10.28¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated August 22, 2086veen Craig Wheeler and  10-Q 10.8  11/8/2006  000-50797
the Registran
10.29¢ Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement, dated Aug@st2D06, between Cra 10-Q 10.9 11/8/2006  000-50797

Wheeler and the Registre
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Incorporated by Reference to

Filin
Exhibit Form or Exhibit Datg SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number
10.30¢ Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated August2Z®6, between Craig Wheel  10-Q  10.10 11/8/200€ 00(-50797
and the Registrai
10.31# Restricted Stock Agreement, dated March 7, 2B86yeen Steven B. Brugger and 10-Q  10.13 11/8/2006  000-50797
the Registran
10.32¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated December 10 ,2fetween John E. Bishop 10-K  10.56 3/15/2007 000-50797
and the Registral
10.33¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated December 14,,288Ween John E. Bishe 1C-K 10.35 3/10/200€ 00C-50797
and the Registral
10.34¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated August 15, 208&yeen Richard P. Shea ¢ 1C-Q 10.1 11/08/200° 00C-50797
the Registran
10.35¢ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated January 177, 28&tween Craig Wheeler and  10-Q 10.7  11/8/2006  000-50797
the Registran
10.36¢ Form of Employment Agreement for executive offic 1C¢-Q 10.3  5/9/2008 00C-50797
10.37¢ Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreeiteet] April 28, 2008, by 10-Q 10.4 5/9/2008  000-50797
the Registrant and Ganesh Venkatara
10.38¢ Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement, dateg 28, 2008, by the 10-Q 10.1 8/5/2008  000-50797
Registrant and each of John E. Bishop and Jameshf
10.39¢ Amendment No. 1 to the Restricted Stock Agreemeadaron January 17, 20 1C-Q 10.1  11/5/200¢ 00C-50797
between the Registrant and Craig A. Wheeler datecehber 4, 200¢
10.40¢ Amendment No. 1 to the Restricted Stock Agreemeaderon March 7, 20C 1C¢-Q 10.1 11/5/200¢ 00C-50797
between the Registrant and Steven Brugger dateeérNogr 4, 200¢
*10.414# Amendment No. 1 to the Restricted Stock Agreemsade on March 7, 2006
between the Registrant and Ganesh Venkataramad Nateember 4, 200¢
Material Contract—Credit Agreements
10.4Z Loan and Security Agreement, dated December@J2,2by and between Silicon S-1 10.23 3/11/2004 333:1352:
Valley Bank and the Registra
10.4% First Loan Modification Agreement, dated Decemb&rZ004, between Silicc 1C-K 10.37 3/31/2005 00C-50797

Valley Bank and the Registra
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Incorporated by Reference to

Filin
Exhibit Form or Exhibit Datg SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number

10.4¢ Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 28}, 288iween Silicon Valle 1C-K 10.38 3/31/200t 00C-50797
Bank and the Registra

10.4t Master Lease Agreement, dated December 30, 2@dween General Electric 10-K  10.44 3/16/2006 000-50797
Capital Corporation and the Registr
Material Contract—Leases

10.46° Sublease Agreement, dated September 14, 20Ghdhetween Vertex 10-Q 10.9 11/12/200. 000-50797

Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and the Regis

10.47 First Amendment to Sublease (regarding Subleaseehgent, dated September 1C-Q 10.3 11/14/200! 00C-50797
2004), dated September 7, 2005, between VertexiiRitauticals Incorporated and
the Registran

10.4¢ Second Amendment to Sublease (regarding Subleaszgnt, date 1C-K 10.47 3/16/200€ 00C-50797
September 14, 2004, as amended), effective aswéibber 21, 2005, between
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and the Regit

10.4¢ Third Amendment to Sublease (regarding Subleaseékgent, dated September  10-K  10.48 3/16/2006 000-50797
2004, as amended), effective as of January 27,,2éveen Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and the Regis

10.5C Letter Agreement (regarding Sublease Agreeme¢ddSeptember 14, 2004, as  10-Q 10.01  8/9/2006  000-50797
amended), dated June 29, 2006, between Vertex Rbatticals Incorporated and
the Registran
Material Contract—Stock Purchase Agreement

10.51 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 25, 2006nbybetween Novartis Pharma  10-Q 10.1  11/8/2006  000-50797
AG and the Registrai
Material Contract—Asset Purchase Agreement

10.52 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of April 207 2y and among Parivid, LLC, 10-Q 10.3  5/10/2007 000-50797
S. Raguram and the Registri

10.5¢ Amendment No.1 to the April 20, 2007Asset Purchageement betwee 1C-Q 10.2  8/6/2009 00C-50797

Parivid LLC, S. Raguram and the Registrant dategusu4, 2009
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Incorporated by Reference to
Filing
Exhibit Form or Exhibit Date SEC File
Number Description Schedule No. with SEC Number

Additional Exhibits
*21 List of Subsidiarie:

*23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

*31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act Rules 13a-14 or
15c¢-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sar-Oxley Act of 2002

*31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantExchange Act Rules 13a-14 or
15c¢-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sar-Oxley Act of 200z

*32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer pursuant 1
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(b) or 154dfb) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adc
pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbe-Oxley Act of 200z

* Filed herewith.

T Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions are omitted and filed sepdyatgth the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraegefiled as an Exhibit to this report pursuani®ga) and 15(c) of Form 10-K.
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Exhibit 10.18
December 14, 2009

VIA EMAIL AND REGISTERED MAIL

Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
675 West Kendall Street
Cambridge, MA 02142
Attention: CEO, Craig Wheeler
General Counsel: Bruce Leicher

Re: Amendment No. 2 to Collaboration and License Agreeent between Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sand®G, dated
June 13, 2007 (thé Amendment’)

Dear Bruce,

Reference is made to that certain Collaborationlacehse Agreement dated June 13, 2007 betweendvita Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
(“Momenta”) and Sandoz AG (“Sandoz”), as amendedimendment No. 1 dated April 25, 2008 and the tettgeement dated December 22,
2008 (collectively, the “Agreement”). Terms in cats employed herein have the meaning attributeétlém in the Agreement if not stated
otherwise.

We are glad to have reached agreement on thea$seeminating our collaboration regarding M178z {*]-Referenced Product in the U.S.
Territory. This Amendment sets forth the Parti@sterstanding regarding such termination in plddaeprovisions set forth in Sections
11.7.3 and 11.7.4 of the Agreement as well asuhédng rights of the Parties relating theretoisSTAmendment shall be effective as of
November 1, 2009 (tF*Amendment Effective Date”)

1. Future Construction of the Agreement

a. The Parties agree to terminate the Agreement salgiyrespect to the [**]-Referenced Product. Feoidance of doubt, no Products other
than the [**]-Referenced Product shall be affedigdhis Amendment.

b. The Parties agree that the following defined teransl all references thereto in the Agreement, “Bean**]", “[**]-Equivalent Product”,
“[**] Product-Specific Patent Rights”, “Non-Subsitable [**] Launch”, “Related Product”, “Sandoz MHARroject”, “Slightly Late [**]
Substitutability Receipt”, and “[**]-Referenced Rhact” (collectively, the “[**] Product Rights”) antheir definitions in Article 1 shall be
deleted in their entirety from the Agreement exdeghe extent such terms are used in this Amendoren any terms of the Agreement
that expressly survive this termination of the Agrent solely with respect to the [**] Product Rigjhds set forth in Section 2 below. In
addition, the Parties agree that all referencépgtly and “[**]” shall be deleted in their entirey from the Agreement. All other rights and
obligations of the Parties under the Agreement edglitinue to exist and be interpreted excluding rafgrence to the [**] Product Rights.
The Parties, hereby agree that apart from theosectf the Agreement specifically deleted and aredrgereunder, all terms and
conditions of the Agreement shall remain in fullde and effect.

2. Termination and Survival Related Provision¥he Parties specifically agree to the followtagnination and survival related provisions
effective as of the Amendment Effective Date:

a. Except for any express surviving rights and oblazt under this Amendment, the Parties agree igatights and obligations of the
Parties under the Agreement relating to the [*gdRrct Rights (including, but not limited to, paymebligations under Article 4,
exclusivity obligations under Article 2, licenseagts under Article 2 and termination rights undect®ns 11.7.3 and 11.7.4 with respec
the [**] Product Rights) terminate and shall hawefarther force or effect.

b. All licenses granted by Sandoz to Momenta and byniglata to Sandoz under Article 2 with respect totHeProduct Rights are
terminated. The Parties acknowledge and agredttbdtlomenta license under Section 11.7.3. (bnloabeen exercised by Sandoz.




Momenta shall cease to use and hereby assignsittm3all of its right, title and interest in andatb clinical, technical, and other related
reports, records, data, information and materiatsall regulatory filings and Marketing Approvakdating to the [**]-Referenced Product
in the Field in the U.S. Territory, subject to teviving rights retained by Momenta under paraggrdpbelow, to the Characterization data
developed by Momenta of Branded [**] in the couo$¢he [**]-Referenced Product Collaborative Pragr&he “Momenta Developed
Brand Characterization Data”), and Momenta shdivdeto Sandoz, upon request, at Momenta’s expesrse (1) copy of each physical
embodiment of the aforementioned item not previpfiginished in the course of the Collaborative Paog For the avoidance of doubt,
Momenta Developed Brand Characterization Data doesclude Characterization data independenthetigped by Sandoz without the
use of any Momenta Developed Brand Characteriz&)ata.

Sandoz hereby grants to Momenta a non-exclusirejdcable, royalty-free, perpetual, worldwide rightd license, with the right to
sublicense and to use and/or disclose the Momeew&IDped Brand Characterization Data for all puegasther than to develop and
commercialize directly or indirectly an [**]-Refemeed Product, or a Related Product to the [**]-Refeed Product, in the Field in the
U.S. Territory. Momenta acknowledges that it resaio rights and receives no license under thisgoaph to any Characterization data
developed by Momenta in the course of the [**]-Refeced Product Collaborative Program that spediji€ézharacterizes to the Sandoz
[**]-Referenced Product (the “Sandoz CharactertmatData).

Momenta confirms that it has not applied for orduaay common law trademarks or trade names partaioi the [**]-Referenced
Product.

Except for the payment obligations set forth irs tAmendment, Sandoz shall have no financial obbigab Momenta with respect to the
[**]-Referenced Product, including without limitat, any Profit Interest or milestone payments.

All Joint Collaboration IP shall be owned jointin the basis of an undivided interest by SandozMoshenta. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary herein, Sandoz and Momenta shel bBave the right to use such Joint Collaborati®yor sell, license or otherwise tran:
such Joint Collaboration IP to its Affiliates oryahhird Party, without the consent of the othert{fand without any further consideration
or accounting to the other Party.

Survival. In lieu of Section 11.8 of the Agreement, thédaing provisions of the Agreement shall survivemaation of the
Collaborative Program with respect to the [**]-Refeced Product and the [**] Product Rights: (iXiéles 1 (as amended by this
Amendment), 10 and 14, Sections 2.1.2, 2.4, 2.th@extent applicable to Sandoz Assigned Improvesnand Momenta Assigned
Improvements), 2.6, 4.4 (as applicable to paymenter this Amendment), 4.4.6 (solely with respecséction 3.b. below), 8.1.1, 8.1.2,
8.1.4, 8.2.4(except a request by either party ste#rmine whether to file and then Sandoz shadirdéne the initial Prosecuting Party in
lieu of the JOC and the Prosecuting Party shalt Bb@rosecution costs), 8.4, 8.5 and 8.6 (ex&grtdoz shall make the decisions assi¢
to the JOC in these Sections, subject to Momenigigs in accordance with the general conceptseatiSn 8.4), 8.7 (with respect to
Sandoz Patent Rights and Sandoz Collaboration PRtghts in the Field in the relevant Territory)3911.9, 13.2, 13.3; and (ii) the
obligations to indemnify under Sections 12.1 an®18ubject to Sections 12.3, 12.4 and, if applieab2.5) with respect to any Liabilitie
whether asserted during or after the Term, thatltr&®m activities that occurred before or durthg Term (including the determination of
the strategy to achieve Legal Clearance); otherthisee shall be no continuing obligation of thedmhifying Party to indemnify, defend
or hold harmless the Indemnified Party after theeidment Effective Date

Each Party shall promptly return to the other Paltynaterials and records in its possession otroboontaining Confidential Informatic
of such other Party, except to the extent contetaglay this Amendment or necessary or reasonaldgdrrise rights under the licenses
retained pursuant to this Amendment, as applicable.

Financial Consideration

Sandoz agrees to reimburse Momenta for expensegéacin 2009 relating to the development of M178*%; in the sum of USS$[**].
Such sum shall be payable to Momenta no laterttaearlier of (a) thirty (30) days after the daftesigning this Amendment or
(b) December 31, 2009.

The Parties acknowledge that Sandoz shall havegheto continue or discontinue development oroiks or in collaboration with other
of an [**]-Referenced Product. Sandoz, subjedhtterms herein, agrees to make a one time lumppgyment to Momenta in the sum
of [**] dollars (US $ [**]) within thirty (30) daysof the Application Final Approval in the U.S. Tigory of an [**]-Referenced Product
(such Application in the name of Sandoz, its Affiis, licensees, collaborators, successors omassighe [**]-Referenced Product) (the
“Sandoz Application”) in the event that any MomelRaMomenta Assigned Improvements, and/or Mom&weeloped Brand
Characterization Data and/or Sandoz Characteriz&ata (collectively, “Momenta Milestone RelateigRs”) are used in the Sandoz
Application. For greater clarity, no lump sum payris due to Momenta if no Momenta Milestone RaldReghts are used in the Sandoz
Application. Sandoz shall notify Momenta in wrlimpon the submission of a Sandoz Application tisas any Momenta Milestone
Related Rights.

Settlement and ReleaseExcept for the rights and obligations of thetearunder this Amendment, each of the Partiesiyeftdly and
forever releases the other Party and its pasteptesd future corporate parents, and their aiitlacompanies, subsidiaries, divisions,
predecessors, successors, assigns, officers,agshareholders, and employees, individually el as jointly and severally, from any
claim, demand, suit, duty, obligation, causes tibagc damages, attorney’s fees, costs and liadlitif any nature whatsoever, or for any
other payment for any reason, including but nottéchto, direct or indirect damages or costs, cqusatial or incidental damages of any
kind,






whether presently known or unknown, suspected suspected, to the extent arising out of, or rel&tethe Collaborative Program with
respect to the [**]-Referenced Product under theekgent or the termination thereof in accordandk this Amendment.

General

Each Party represents and warrants that the psigonimg this Amendment on such Party’s behalf hasauthority to act on its behalf and
to bind such Party and that such Party duly autlkedrihe signing person to sign this Amendment®heéhalf.

This Amendment shall be governed by and constmedéordance with the laws of the State of New Yapglicable to contracts made
within that state by residents of that state, with@gard to New York’s conflict of law principles.

To indicate your agreement to the foregoing, kimedyirn the enclosed copy duly executed to my ttten

Sincerely,

Sandoz AG

/sl Christina Ackerman Is/ Jeff Georg:
Christina Ackermann Jeff George

General Counse
ACKNOWLEDGED AND ACCEPTED

Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /s/ Craig A. Wheele

Name: Craig A. Wheele

Title: President and CE

Date: 12/15/200¢

Member of the Boar




Exhibit 10.25
Non-Employee Director Compensation Summary

The compensation structure for the Company’s nopleyee directors as follows:
Grant of Options Upon Appointment

Each new non-employee director will automaticadlgeive an option to purchase up to 30,000 shardgedompany’s common stock
upon appointment to the Board. These options \etit\quarterly over the three years following thengjidate, subject to such director’s
continued service on the Board.
Grant of Additional Stock Options

In connection with the Nominating and Corporate &oance Committee’s annual evaluation, non-empldjreetors who served on
the Board during the thecurrent fiscal year and who will continue to seovethe Board following the annual meeting will rargted an optio
to purchase up to 15,000 shares of the Companysmam stock at the annual meeting of stockholdenss& options will vest quarterly over
the year following the grant date, subject to the-employee director’'s continued service on therBoa

Payment of Retainer Fee; Reimbursement of Travel and Other Expenses

In addition to an option grant, each non-employieectbr is entitled to receive an annual retairfé30,000 for his or her service on
the Board. Additional amounts will be paid as falk

Additional

Position Fees
Non-Employee Chairman of the Board $30,000
Audit Committee Chair $17,00C
Audit Committee Members (other than the Chair) $8,000
Compensation Committee Chair $12,00C
Compensation Committee Members (other than the Chair) $6,000
Nominating and Cor porate Governance Committee Chair $12,00C
Nominating and Cor porate Governance Committee Members (other $6,000

than the Chair)
Science Committee Chair $10,00C
Science Committee Members $7,500
Additional Payments to Science Committee Chair and Members $3,000 for each all day session attended (up to a

maximum of $15,000 per year) that is in addition
to the standard quarterly meetings of the Scientifi
Committee

All retainer amounts shall be paid quarterly dutihg fiscal year. Non-employee directors also recedimbursement for reasonable travel and
other expenses in connection with attending Boagdtings.




Exhibit 10.41

Amendment No. 1 to the
Restricted Stock Agreement
Granted Under 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended

This Amendment No. 1, effective as of NovemberGQ2 is to the Restricted Stock Agreement mad®larch 7, 2006 between Momet
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation‘(ftempany”), and Ganesh Venkataraman (the “ Particigant

For valuable consideration, receipt of which isremkledged, the parties hereto agree to amend theefrgent as follows.
Section 2(a) of the Agreement is hereby deletedrapldced with the following:

One hundred thousand (100,000) Shares shall vddtesome free from forfeiture under Section 2(cebeand become free from the transfer
restrictions in Section 3 hereof on the date that@ompany (or any of the Company'’s partners dabotators) commercially launches M-
Enoxaparin in the United States, providedat such commercial launch occurs on or befoaec 7, 2011 and provided furthehat such
Shares shall only vest pursuant to this Sectiohifae Participant is employed by the Companyttendate of such vesting event. For the
purpose of this Section and vesting hereunder, foemsial launch” shall not be deemed to have ocduegglier than ten (10) days after the
marketing approval of M-Enoxaparin in the Unitedt8s by the United States Food and Drug Administiat

Except as explicitly set forth herein, all othemte and conditions of the Agreement remain influite and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Agreement as of the day and year first alvaniten.

MOMENTA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Richard P. She
Richard P. She

/s/ Ganesh Venkataram
Ganesh Venkataram:




EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF MOMENTA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Jurisdiction of
Name of Subsidiary Organization

Momenta Pharmaceuticals Securities Corpore Massachusett
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeeeincthe Registration Statements (Form S-3 Nos:1838515, 333-161414, 333-126798, and
333-126356 and Form S-8 Nos. 333-164892, 333-15723%-149253, 333-140760 and 333-117173) of MomBhrmaceuticals, Inc. and
where applicable, in the related Prospectuses ofeports dated March 12, 2010, with respect tactiresolidated financial statements of
Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and the effectivepémternal control over financial reporting oblkhenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc., included in
this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year endezt®mber 31, 2009.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 12, 2010
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Craig A. Wheeler, President and Chief Execu®féicer of Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certtigtt
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KMmfmenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsatimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report.

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@&))%(d internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantsl@lsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsadnternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisital quarter in the case of an annual repod) ltas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaummmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofimancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; ar

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 12, 201 /sl CRAIG A. WHEELER

Craig A. Wheeler
President and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Richard P. Shea, Senior Vice President, Chie&fcial Officer of Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inertify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KMafmenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts.under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsatimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report.

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@&))%(d internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atamoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantsl@lsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeiport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsadnternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisital quarter in the case of an annual repod) ltas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorteyhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaummmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contra¢iofimancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; ar

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 12, 201 /sl RICHARD P. SHE#

Richard P. Shea
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report oniRdt0-K of Momenta Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Conydgafor the period ended
December 31, 2009 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the "R8pthe undersigned, Craig A. Wheel
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Compamd Richard P. Shea, Senior Vice President,fEGiiancial Officer of the Company,
each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sedt850, that:

(D) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operatio
of the Company.

Dated: March 12, 2010 /sl CRAIG A. WHEELER

Craig A. Wheeler
President and Chief Executive Offic

Dated: March 12, 2010 /sl RICHARD P. SHEA

Richard P. Shea
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic
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